SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

2973.

HERCZEG GYÖRGY

A diabetes mellitus és szövődményeinek, valamint a májbetegségek etiológiai és genetikai tényezőinek vizsgálata című program

> Programvezető: Dr. Hagymási Krisztina, egyetemi docens Témavezetők: Dr. Somogyi Anikó, professzor emerita

> > Dr. Herold Zoltán, kutatási munkatárs

Investigation of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in colorectal cancer patients with or without type 2 diabetes mellitus

Ph.D. thesis

György Herczeg

Semmelweis University School of PhD Studies Rácz Károly Conservative Medicine Division





Supervisors:

Anikó Somogyi, MD, D.Sc. Zoltán Herold, Ph.D.

Official reviewers: Erika Szaleczky, MD, Ph.D. Éva Varga MD, Ph.D.

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: László Gerő, MD, D.Sc.

Members of the Complex Examination Committee: Zoltán Kukor, Ph.D. Erika Szaleczky, MD, Ph.D.

Budapest 2023

Table of contents

Table of contents
List of abbreviations
1. Introduction
1.1. Colorectal cancer
1.2. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and CRC9
1.2.1. Tumor-induced thrombopoiesis
1.2.2. Previous studies investigating paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in CRC 10
1.2.3. Platelets and metastatization
1.3. The relationship between CRC and CD40 ligand 12
1.4. Type 2 diabetes mellitus
1.4.1. A short introduction to type 2 diabetes mellitus
1.4.2. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and CRC
1.4.3. Platelet irregularities in type 2 diabetes mellitus
2. Objectives
3. Methods
3.1. Patients and study design
3.2. Clinical and Laboratory Data Measurements
3.3. Measurement of plasma interleukin-6
3.4. Measurement of plasma thrombopoietin
3.5. Measurement of plasma CD40 ligand
3.6. Statistical Analysis
4. Results
4.1. Investigation of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters
4.1.1. Baseline measurement of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters
4.1.2. Changes in the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis with the course of colorectal cancer
4.1.3. Survival analysis of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters and T2DM
4.2. Investigation of CD40 ligand

4.2.1. Comparisons of baseline CD40 ligand measurements	5
4.2.2. Changes in CD40L with the course of the disease 4	0
4.2.3. Survival analysis of CD40 ligand measurements 4	1
5. Discussion	3
5.1. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in colorectal cancer	3
5.2. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer	4
5.3. The combined effect of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and T2DM in CRC 4	5
5.4. CD40 ligand in colorectal cancer 4	6
6. Conclusions 4	8
7. Summary 5	0
8. References	51
9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	58
9.1. Publications Related to the Dissertation	58
9.2. Publications Not Related to the Dissertation	58
10. Acknowledgements	0'

List of abbreviations

AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer			
CrI	Credible interval			
CD	Cluster of differentiation			
CD40L	CD40 ligand			
CI	Confidence interval			
CRC	Colorectal cancer			
DSS	Disease-specific survival			
ECLIA	Electrochemiluminescence immunoassay			
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay			
GITR	Glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor family-related			
	protein			
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor			
HbA _{1C}	Glycated hemoglobin			
HR	Hazard ratio			
IL-1	Interleukin-1			
IL-3	Interleukin-3			
IL-6	Interleukin-6			
IL-11	Interleukin-11			
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor			
NK-cell	Natural killer cell			
OS	Overall survival			
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus			
TNM	Tumor – Node – Metastasis			
ТРО	Thrombopoietin			

1. Introduction

1.1. Colorectal cancer

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a malignant disease, one of the leading causes of mortality in the developed countries. The disease develops in an approximately 10 to 15-year period, usually due to the accumulation of either somatic (acquired) and/or germline (inherited) genetic mutations. CpG hypermethylation, chromosomal instability and mismatch repair are the most commonly occurring changes during the development of CRC. The following developmental stages are known, normal colonic/rectum epithelium, precancerous lesion and ultimately an invasive carcinoma. The importance of CRC is also shown by that it is the third most common type of cancer and second cause of death related to malignant diseases, causing approximately 10% of all tumor-related deaths (1) and with an estimated number of 1.8 million new cases and about 881,000 deaths worldwide per year in the recent years (2). In Hungary, there are about 10,500 new cases annually. Sadly, similar to those of the international trends, the number of new CRC cases shows a rising tendency in Hungary (**Figure 1**): over the past 20 years, it raised from ~8,000 to 10,500 per year (3).



Figure 1: In Hungary between 2000 and 2018, an increasing trend could be observed in the new onset case numbers of colorectal cancer (CRC). Data obtained from National Institute of Oncology. National Cancer Registry: Cancer statistics reports for Hungary (3).

In the colon and rectum, the change of normal epithelial cells to adenocarcinoma follows a predictable progression of histological and concurrent genetic and epigenetic changes. *E.g.*, "in the 'classic' CRC formation model, the vast majority of cancers arise from a polyp originating from an aberrant crypt, which then evolves into an early adenoma (< 1 cm in size, with tubular or tubulovillous histology). The adenoma then progresses to an advanced adenoma (> 1 cm in size, and/or with villous histology), before finally becoming a colorectal cancer. This process is driven by accumulation of mutations and epigenetic alterations and takes 10–15 years to occur but can progress more rapidly in certain settings" (4). The disease is asymptomatic for most of its development; first symptoms are usually bleeding and bloody stools with or without abdominal pain, weight loss, and changes in stool habits. Occult bleeding and anemia of unknown cause can also be alarming symptoms. Colonoscopy followed by imaging studies is required for the diagnosis of CRC (5).

Depth of tumor growth, and the spreading of the disease can be characterized by staging. CRC is known to have several staging systems, of which the most known and used is the so-called Tumor – Node – Metastasis (TNM) system. T (local invasion depth) shows how far the tumor has grown through the bowel wall; N stands for nearby lymph nodes metastasis; while M (metastases) describes whether the cancer has spread (metastasized) to other parts of the body. A combination of T, N, and M status determines a patient's CRC staging as follows:

- T (tumor growth)
 - Tis: It has not grown beyond the (mucosa) of the colon or rectum.
 - T1: The cancer has grown through the muscularis mucosa into the submucosa.
 - T2: It have grown into the muscularis propria.
 - T3: The cancer has grown into the subserosa/serosa of the colon or rectum but has not gone through them.
 - T4a: The cancer has grown through the wall of the colon or rectum but has not grown into other nearby tissues or organs.
 - T4b: The cancer has grown through the wall of the colon or rectum and is attached to or has grown into other nearby tissues or organs.

- N (lymph nodes metastasis)
 - N0: It has not yet spread to nearby lymph nodes.
 - N1: It has spread to 1 to 3 nearby lymph nodes.
 - N2: cancer cells in four or more nearby lymph nodes
- M (distant metastases)
 - M0: It has not spread to distant sites.
 - M1a: It has spread to 1 distant organ or distant set of lymph nodes, but not to distant parts of the peritoneum.
 - M1b: It has spread to more than 1 distant organ or distant set of lymph nodes, but not to distant parts of the peritoneum.
 - M1c: It has spread to distant parts of the peritoneum.

The latest, 8th amended version of the TNM staging was published by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) in 2018 (6). Stage I and II, III, and IV CRC are characterized by no distant/lymph node metastases, lymph node metastases, and distant metastases, respectively. In addition, other frequently used staging system are the Dukes (7) and the modified Astler – Coller staging systems (8) (**Table 1**).

Dukes staging system					
Dukes A	invasion into but not through the bowel wall				
Dukes B	invasion through the bowel wall but not involving lymph nodes				
Dukes C	involvement of lymph nodes				
Dukes D	widespread metastases				
Modified Astler – Coller staging system					
MAC A	limited to mucosa				
MAC B1	extending into muscularis propria but not penetrating through it, nodes not involved				
MAC B2	penetrating through muscularis propria, nodes not involved				
MAC C1	extending into muscularis propria but not penetrating through it, nodes involved				
MAC C2	penetrating through muscularis propria, nodes involved				
MAC D	distant metastatic spread				

Table 1: Dukes and modified Astler – Coller staging systems (7, 8).

Screening is highly effective in reducing the mortality from CRC. Screening procedures include fecal occult-blood tests, flexible sigmoidoscopy, and colonoscopy. One of these options should be offered to asymptomatic people aged 50 years or older.

Over the past two decades, the range of CRC screening modalities has expanded, and many population-based programs have been implemented. Worldwide, there are two major types of screenings: opportunistic and organized. In 2015, 24 out of 28 European Union countries had established or were preparing nationwide organized or opportunistic CRC screening program (9). Recommendation of screening may be different for certain subsets of patients (*i.e.*, the elderly, women, and ethnic minorities) (10). The most common limitation of the screening programs is the limited endoscopic capacity (11). Although there are some ongoing studies of the natural history of small polyps, evidence-based data will probably take 10 to 20 years to meaningfully translate into clinical-practice recommendations (12).

In Hungary, several pilot programs were conducted for colorectal cancer screening. In 1997–1998, the first Hungarian CRC screening pilot program was performed in Budapest (13). Later, in 2015, another CRC screening pilot program was conducted in Csongrád (14), and the latest one was started in 2019 (15), which was a nationwide complex screening program, in which the goal group was the 50-70 years old Hungarian residents. About 332,000 people had been invited with the possibility to have an occult blood test. About 100,000 tests were performed, of which 8,000 was positive, 3,093 colonoscopy was performed, and a total of 129 histological verified malignancy had been found (15).

CRC treatment can be divided into two major schemes (5). In non-advanced stages endoscopic– or surgical resection is the mainstay curative treatment, which may be followed by chemotherapy. Latest guidelines recommend chemotherapy in the case of poorly differentiated tumors, CRC with vascular, lymphatic or perineural tumor invasion, and in stage III CRC. In advanced stages, the reduction of the size of the tumor is the most important using (neoadjuvant) chemo(radio)therapy, with which the chance of complete resection is significantly higher (16). Usually, a cytotoxic doublet with a biological agent is administered as the first-line and second-line treatments, while irinotecan + cetuximab, panitumumab, and regorafenib or trifluridine/tipiracil are administered as third-line or above (17). Regular imaging and/or colonoscopic follow-up of patients is key in the early detection of tumor recurrence (16). Furthermore, tumor progression may be also detected if the following biomarkers' serum/plasma levels are elevated: carcinoembryonic antigen, carbohydrate antigen 19-9, and cancer antigens 72-4 and 125 (5, 17, 18).

1.2. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and CRC

Thrombocytosis is defined as platelet counts above the upper value of normal range (usually $\geq 400 \times 10^{9}$ /L). In addition to the general similarities, it has been observed that some tumor types have thrombocytosis for different degrees. In CRC, a relatively high proportion of patients have elevated platelet counts (19, 20), moreover, thrombocytosis is described as a poor prognostic sign in CRC. Both pre- and postoperative thrombocytosis is associated with worse patient survival (21, 22). Thrombocytosis may develop for several reasons, 1.) The bleeding of the tumor or 2.) a metabolic change caused by the tumor itself called paraneoplastic. Moreover, platelets may have further roles in CRC as well, most which are still under investigation. *E.g.*, platelets can interact with circulating tumor cells and form metastatic emboli together. Platelets store proteases, growth factors, which promote tumor growth, neoangiogenesis and invasion (23, 24)

1.2.1. Tumor-induced thrombopoiesis

Although platelet production is regulated at several points, the most frequently evaluated and most widely known regulating factor is thrombopoietin (TPO). Elevated TPO levels were found in hepatoblastoma (25), hepatocellular carcinoma (26), ovarian cancer (27), and in CRC (28). In addition to TPO, other cytokines also play a role in the growth of megakaryocytes and the stimulation of platelet production. The most widely known ones are interleukins 1 (IL-1), -3 (IL-3), -6 (IL-6), and -11 (IL-11), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (24). Although IL-3 (29) and its receptor 3 ligand and fibroblast growth factor (24). Although IL-3 (29) and its receptor (30) contribute to the microvascularization of the tumor, no study is known that would have identified correlation between IL-3 level and tumor stage, prognosis and cancer-related thrombocytosis (24). On the contrary, IL-1 concentration was proposed to correlate with the size of gastrointestinal, esophageal (30), breast (31) and renal cell carcinoma (32), but the expression of IL-1 mRNA did not correlate with

the platelet count in tumor patients (24). In another study (33), elevated plasma granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and GM-CSF levels were observed in different solid tumors in addition to thrombocytosis.

Elevated IL-6 levels have been reported for several malignancies such as gastrointestinal (34), renal cell carcinoma (35), prostate cancer (36), epithelial ovarian cancer (36) and lung cancer (37). Tumor cells can express IL-6 directly (24) and it was found in c-Mpl-deficient mice – the animal model system for thrombocytopenia – that IL-3, IL-6, IL-11 and LIF can restore normal platelet count only in the presence of TPO (38, 39). The strong relationship between IL-6 and TPO was further strengthened by the results of Kaser et al. that in the c-Mpl-deficient mice, concomitantly with IL-6 induced thrombocytosis, the mRNA expression of TPO is also increased in the liver resulting in elevated plasma TPO levels (40). Human recombinant IL-6 was also found to accelerate the restoration of platelet count after chemotherapy in different solid tumors (41). Stone et al. examined ovarian cancer patients who had elevated platelet count. They found that in addition to TPO, the IL-6 level of patients correlated with the elevated platelet count as well. Based on their evaluation they proposed a paraneoplastic pathway, hence the name paraneoplastic thrombocytosis: the tumor generates an inflammatory microenvironment that also raises the circulating IL-6 level, which stimulates the hepatic TPO production that in turn stimulates megakaryocytes in the bone marrow. The process ultimately results in thrombocytosis (42).

1.2.2. Previous studies investigating paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in CRC

Sasaki *et al.* evaluated the data of 636 patients and confirmed that the elevated platelet count was associated with the presence of distant metastases (43). In another study, the pre- and 1-month postoperative platelet counts in 336 patients with different stages of CRC had been investigated. It was found that the platelet counts significantly decreased following tumor resection, compared to that of the preoperative levels (22). It has to be noted however, that there are only a handful studies that examined the pre- or postoperative thrombocytosis and its prognostic values. Moreover, the change of platelet counts during follow-up is even a less investigated area of research.

1.2.3. Platelets and metastatization

Platelets play a role in the intravascular and extravasation phase of metastatic progression (44). The relationship of platelets and the metastatic potential of tumor cells have been proved with experiments. Correlation was found between the inhibition (45) or depletion (46) of platelets and lower metastatization rate. In platelet-depleted animals the infusion of platelets restored the metastatization potential of intravenously administered tumor cells (47).

The adhesion of migrating tumor cells to platelets has been experimentally verified (48). Platelets can protect the tumor cells from natural killer cells (NK-cells) with immunomodulating proteins expressed on their surface (49), such as the glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor family-related protein (GITR). Consequently, platelets containing the GITR ligand can protect the tumor cells (50). Furthermore, platelets express a large amount of major histocompatibility complex class I proteins, thus showing a false phenotype and interfering with the recognition of tumor cells by the immune system (50). Studies have shown that platelet-derived growth factor reduces in vitro NK-cell activity (51). Similarly, NK-cell cytotoxicity is ceased by platelet-derived transforming growth factor beta and interferon- γ (52).

During metastatization, the tumor cells have to be attached to the endothelial cells in order to extravasation of the tumor cells to occur. As shearing forces counteract adhesion (53), circulating tumor cells have to slow down as a first step. Stress caused by shearing forces is a well-known platelet-activating factor that considerably increases the adhesion of tumor cells to platelets (54). Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa on the surface of platelets and integrins on tumor cells take part in the adhesion (55). According to experiments, activated platelets attached to tumor cells slow down, and in this way, they facilitate their adhesion to the endothelium (56). In different tumors, metastatization could be decreased by the inhibition of activated platelets. *E.g.*, platelet-deficient NF-E2 (the transcription factor required to the formation of platelets from megakaryocytes) knockout mice are protected from hematogenous metastases (56). Furthermore, platelet depletion caused by the administration of antiplatelet serum decreases the incidence of pulmonary metastases in CRC, while metastases repeatedly appear following the administration of platelets (47).

1.3. The relationship between CRC and CD40 ligand

CD40 ligand (CD40L, synonym: CD154, gp39, or T-B activating molecule) is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein belonging to the tumor necrosis factor-family of cytokines (57, 58). CD40L activates CD40, a transmembrane protein receptor found on antigen-presenting cells (58). The majority of circulating CD40L is assumed to originate from platelets but a membrane-bound CD40L form is also known (58). CD40L has been described to have antitumor effects via the inhibition of tumor cell proliferation and pro-apoptotic features through the activation of apoptotic pathways (58-61). It has been found previously that CRC patients have significantly higher soluble CD40L level than those of healthy control patients, and its possible use as a promising biomarker in CRC was proposed (62-64). The connection between CD40L levels and lymph node involvement or distant metastasis is controversial. One study reported increased CD40L levels in patients with worse disease conditions, while others have found the opposite. Furthermore, neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy has decreased CD40L levels (28, 62, 63). The role of CD40L in the course of CRC and its relationship with CRC-related thrombocytosis has not been investigated previously.

The CRC cell lines HCT116, Colo320, and Caco-2 have been shown to be positive for CD40, while SW480, HT29, Colo741, and LS174T do not express CD40 (59, 60, 65). The treatment of CD40-positive cell lines with interferon-γ can further increase the expression of CD40 (60). Analysis of resected tumor specimens has shown that approximately every third CRC is moderately or strongly CD40-positive (65). While in another study CD40- and CD40L-positivity has been observed in 79% and 56% of CRC patients, respectively (61). Ex vivo treatment of CD40-positive CRC cell lines with recombinant soluble human CD40L can inhibit tumor growth, induce apoptosis (60), inhibit CRC cell proliferation, stall CRC cells at the G0/G1 state, influence cell adhesion and metastasis, and increase aryl hydrocarbon receptor expression (61). While the T cell membrane bound CD40L can induce enhanced apoptosis of in vitro CRC cells with CD40-positivity (65), less signaling strength has been observed in the case of the soluble form of CD40L. Soluble CD40L can induce apoptosis only following specific pharmacological interventions (65, 66).

1.4. Type 2 diabetes mellitus

1.4.1. A short introduction to type 2 diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most prevalent diseases in our time: based on latest estimations – available in the 9th edition of IDF Diabetes Atlas (67) –, the incidence of the disease varies between 4 and 10.4%, with over 460 million diabetes patients around the world (67). It is a complex metabolic disorder with multifactorial etiology. Approximately 90% of the diabetes patients are suffering from type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), which usually develops in later ages (67, 68).

T2DM is thought to be originating from insulin resistance, which leads to elevated insulin and glucose levels in blood, and ultimately to a subsequent beta cell dysfunction (69). As stated above, T2DM has multifactorial etiology, including genetic, epigenetic and lifestyle factors. *E.g.*, obesity, the lack of physical activity, and dietary irregularities (*i.e.*, excessive consumption of carbohydrates) can significantly increase the risk of T2DM development. The importance of genetic predisposition was also confirmed in T2DM by heritability estimates, twin studies, and genome-wide association studies (70). T2DM often develops from metabolic syndrome, which is a complex disease including obesity, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, and hypertension (71, 72). The clinical relevance of T2DM is due to its high prevalence. Over the age of 60 years, T2DM may occur in every fourth-fifth person (67, 73). Moreover, the associated cardiovascular & other complications (such as nephropathy, neuropathy, retinopathy, etc.) significantly affects patients' quality of life (68, 73).

1.4.2. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and CRC

There are several known mechanisms and factors that have link T2DM and CRC together (74). *E.g.*, older age, the increased incidence related to lifestyle changes and obesity, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, oxidative stress, dyslipidemia, and the impairment of insulin-like growth factor pathway(s) (75-78). Overweight is expected to increase cancer mortality with 14-20% (79), moreover, CRC may develop 20-50% more often in the obese (80). Higher levels of serum insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) are characteristic both for obese patients and insulin resistance, and higher levels of IGF-1 have also been shown in several tumor types (81). A strong

connection between hyperglycemia and the Warburg effect has been also suggested (78, 82).

Compared to the healthy population, an increased occurrence of malignancies is confirmed in T2DM (77, 78, 83). 8-18% of all cancer patients is estimated to suffer from co-existing T2DM, and CRC occurs approximately 1.5-times more often in patients with T2DM (84-86). The co-existence of T2DM is associated with an increased risk for shorter survival in CRC (87, 88). T2DM has been described to have a negative effect on overall-, cancer-specific-, disease-free-, and recurrence-free survival of CRC patients (89, 90).

1.4.3. Platelet irregularities in type 2 diabetes mellitus

Similar to CRC, T2DM can be also described by various platelet abnormalities (91, 92) and an increased TPO production is also known (92-94). The regulation of different signaling pathways of platelets is impaired in diabetes that ultimately results in increased activation, adhesion and aggregation of platelets (95). Platelet volume is somewhat increased in diabetes patients (96), which is associated with an increased reactivity (97). Increased adhesion, aggregation and synthesis of coagulation factors is characteristic for the platelets of T2DM patients. They bind to fibrinogen to a greater extent, and reendothelialization following fibrinolysis is associated with more prolonged and pronounced subendothelial fibrosis. All of these changes are thought to be due to non-enzymatic glycation (93). Glycation may occur directly on the platelet membrane, damaging surface glycoproteins responsible for adhesion, or on membrane-forming lipids by binding to glycoproteins and reducing membrane fluidity (93). In addition to chronically high blood glucose levels, hypoglycemia may also affect platelet function in those with diabetes mellitus. In these cases, higher von Willebrand factor levels have been measured, similarly, with increases platelet activation. Based on ex vivo experiments, these changes have persisted after euglycemia has been reached (98).

Intracellular abnormalities characteristic of T2DM have also been observed. In health, thrombin binds to the Gq/11 protein found on the platelet membrane. Initiation of the signal transduction pathway activates phospholipase C, which cleaves to phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂), then to inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃), which latter raises intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (99). Both in diabetes patients and in hyperglycemia, phospholipase C can cleave into PIP₂ more frequently, resulting in higher

intracellular free Ca²⁺ levels. Higher intracellular calcium levels lead to phosphorylation of myosin, displacement of actin-myosin filaments, and contraction. This ultimately results in platelet deformation and aggregation, and the release of substances stored in granules (100).

Insulin directly interferes with platelet aggregation: insulin binds to platelet membrane receptor and reduces platelet response to thrombin, ADP, arachidonic acid, collagen and platelet activating factor. Patients with diabetes mellitus are less sensitive to the inhibitory effect of insulin (101). The number and affinity of platelet insulin receptors are decreased in T2DM, therefore, it can be assumed that the decreased insulin sensitivity is responsible for platelet hyperreactivity (102).

2. Objectives

Although several potential mechanisms link cancers and T2DM together (81), and platelets are affected in both diseases (21, 22, 42, 58, 92-94, 103), the relationship between T2DM, (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis, CD40L, and CRC was never investigated previously. Therefore, a prospective, real-life observational cohort study was conducted where paraneoplastic thrombocytosis was investigated within CRC patients with and without T2DM through the changes in platelet counts, plasma IL-6, CD40L and TPO levels.

The research objectives were as follows:

- In CRC patients who attended at the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest and the Department of General Surgery, Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital, Budapest
 - a. To determine the pre and postoperative platelet counts.
 - b. To determine the pre and postoperative plasma IL-6 levels.
 - c. To determine the pre and postoperative plasma TPO levels.
 - d. To determine the pre and postoperative plasma CD40L levels.
 - e. To determine the incidence of T2DM.
- To examine whether platelet counts, IL-6, TPO and/or CD40L plasma levels correlate with any other routine laboratory parameters examined during routine CRC management, such as complete blood count, liver enzymes, tumor markers or cholesterol levels.
- 3. To evaluate whether and how platelet counts, IL-6, TPO, and/or CD40L plasma levels change after the primary tumor removal surgery.
- 4. To observe whether platelet counts, IL-6, TPO, and/or CD40L plasma levels change with the progression of CRC.

- 5. To determine how platelet counts, IL-6, TPO, and/or CD40L plasma levels affects CRC survival in single-time and longitudinal survival models.
- 6. To investigate whether T2DM is associated with other routine laboratory parameters, such as complete blood count, liver enzymes, tumor markers or cholesterol levels, that are tested in the routine management of CRC.
- To observe whether T2DM is associated with changes in platelet count, IL-6, TPO and/or CD40L plasma levels during CRC progression.
- 8. To determine whether T2DM affects CRC survival in single-time and longitudinal survival models.

3. Methods

The study was conducted in concordance with the WMA Declaration of Helsinki. It was approved by the Regional and Institutional Committee of Science and Research Ethics, Semmelweis University (SE TUKEB 21-12/1994, approval date of latest modification: February 10, 2017), by the Institutional Review Board of Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital (SZIK IKEB 5/2017), and by the Committee of Science and Research Ethics, Hungarian Medical Research Council (ETT TUKEB 8951-3/2015/EKU). Handling of patient data was in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation issued by the European Union. Written informed consent was collected from all study participants before any study specific procedures.

3.1. Patients and study design

A prospective, real-life observational cohort study was carried out. A total of 108, histopathologically confirmed CRC patients and 166 voluntary non-CRC subjects were enrolled for the study between 2017 and 2019. Study subjects attended at both the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest and the Department of General Surgery, Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital, Budapest. Fifty-one, fifty, and sixty-five of the 166 voluntary non-CRC subjects were healthy young controls (age < 40 years), older controls (age \geq 40 years), and T2DM patients, respectively. Rationale for the inclusion of healthy young subjects was that some of the measured parameters had no reference values at the time of the study. By investigating the parameters of this group, we hoped to have a more complex view of these factors. The older volunteers included both completely healthy individuals and non-metabolic disease patients. T2DM patients attended at the Metabolic Outpatient Clinic of the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest.

Exclusion criteria included age < 18 years, any previous malignancies, known inflammatory bowel- and/or chronic kidney- and/or systemic autoimmune- and/or inadequately controlled thyroid- and/or hematologic- and/or any mental diseases, the usage of erythropoiesis-stimulating agents and/or recent blood transfusion, and patients with an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status score > 2. In

addition, voluntary non-CRC subjects were excluded in the presence of pre-diabetes or any other metabolic disorders.

Study visits were performed according to the following protocol: 1.) at the diagnosis of CRC and prior to any oncological treatments or the surgical resection of the primary tumor, 2.) at least 6-weeks, 3.) 6-months and 4.) 12-months after tumor removal surgery. Follow-up measurements and data collection were only performed in the case of CRC patients, control subject attended only a single (baseline) visit. At the time of post-operative measurements, study sampling was scheduled for a time when the oncological treatments were stopped/paused for at least 6-weeks prior to sampling, due to the known platelet influencing effects of several cytotoxic regimens (104, 105). For the 108 CRC subjects, a total of 215 measurements were available. 108, 48, 37, and 22 preoperative, postoperative, 6-month, and 12-month measurements were available, respectively.

CD40L measurement was not feasible for 2 CRC patients, due insufficient amount of blood for the CD40L plasma level determination. Moreover, previous literature data suggests that plasma CD40L level might be affected by a number of factors, including age and various diseases (106-110). Therefore, an age and sex matched control group (n= 50) was created using propensity-score matching techniques. In addition, the matching of patients was also adjusted for any bias originating from complete blood count differences.

3.2. Clinical and Laboratory Data Measurements

Anamnestic data including co-morbidities and recent medications, bodyweight and height were collected, and fasting blood samples were drawn at every study visit. Complete blood count, aspartate- and alanine transaminase, gamma-glutamyl transferase, plasma glucose, glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1C}), and creatinine were measured at the Central Laboratory of Semmelweis University and at the Central Laboratory of Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital. Estimated glomerular filtration rate was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease – Epidemiology Collaboration equations (111). Side of CRC was described as right-sided if the tumor was originating from the cecum, ascending colon, and proximal two-third of the transverse colon; and left-sided if originating from the distal one-third of the transverse colon, descending colon, sigmoid colon and rectum (112). Staging was given by histopathological examination of surgical specimens and imaging studies; the AJCC TNM staging system was used (6). The usage of biological agents was recorded as a dummy variable and chemotherapy was grouped as adjuvant if no metastasis and first-line, second-line etc. if metastases was present. Selection of chemotherapy protocol(s) was based on national and international guidelines (16, 17). Overall– (OS) and CRC-related disease-specific (DSS) survival of patients was defined as the length of time from the date of CRC diagnosis until death from any cause and from the cancerous disease, respectively. Follow-ups of CRC patients was terminated on January 31, 2021. Patients alive at this time point were right censored.

3.3. Measurement of plasma interleukin-6

Plasma IL-6 levels were measured using the ELECSYS® Interleukin-6 ECLIA kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) at the Clinical Genetics and Endocrinology Laboratory, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Semmelweis University. In line with the manufacturer's description, the measurement was performed using a Roche cobas® e411 automated ECLIA analyzer (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). Total duration of the assay was 18 minutes. The test principle was as follows. During the first incubation 30 µL of sample was incubated with a biotinylated monoclonal IL-6-specific antibody. During a second incubation monoclonal IL-6-specific antibody labeled with a tris(2,2'-bipyridyl)ruthenium(II)-complex and streptavidin-coated microparticles were added to the samples. The antibodies formed a sandwich complex with the antigen of the sample. Then the reaction mixture was aspirated into the measuring cell where the microparticles were magnetically captured onto the surface of the electrode, while unbound substances were removed. Application of a voltage to the electrode then induced the chemiluminescent emission which was measured by a photomultiplier. Results were determined via a calibration curve which was instrumentspecifically generated by 2-point calibration and a master curve provided via the reagent barcode or e-barcode.

3.4. Measurement of plasma thrombopoietin

Plasma TPO levels were measured using the Human Thrombopoietin Quantikine® ELISA kit (catalogue number: DTP00B, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) at the Laboratory of the Metabolic Diseases Working Group of the Department of Internal and Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University. In line with the manufacturer's description, TPO levels were measured from platelet-poor plasma. First, samples were centrifugated at 4 °C and 3000 rpm for 10 minutes in a Janetzky K23 refrigerated centrifuge using a swing-out rotor. The supernatant plasma was then transferred to a clean centrifuge tube, and a second centrifugation was performed at 4 °C and 6000 rpm for 10 minutes. Platelet-poor plasma was the resulting supernatant after the second centrifugation.

200 μ L of plasma sample with 50 μ L buffered protein base with preservatives was placed on the 96-well microplate that was coated with a monoclonal antibody specific for human TPO. After a 180-minute incubation at room temperature, microwell stripes were buffer washed and 200 μ L polyclonal antibody specific for human TPO conjugated to horseradish peroxidase with preservatives was added to the samples, followed by a 60-minutes incubation and buffer washing. This was followed by a 30-minute incubation with 200 μ L stabilized hydrogen peroxide and stabilized chromogen (3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine dihydrochloride). After adding 50 μ L of 2N sulfuric acid stop solution, the optical densities were determined at a wavelength of 450 nm with a wavelength correction at 570 nm, using a Thermo Scientific Multiskan EX ELISA microplate reader (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). To determine plasma TPO concentrations from the optical densities, a standard curve obtained from the calibrator samples in the kit were constructed. Samples were applied to the microwell plate in pairs, and the average concentration of pairs was used for evaluating the data.

3.5. Measurement of plasma CD40 ligand

Plasma CD40L levels were measured using the CD40L Human ELISA kit (abcam®, Catalog Number ab99991, Cambridge, MA, USA) at the Laboratory of the Metabolic Diseases Working Group of the Department of Internal and Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University. In line with the description of the manufacturer, 100 μ L of plasma sample was placed on the 96-well microplate that was coated with a monoclonal antibody specific for human CD40L. After a 150-minute incubation at room temperature, microwell stripes were buffer washed and 100 μ L of Biotinylated CD40L Detection Antibody was added to the samples, followed by another 60-minute incubation and buffer washing. This was followed by a 45-minute incubation with and 100 μ L

streptavidin-HRP 100, washing, and a 30-minute incubation with 100 μ L 3,3',5,5'tetramethylbenzidine dihydrochloride substrate. After adding 50 μ L of 0.2% sulfuric acid stop solution, the optical densities were determined at a wavelength of 450 nm using a Thermo Scientific Multiskan EX ELISA microplate reader (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). To determine plasma CD40L concentrations from the optical densities, a standard curve obtained from the calibrator samples in the kit were constructed. Samples were applied to the microwell plate in pairs, and the average concentration of pairs was used for evaluating the data.

3.6. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with R version 4.0.5 (R Core Team, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2021, Vienna, Austria). Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney U-test, Fisher's exact test, Kruskal-Wallis test with p-value corrected pairwise Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney U-tests as post-hoc, and Spearman rank correlation was used for group comparisons. To detect the changes of various parameters in time, linear mixed effect models were used (R-package nlme, developed by Pinheiro, Bates DebRoy, Sarkar and the R Core Team, version 3.1-149). Survival of patients was analyzed for both preoperative and longitudinal data with Cox regression models (R package survival, developed by Therneau and Grambsch, version 3.2-10) and Bayesian univariate and multivariate joint survival models (R-package rstanarm, developed by Goodrich, Gabry, Ali and Brilleman, version 2.21.1), respectively. Single-time OS and DSS of patients were analyzed with simple Cox regression and cause-specific competing risk survival models, respectively (R package survival, developed by Therneau and Grambsch, version 3.2-10). p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant and p-values were corrected with the Holm method (113) for multiple comparisons problem. Results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, the number of observations (percentage), and as hazard ratio (HR) with its 95% confidence interval (95% CI) for continuous, count, and survival data, respectively.

Compared to the "conventional" frequentist methods, Bayesian methods give only a probability distribution for the investigated parameter but no *p*-values. Interpretation of longitudinal survival models, a.k.a. joint model results was as follows. If the Bayesian equivalent to the frequentist confidence interval (CI), the 95% credible interval (95% CrI) contained the hazard ratio (HR) of 1, the model was considered as clinically not relevant. However, if the 95% CrI was less than or more than HR = 1, the effect of the parameter was considered as a good or bad sign of patient survival, respectively. Naïve Kaplan– Meier and longitudinal survival curves were drawn with the R-package *survminer* (developed by Kassambara, Kosinski, and Biecek, version 0.4.9, 2021) and the built-in methods of the R-package *rstanarm* (developed by Goodrich, Gabry, Ali and Brilleman, version 2.21.1), respectively.

4. Results

A total of 274 study participants were included in the study: 108 CRC patients and 166 voluntary, non-CRC subjects. CRC patients were divided into two cohorts based on the presence of T2DM. Patients without diabetes (n = 82) were assigned to the 'CRC' group, while patients with a history of T2DM (n = 26) were assigned to the 'CRC+T2DM' group. The average duration of diabetes was 6.88 ± 6.10 years, from which T2DM was diagnosed in four cases around the time of CRC diagnosis. Voluntary non-CRC subjects were divided into three cohorts: 51, 50 and 65 subjects were assigned to the 'Young control', 'Control' and 'T2DM' groups, respectively. Duration of diabetes was 14.91 ± 9.50 years within the T2DM group. The complete list of anamnestic, clinical and laboratory parameters of the study groups are shown in **Table 2**, including the indications of the differences between all five groups.

In most parameters, the two tumor groups did not differ from each other, while plasma glucose was significantly higher (p = 0.0018), and tendentiously higher white blood cell-, neutrophil-, eosinophil- and monocyte counts were observed in the CRC+T2DM group. Platelet aggregation inhibition therapy was more common in CRC+T2DM patients; no difference was found in radiotherapy (neoadjuvant only) while no- or late-line chemotherapy was more common in those CRC patients with T2DM than those of without (p = 0.0560).

The comparisons between the volunteer groups revealed that, as expected, Young controls had the lowest body mass index (p < 0.0001 vs T2DM and Controls), systolic blood pressure (p = 0.0250 vs Controls, p = 0.0410 vs T2DM), mean corpuscular volume (p = 0.0002 vs Controls, p = 0.0041 vs T2DM), red blood cell distribution width (p = 0.0023 vs Controls, p < 0.0001 vs T2DM), fasting plasma glucose (p < 0.0001 vs Controls and T2DM) and the highest heart rate (p = 0.0002 vs Controls, p = 0.0242 vs T2DM) and estimated glomerular filtration rate (p < 0.0001 vs Controls and T2DM). T2DM patients had the highest body mass index (p = 0.0098 vs Controls, p < 0.0001 vs Young controls), white blood cell count (p = 0.0430 vs Controls, p = 0.0008 vs Young controls), gamma-glutamyl transferase (p = 0.0633 vs Controls, p = 0.0003 vs Young controls) and fasting plasma glucose (p < 0.0001 vs Controls and Young controls).

Devezyeter	CRC	CRC+T2DM	Young control	Control	T2DM
Parameter	(n = 82)	(n = 26)	(n = 51)	(n = 50)	(n = 65)
Age (years)	67.42 ± 9.33	70.83 ± 7.24	26.13 ± 4.50 ¹	60.31 ± 11.00 ⁴	64.68 ± 8.30 ⁷
Say (Mala : Famala)	51:31	20:6	24:27	22 : 28 ⁷	35:30
Sex (Male : Female)	(62.2%:37.8%)	(76.9%:23.1%)	(47.1%: 52.9%)	(44.0% : 56.0%)	(53.8%:46.2%)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.26 ± 3.87	27.43 ± 4.64	23.25 ± 3.95 ¹	27.99 ± 5.42^{-6}	30.73 ± 5.12 ¹
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	144.49 ± 18.48	141.12 ± 19.55	129.82 ± 15.60	138.27 ± 17.34	136.58 ± 16.64
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	78.99 ± 10.19	78.20 ± 9.10	77.27 ± 9.10	80.98 ± 11.85	76.06 ± 10.83
Heart rate (1/min)	77.88 ± 13.76	80.76 ± 16.36	77.59 ± 11.08	67.76 ± 7.95 ¹	73.23 ± 9.18
White blood cell count $(10^9/L)$	8.14 ± 2.91 *	11.11 ± 7.46	$6.48 \pm 1.59^{\ 2}$	7.04 ± 2.00 ⁷	7.97 ± 2.23
- Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	5.60 ± 2.57 *	7.87 ± 5.59	3.66 ± 1.37 ²	4.35 ± 1.68 ⁴	4.93 ± 1.82 ⁷
- Eosinophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.18 ± 0.16 *	0.59 ± 1.73	0.19 ± 0.17	0.18 ± 0.13	0.21 ± 0.13
- Basophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.06 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.04	0.06 ± 0.08	0.06 ± 0.03	0.06 ± 0.05
- Monocyte count $(10^9/L)$	0.61 ± 0.46 *	0.78 ± 0.51	0.44 ± 0.15 ²	0.44 ± 0.11 ²	0.52 ± 0.14
- Lymphocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	1.74 ± 1.11	1.81 ± 0.92	2.09 ± 0.66 ³	2.15 ± 0.77 ³	2.25 ± 0.80^{-3}
Red blood cell count $(10^{12}/L)$	4.50 ± 0.58	4.42 ± 0.52	$4.97 \pm 0.53 \ ^4$	4.92 ± 0.53 4	$4.81 \pm 0.38\ ^4$
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12.42 ± 2.14	12.14 ± 2.11	14.60 ± 1.35 ⁴	14.69 ± 1.38 ⁴	14.07 ± 1.04 ⁴
Hematocrit (L/L)	0.38 ± 0.06	0.38 ± 0.06	0.43 ± 0.04 4	0.44 ± 0.04 4	0.42 ± 0.03 4
Mean Corpuscular Volume (fL)	84.84 ± 8.22	84.31 ± 8.54	86.27 ± 3.00 ⁵	89.32 ± 4.18 ³	88.04 ± 3.44
Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin (pg)	27.30 ± 3.41	27.32 ± 3.81	29.49 ± 1.39 ³	30.02 ± 1.61 ⁴	29.32 ± 1.47 ³
Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin Concentration (g/L)	322.35 ± 15.29	324.20 ± 24.53	339.16 ± 9.73 ²	337.18 ± 8.40 ⁴	332.95 ± 8.93 ³
Red Blood Cell Distribution Width (%)	14.63 ± 3.74	15.53 ± 3.47	12.59 ± 0.79 1	13.15 ± 0.92 ⁷	13.23 ± 0.83 ⁷
Platelet count $(10^9/L)$	308.38 ± 124.66	339.85 ± 118.86	267.86 ± 50.18	272.18 ± 72.66	263.92 ± 67.23
Aspartate transaminase (U/L)	25.86 ± 21.03	26.37 ± 16.12	27.47 ± 13.96	24.64 ± 6.49	25.34 ± 9.82
Alanine transaminase (U/L)	21.75 ± 12.52	$23.10 \pm 13.\overline{35}$	$25.08\pm14.\overline{77}$	24.88 ± 11.32^{-3}	27.91 ± 14.86
Gamma-glutamyl transferase (U/L)	68.33 ± 117.56	97.24 ± 167.79	25.06 ± 12.56^{-6}	32.70 ± 31.24	40.64 ± 29.40

Table 2: Demographic and clinical characteristics of study participants. Unit of frequency data is the number of observations (percentage).

Table 2 (cont.)

Parameter	CRC (n = 82)	CRC+T2DM $(n = 26)$	Young control $(n = 51)$	Control $(n = 50)$	T2DM $(n = 65)$
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.45 ± 0.86	6.62 ± 1.71	4.58 ± 0.45^{-1}	4.99 ± 0.57^{-1}	8.17 ± 2.63^{-1}
Creatinine (µmol/L)	76.99 ± 19.19	82.33 ± 22.41	73.69 ± 12.72	70.20 ± 12.72	75.11 ± 19.05
Estimated glomerular filtration rate (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	82.17 ± 16.81	78.23 ± 18.30	109.33 ± 14.97 ¹	89.66 ± 12.42	83.98 ± 16.05
Known comorbidities					
- Hypertension	48 (58.5%)	20 (76.9%)	$0 (0.0\%)^{1}$	16 (32.0%) ¹	56 (86.2%) ³
- Major cardiovascular event(s) prior first visit	16 (19.5%)	6 (23.1%)	$0 (0.0\%)^2$	5 (10.0%)	13 (20.0%)
Platelet aggregation inhibition	14 (17.1%)*	9 (34.6%)	$0 (0.0\%)^2$	6 (12.0%) ⁶	50 (76.9%) ⁴
AJCC Staging (6) **					
- Stage I	19 (23.2%)	9 (34.6%)	NA	NA	NA
- Stage II	23 (28.0%)	4 (15.4%)	NA	NA	NA
- Stage III	20 (24.4%)	4 (15.4%)	NA	NA	NA
- Stage IV	20 (24.4%)	9 (34.6%)	NA	NA	NA
Side of CRC (112)					
- Left-sided	60 (73.2%)	15 (57.7%)	NA	NA	NA
- Right-sided	22 (26.8%)	11 (42.3%)	NA	NA	NA
Chemotherapy					
- None	37 (45.1%)	16 (61.5%)	NA	NA	NA
- Adjuvant	21 (25.6%)	2 (7.7%)	NA	NA	NA
- First-line	12 (14.6%)	0 (0.0%)	NA	NA	NA
- Second-line	7 (8.5%)	7 (26.9%)	NA	NA	NA
- Third or Later-line	5 (6.1%)	1 (3.8%)	NA	NA	NA
Radiotherapy	14 (17.1%)	3 (11.5%)	NA	NA	NA
Use of biological therapy	15 (18.3%)	7 (26.9%)	NA	NA	NA

Parameter	CRC (<i>n</i> = 82)	CRC+T2DM (<i>n</i> = 26)	Young control $(n = 51)$	Control (<i>n</i> = 50)	T2DM $(n = 65)$
Duration of T2DM (years)	NA	6.88 ± 6.10	NA	NA	14.91 ± 9.50^{7}
HbA _{1C} (%)	NA	6.30 ± 1.04	NA	NA	7.40 ± 1.26^{7}
Treatment used for T2DM ⁷					
- Only diet	NA	7 (26.9%)	NA	NA	3 (4.6%)
- Oral Hypoglycemic Medications	NA	18 (69.2%)	NA	NA	32 (49.2%)
- Combination therapy (oral + basal insulin)	NA	1 (3.8%)	NA	NA	14 (21.5%)
- Intensive insulin therapy	NA	0 (0.0%)	NA	NA	16 (24.6%)
Diabetic complications (developed prior CRC)		· · · ·			· · · · ·
- Retinopathy	NA	2 (7.7%)	NA	NA	16 (24.6%)
- Nephropathy	NA	0 (0.0%)	NA	NA	6 (9.2%)
- Neuropathy	NA	5 (19.2%)	NA	NA	14 (21.5%)
- Angiopathy	NA	1 (3.8%)	NA	NA	9 (13.8%)
- Albuminuria	NA	0 (0.0%)	NA	NA	9 (13.8%)
Number of diabetic co-morbidities		×			· · · · ·
- None	NA	20 (76.9%)	NA	NA	35 (53.8%)
- One	NA	4 (15.4%)	NA	NA	15 (23.1%)
- More than one	NA	2 (7.7%)	NA	NA	15 (23.1%)
Hyperlipidemia	NA	10 (38.5%)	NA	NA	44 (67.7%)

Table 2 (cont.)

AJCC: American Joint Committee on Cancer; HbA_{1C}: glycated hemoglobin; T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus. ${}^{1}p < 0.05$ vs all other 4 groups. ${}^{2}p < 0.05$ vs all diseased groups. ${}^{3}p < 0.01$ vs the colorectal cancer without T2DM group. ${}^{4}p < 0.01$ vs both tumor groups. ${}^{5}p < 0.05$ vs Control and T2DM groups. ${}^{6}p < 0.05$ vs T2DM. ${}^{7}p < 0.01$ vs the colorectal cancer with T2DM group. * Without p-value correction, the differences between the two tumor groups are marginal. ** Without p-value correction, the differences in the distribution of chemotherapy regimens between the two tumor groups are statistically significant (crude p = 0.0070). The duration of diabetes was shorter within the CRC+T2DM group, compared to those of the T2DM group. A higher proportion of oral antidiabetic drug usage and diet-only therapy was observable within the CRC+T2DM group, while the need for insulin therapy was greater in those within the T2DM group (p = 0.0006). Furthermore, lower HbA_{1C} level and fewer diabetic complications were found in the CRC+T2DM patients (**Table 2**). The occurrence of hypertension (p = 0.7790) and the proportion of previous major cardiovascular event(s) prior the first visit (p = 0.7004) did not differ between the two diabetic groups.

4.1. Investigation of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters

4.1.1. Baseline measurement of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters

The plasma level of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis parameters of CRC patients was compared to those of all control groups at the time of CRC diagnosis. Highest platelet counts were observed within the two tumor groups: platelet count of CRC patients was significantly higher than those of within the T2DM group (p = 0.0369); while platelet count of the CRC+T2DM group was significantly higher than all of the control groups (p = 0.0369 vs Young Control and Control, p = 0.0278 vs T2DM; Figure 2A). Lowest plasma IL-6 levels were observed within the Young controls (p < 0.0010 vs. all other cohorts). Subjects of the Control and T2DM groups had similar IL-6 levels; and IL-6 was significantly higher in both tumor groups, compared to all of those observed in control groups (p < 0.0001 CRC vs Control & T2DM, p = 0.0011 CRC+T2DM vs Control, p =0.0069 CRC+T2DM vs T2DM; Figure 2B). TPO level was basically the same in the Young control and Control groups, and a separate cluster was formed by the remaining three groups. The highest TPO levels were observed in the CRC+T2DM group (Figure **2C**). No further difference could have been justified in any of the study groups if they were further subdivided by the usage of platelet aggregation inhibition therapy, antidiabetic drugs, or in the presence of any diabetic complications.

Highest platelet counts were found if IL-6 was high as well (CRC: Spearman ρ : +0.34, *p* = 0.0017; CRC+T2DM: *p* = 0.0786; CRC groups combined: Spearman ρ : +0.32, *p* = 0.0009). Correlation between platelet count and TPO was only significant in the CRC group (Spearman ρ : -0.24, *p* = 0.0332), while no (*p* = 0.8486) and marginal association



(p = 0.0643) was found in the CRC+T2DM and in the two tumor groups



Figure 2: Comparison of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters within the 5 study groups. Platelet count (**A**) was significantly higher in colorectal cancer (CRC) patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), compared to those in all control groups; and it also differed between the CRC and T2DM groups. Plasma interleukin-6 (**B**) level was significantly higher in all tumor patients, while plasma thrombopoietin (**C**) was significantly lower within the T2DM and CRC, and significantly higher in the CRC+T2DM groups, compared to those of control subjects.

Note: Due to better visibility, on Figure 2B, six and one outlier(s) over 40 pg/mL were not shown in the CRC and CRC+T2DM groups; maximum values were 220.20 pg/mL and 77.19 pg/mL, respectively.

Own figure.

combined, respectively. No correlation was found between IL-6 and TPO levels (CRC: p = 0.4279, CRC+T2DM: p = 0.9921, tumor groups combined: p = 0.5383). No correlation was found between the thrombocytosis related parameters and the duration of T2DM or the preoperative level of HbA_{1C}.

4.1.2. Changes in the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis with the course of colorectal cancer

For the 108 CRC subjects, a total of 215 measurements were available. 108, 48, 37 and 22 preoperative, postoperative, 6- and 12-month measurements were available, respectively. Significant decrease in later measurements occurred due to the death of patients, disease progression resulting in higher ECOG performance status and patient's unavailability to attend at later visits, the need to initiate chemotherapy earlier than the postoperative visit window, or continuous chemotherapy without drug holiday after the second study visit. Due to the decreasing number of follow-ups, a more robust statistical method not-sensitive to the loss-of follow-up had to be chosen, therefore, it was investigated via age- and stage-corrected linear mixed effect interaction models, how T2DM and worse clinical outcome (death) affects the changes of platelet count, IL-6 and TPO levels with the course of the disease. Diabetes had no significant effect on any of the changes (platelet counts: p = 0.1190; IL-6: p = 0.5571; TPO: p = 0.3062, Figure 3A, 3C and 3E). Platelet counts of all patients decreased, but within those patients who died during the time of the study, the average baseline platelet count was significantly higher $(273.70 \text{ vs. } 353.00 \times 10^9/\text{L}; p = 0.0042)$ and a faster decrease could have been seen within the first 12 months after the tumor removal surgery, compared to those of who survived (Figure 3B). Similarly, increased baseline IL-6 levels (5.76 vs 27.42 pg/mL; p < 0.0001) but slowly increasing levels were observed in deceased patients over time, while in those who survived the plasma IL-6 level was constant during our observation (p = 0.1273, Figure 3D). Initial TPO level did not differ between surviving and deceased patients (p = 0.5747) and its change was not affected by the worse clinical outcome (p = 0.5940, Figure 3F). Usage of radio- and/or chemotherapy did not affect any of the response variables, if included within any of the models.



Figure 3: Change in the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis with the course of the disease (red: CRC; green: CRC+T2DM; blue: survivors; purple: died). No difference was found in any of the parameters (**A**, **C** and **E**) when stratified with the presence of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Platelet count (**B**) and plasma interleukin-6 (**D**) was significantly higher at the time of colorectal cancer diagnosis in those patients who died during the observation period. Within the first year after tumor removal surgery a significantly faster platelet count decrease was found in those patients who died (**B**), while the significant

difference in plasma interleukin-6 levels remained throughout the whole study between survivors and those patients who died (**D**). No statistical difference was found in plasma thrombopoietin levels of survivors and non-survivors (**F**). Own figure.

4.1.3. Survival analysis of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters and T2DM

Thirty of the 108 patients (27.8%) died during the study, from which 20 and 10 belonged to the CRC and CRC+T2DM group, respectively. Despite the higher occurrence of death (24% vs 40%) within the CRC+T2DM group, the univariate Cox model of preoperative data suggested that T2DM had no effect on patient survival (p = 0.1450; **Figure 4**). While IL-6 and TPO had no significant univariate effect, higher preoperative platelet count (HR: 1.0026, 95% CI: 1.0010 – 1.0050, p = 0.0052) could be considered as a poor prognostic sign. However, if combined with T2DM in a multivariate model, higher IL-6 levels had marginal effect (HR: 1.0007, 95% CI: 0.9995 – 1.0140, p = 0.0692) on patient survival. Like in the univariate model, higher platelet counts had the same significant effect in the multivariate model as well (HR: 1.0028, 95% CI: 1.0009 – 1.0050, p = 0.0043). T2DM did not have any effect in either multivariate model. A subgroup analysis within the CRC+T2DM group only revealed that neither the duration of diabetes (p = 0.5590), the use of any antidiabetics (p = 0.2620), the presence of any diabetic complications (p = 0.2860), nor the preoperative level of HbA_{1C} (p = 0.5370) affected patient survival.

To analyze the effect of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameter-changes in time, Bayesian joint models were used. First, three univariate joint models (a single parameter is analyzed within the longitudinal submodel) were constructed: the survival effect of the changes of platelet count, IL-6 or TPO over time was included in the longitudinal submodel and T2DM was included in the survival submodel. An additional multivariate joint model was also constructed, where all three paraneoplastic thrombocytosis parameters were included within the longitudinal submodel, and no change was applied to the survival submodel. Based on the result of the univariate joint models, after the surgical removal of the primary tumor higher platelet count and plasma IL-6 level is a sign of poorer survival. TPO and T2DM did not affect the survival of patients in any of the univariate models. Multivariate joint model results suggested that IL-6 had the strongest effect on patient survival, while platelet count was marginal; and TPO and T2DM had no clinically relevant effect, similar to those observed in univariate models (**Figure 5**).



Figure 4: Naïve Kaplan-Meier curves of colorectal cancer (CRC) patients with and without type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Neither Cox regression (p = 0.1450), nor log-rank test (p = 0.0908) could justify a statistical difference.

Own figure.

	Hazard ratio	95% credible interval	Clinically relevant?
•	1.0121	1.0030 - 1.0233	Yes
\leftarrow \bullet \rightarrow	1.5512	0.3101 - 7.2572	No
	1.4874	1.0471 - 2.2278	Yes
<→	1.6209	0.0325 - 56.4864	No
	0.9333	0.6263 - 1.0822	No
\leftarrow \rightarrow	1.7789	0.2693 - 29.9042	No
•	0.9970	0.9861 - 1.0070	Marginal
	1.1445	1.0151 - 1.6226	Yes
	0.8319	0.5001 - 1.7542	No
0.5 1 1.5 2 2	4.3579	0.0775 - 222.2938	No
-		Hazard ratio 1.0121 (1.5512 1.4874 (1.6209 (0.9333 (0.9333 (0.9333 (0.9970 (1.1445 (0.8319 (0.8319 (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5) (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5) (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5) (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 1 1.5 2 2.5) (0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 1 1.5	Hazard ratio 95% credible interval 1.0121 1.0030 - 1.0233 1.5512 0.3101 - 7.2572 1.4874 1.0471 - 2.2278 1.6209 0.0325 - 56.4864 0.9333 0.6263 - 1.0822 1.7789 0.2693 - 29.9042 0.9970 0.9861 - 1.0070 1.1445 1.0151 - 1.6226 0.8319 0.5001 - 1.7542 0.5 1.5 2.5

Figure 5: Results of the Bayesian joint survival models. Platelet count and/or plasma interleukin-6 level increasing over time is a poor prognostic factor, while diabetes and plasma thrombopoietin changes did not affect patient survival. Own figure.

4.2. Investigation of CD40 ligand

4.2.1. Comparisons of baseline CD40 ligand measurements

As detailed in Methods, a total of 106 CRC patients and 50 age and sex-matched voluntary control subjects were enrolled for this part of the study. The two cohorts were well balanced as no significant difference was detected in either of the anamnestic data (**Table 3**). On the contrary, most of the parameters of complete blood count within the CRC group were out of normal range (p < 0.05), and 12 of the 106 CRC patients (11.3%) showed signs of thrombocytosis (platelet count > 400 × 10⁹/L). CD40L did not differ between the two cohorts (crude P value: 0.2946; **Figure 6**).



Figure 6: Baseline plasma CD40 ligand level of control subjects and colorectal cancer patients. Crude p = 0.2946. The red dot and thick line represent mean and median values, respectively. CRC: Colorectal cancer. Own figure.
Daramatar	CRC patients	Controls	
r ar ameter	(<i>n</i> = 106)	(n = 50)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (year)	68.55 ± 8.64	63.91 ± 10.12	0.2068
Sex (Male : Female)	71:35	35:15	1 0000
	(67.0% : 33.0%)	(70.0%: 30.0%)	1.0000
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.37 ± 4.03	29.26 ± 5.07	0.5995
White blood cell count $(10^9/L)$	8.76 ± 4.56	7.41 ± 1.99	0.7308
Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	6.05 ± 3.60	4.45 ± 1.64	0.0205
Eosinophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.28 ± 0.86	0.20 ± 0.15	1.0000
Basophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.06 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.03	1.0000
Monocyte count $(10^9/L)$	0.65 ± 0.48	0.48 ± 0.12	0.2532
Lymphocyte count $(10^{9}/L)$	1.76 ± 1.07	2.22 ± 0.72	0.0002
Red blood cell count $(10^{12}/L)$	4.48 ± 0.57	4.93 ± 0.51	0.0002
Hemoglobin (g/L)	123.67 ± 21.37	147.04 ± 12.70	0.0001
Hematocrit (L/L)	0.38 ± 0.06	0.44 ± 0.04	< 0.0001
Mean corpuscular volume (fL)	84.69 ± 8.29	89.22 ± 4.06	0.0856
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (pg)	27.30 ± 3.50	29.93 ± 1.77	0.0001
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin	322.04 ± 17.84	225.28 ± 0.44	< 0.0001
concentration (g/L)	322.94 ± 17.04	555.58 ± 9.44	< 0.0001
Red blood cell distribution width (%)	14.85 ± 3.70	13.13 ± 0.82	0.1911
Platelet count $(10^9/L)$	315.58 ± 124.55	259.96 ± 73.98	0.0479
Aspartate transaminase (U/L)	25.95 ± 20.22	26.52 ± 6.94	0.0155
Alanine transaminase (U/L)	22.14 ± 12.74	28.62 ± 12.32	0.0047
Gamma-glutamyl transferase (U/L)	75.07 ± 130.37	37.84 ± 31.74	1.0000
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.71 ± 1.23	5.84 ± 1.94	1.0000
Creatinine (µmol/L)	78.26 ± 20.06	74.82 ± 15.28	1.0000
Estimated glomerular filtration rate	81.30 ± 17.00	87 21 ± 12 42	0 7308
$(mL/min/1.73 m^2)$	81.39 ± 17.00	$0/.21 \pm 12.42$	0.7308
Known comorbidities			
- Type 2 diabetes mellitus	25 (23.6%)	16 (32.0%)	1.0000
- Hypertension	68 (64.2%)	26 (52.0%)	0.8157
- Major cardiovascular event(s)	21 (10.8%)	6 (12 0%)	1 0000
prior CRC	21 (19.070)	0 (12.070)	1.0000
Platelet aggregation inhibition	23 (21.7%)	18 (36.0%)	0.5517

Table 3: Baseline laboratory results and anamnestic data of study subjects.

CRC: colorectal cancer.

To test whether other factors, such as age, sex, body mass index, histopathological data, or the presence of comorbidities, affect plasma CD40L levels, further subgrouping within the individual cohorts and correlation analysis was performed. CD40L level of control subjects was affected by the presence of diabetes (without diabetes: 240.41 \pm 207.37 pg/mL; with diabetes: 110.09 \pm 112.06 pg/mL; p = 0.0313), while no further parameters had any effect on the CD40L level of control subjects. In contrast, the

presence of diabetes had no effect on CD40L levels of CRC patients (p = 0.7377). CD40L level was significantly higher in the presence of distant metastasis (M0: 228.27 ± 293.30 pg/mL; M1: 395.11 ± 322.00 pg/mL; p = 0.0055; **Figure 7A**) and with thrombocytosis (without thrombocytosis: 248.15 ± 299.20 pg/mL; with thrombocytosis: 475.77 ± 323.43 pg/mL; p = 0.0294). Furthermore, a negative correlation was found between CD40L and mean corpuscular volume (Spearman's $\rho = -0.36$, p = 0.0048). To further assess the effect of thrombocytosis on CD40L, general linear models were created. TPO did not have any effect on CD40L. Higher platelet count or the presence of thrombocytosis and higher plasma IL-6 levels were strongly correlated with higher CD40L levels (**Table 4**). It should be emphasized that both the individual and combined effect of these parameters only slightly explained the increase in CD40L. The explanatory power of the models, based on adjusted R², was at a maximum of 8.1%.

Table 4. Results of general linear models investigating the effect of thrombocytosis onCD40 ligand.

Parameter	Individual effect <i>p</i> -value	Multiple effect <i>p</i> -value	Multiple effect <i>p</i> -value
Interleukin-6 (pg/mL)	0.0130	0.1720	0.0454
Thrombopoietin (pg/mL)	0.1620	0.2393	0.1785
Platelet count $(10^{9}/L)$	0.0045	0.0043	-
Presence of thrombocytosis	0.0155	-	0.0138

To further assess whether staging has effect on any of the other parameters, in addition to CD40L, all of the parameters related to paraneoplastic thrombocytosis were also investigated. Similar to those of CD40L levels (Figure 7A), higher platelet count was associated with more advanced stages of CRC (p = 0.0079; Figure 7B). Moreover, higher IL-6 levels were observed in patients with a higher stage range (p = 0.0025; Figure 2C). Plasma TPO levels were basically equal in all stages, except in Stage II, where decreased TPO levels were observed (p = 0.0210; Figure 7D).





Figure 7: Baseline plasma CD40 ligand (A), interleukin-6 (C), and thrombopoietin (D) level and platelet count (B) of study participants (mean \pm SD). CD40 ligand level (p = 0.0275) and platelet count (p = 0.0004) was the highest in Stage IV colorectal cancer (CRC) patients. Interleukin-6 (p < 0.0001) and thrombopoietin (p = 0.0002) level of the

CRC patient groups, except those in Stage II in the latter, was significantly higher than those of healthy control subjects. The red dot and thick line represent mean and median values, respectively.

Own figure.

4.2.2. Changes in CD40L with the course of the disease

CRC patients were recalled for follow-ups, and 61 of the original 106 patients (call-back rate 57.4%) had at least one repeated measurement of CD40L. A total of 197 measurements were used and 30 CRC patients had all three sets of measurements (**Figure 8**). To determine whether CD40L change with respect to the course of CRC, linear mixed-effects models were constructed. Based on these estimations, no significant changes were observed in the plasma CD40L (p = 0.6813; **Figure 8**) levels of CRC patients.



Figure 8: The CD40 ligand level of patients did not change with the course of the disease (p = 0.6813). The red dot and thick line represent mean and median values, respectively. CRC: Colorectal cancer.

Own figure.

The effect of regional metastatic lymph node or distant metastasis and thrombocytosis on plasma CD40L levels within the course of the disease was also assessed. Distant metastasis developed in an additional 14 CRC patients following the surgical removal of the primary tumor. After the surgical resection of the primary tumor, the CD40L level of CRC patients with distant metastasis (p = 0.6964) or thrombocytosis (p = 0.7829) did not change over time. However, the same increased level could be observed throughout the observation time (stage M0 vs. M1: p = 0.0326; with or without thrombocytosis: p = 0.0008), as described at the baseline. The strong association between CD40L level and platelet count (p = 0.0002) and IL-6 level (p = 0.0012), observed at baseline measurements, also persisted throughout the whole time of the study.

4.2.3. Survival analysis of CD40 ligand measurements

Thirty of the 106 patients (28.3%) died during the study. The causes of deaths were postoperative complications, infection, and CRC-related in 4, 1 and 25 cases, respectively. Both pre- and postoperative data had been analyzed, and 106 and 61 cases were used for the calculations, respectively. Patients with higher preoperative plasma CD40L level (HR: 1.001; 95% CI: 1.000-1.002; p = 0.0159), plasma IL-6 level (HR: 1.020, 95% CI: 1.010-1.030, p = 0.0001), and platelet count (HR: 1.003, 95% CI: 1.001-1.005, p = 0.0052) had significantly shorter OS, while preoperative plasma TPO (p = 0.5550) did not affect OS in the univariate models. In a multivariate setting, IL-6 had the most prominent effect on OS (HR: 1.024, 95%CI: 1.010-1.039, p = 0.0012), while CD40L (95% CI: 0.9995-1.0020) and platelet count (95% CI: 0.9996-1.0040) had marginal effect only. TPO did not affect the OS of patients. The same was observed for preoperative (**Figure 9A**) and postoperative (**Figure 9B**) DSS as well.

Using stratified survival models we could assume different preoperative baseline hazards for patients with or without thrombocytosis (platelet count > 400×10^{9} /L). In a univariate model, higher preoperative plasma CD40L level indicated poor DSS of CRC patients (HR: 1.001, 95% CI: 1,000-1.002, p = 0.0332). However, only a marginal effect was found in multivariate models (HR: 1.001, 95% CI: 0.9998-1.002, p = 0.1196). Neither platelet count (univariate: p = 0.3310; multivariate: p = 0.6237), nor TPO (univariate: p = 0.9440; multivariate: p = 0.5387) affected patient survival if stratification by thrombocytosis had been applied. The strong effect of IL-6 on survival could be



demonstrated even by the elimination of the effect of thrombocytosis (univariate: p = 0.0016; multivariate: p = 0.0103).

Figure 9: Results of univariate and multivariate analysis on disease-specific survival of colorectal cancer patients concerning preoperative (**A**) and postoperative (**B**) laboratory results. CI: confidence interval; HR: hazard rate. Own figure.

5. Discussion

5.1. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in colorectal cancer

In CRC, the occurrence of thrombocytosis, either prior or after the primary tumor removal surgery, is associated with shorter survival of patients (19, 21, 22, 114-116). The background of thrombocytosis may vary due to several factors, including the bleeding-(reactive thrombocytosis) or metabolic changes (paraneoplastic thrombocytosis) of the tumor. In the latter, the tumor produces cytokines in higher quantities; and those higher cytokine concentrations stimulate hepatic TPO production, which ultimately results in the overproduction of platelets (103, 117). A platelet count of $> 400 \times 10^9$ /L or $> 450 \times 10^9$ /L are the most common definition of thrombocytosis (21, 42, 118), but several previous studies reported other cut-off values (21) indicating that the definition of thrombocytosis may not be perfect. In a previous work (119) we have reported that a personalized, relative platelet measure can predict disease outcome significantly better than "traditional" thrombocytosis, which further strengthened that the definition of thrombocytosis needs to be revised. Biochemical detection of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in CRC is a novel research area (120). In the current study, we observed higher IL-6 and TPO level of CRC patients, compared to those of control subjects, supporting the presence of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, which was further strengthened by the result of correlation and survival analysis, in line with previous findings (19, 21, 22, 115, 116, 120-122).

There is a strong relationship between CRC and various cytokines, including IL-6, which can play significant roles both in the development and progression of the disease (123-125). Specifically, IL-6 is known to for its significant role in tumor proliferation, migration, induction of microsatellite instability, and angiogenesis (126, 127). It has been reported that IL-6 is produced by cancer-associated mesenchymal stem cells (128). When combined with glycoprotein 130 (gp130, synonyms: IL6ST or CD130) IL-6 can regulate disease progression through the Shp2-Ras-ERK, JAK1/2-STAT3 and PI3K-Akt-mTOR pathways and its higher serum levels were associated with larger tumor size, presence of metastases and worse overall- and disease-free survival (123, 124, 129, 130). Due to its strong connection with CRC, IL-6 has been proposed as a good prognostic marker of CRC (131-133). In the current study, we could also confirm the prognostic role of IL-6 over patient survival. The result that preoperative IL-6 did not affected survival was possibly due to the heterogeneity of the study population, which was somewhat confirmed by the results obtained from the multivariate Cox models, as the predictive effect of IL-6 on survival increased. As a novel result, we found that constantly higher IL-6 level could have been observed in those patients, who died within the first three years after CRC diagnosis.

Research on CRC and TPO is limited. Previous studies have identified that cancer cells can induce circulating TPO production (43), furthermore, higher TPO level is associated with gastrointestinal cancers and a possible relationship between more advanced clinical stages and TPO has been also suggested (28, 134). Similar to the observations above, we found that the TPO level of CRC patients is higher than those of healthy subjects, however, the effect of TPO over survival was negligible and no change with the course of the disease could have been identified in either of our longitudinal models.

5.2. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer

T2DM, similarly to (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis, has a known negative effect on CRC (80, 88). Several potential mechanisms link the two diseases together (81), including the increased plasma glucose levels (hyperglycemia), the presence of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, increased insulin-like growth factor-1 levels, increased oxidative stress, higher cytokine concentrations and increased platelet activation (77, 78, 80, 81, 85). CRC is known to have an increased incidence in T2DM patients compared to those of within the healthy population (77, 78), a 1.3 - 1.5-fold increased risk of CRC has been reported (84-86, 135, 136). T2DM has been described to have a negative effect on overall-, cancer-specific-, disease-free- and recurrence-free survival of CRC patients (89, 90). In contrast to previous findings, we found that T2DM did not affected patient survival in the current study statistically, but it has to be noted, that the percentage of patients who died was higher in the CRC+T2DM group (24% vs 40%), and similarly, the survival curves also suggested a tendency toward significant difference. The effect of T2DM on patient survival was further investigated through the presence of diabetic complications, the preoperative HbA_{1C} level and the duration of T2DM. Despite the fact that the duration of diabetes was basically twice as long in patients of the T2DM group, a greater number of diabetic complications were present, and a more significant proportion of patients

required (intensive) insulin therapy, no significant effect could be justified for any of the above-mentioned parameters. We hypothesize, that the reason of the lower HbA_{1C} and serum glucose level of the CRC+T2DM group can be due to the longer duration of T2DM in this group. It is a known fact that the longer the duration of T2DM, the more complication, worse metabolic status will occur (67, 68). It has to be mentioned though that the sample size of CRC+T2DM patients was low, but we could not even prove tendentious differences similar to that of observed in the case of the survival analyses.

5.3. The combined effect of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and T2DM in CRC

The relationship between CRC-related paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and T2DM through biochemical measurements has not been investigated previously. It has to be mentioned though, that various platelet abnormalities, increased IL-6 and TPO production is known in T2DM (92-94, 137-139). Due to the above-mentioned effects and the high risk of cardiovascular events, the usage of platelet aggregation inhibition therapy is very common in T2DM (140, 141). Based on the available literature, our pre-study hypothesis was that CRC patients who also suffer from T2DM would probably have higher IL-6 and TPO levels than those who are not affected by T2DM. In contrast to our hypothesis, no differences could have been justified in any of the parameters related to paraneoplastic thrombocytosis between the CRC and CRC+T2DM groups. Furthermore, platelet aggregation inhibition also did not have any effect on the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis even though that the therapy was more common within the CRC+T2DM group. Similarly, the diabetes-related parameters also did not affect the paraneoplastic thrombocytosis related parameters. The fact, that plasma TPO level of non-CRC T2DM patients was more similar to those of CRC patients than those of control subjects was most likely related to the already known fact that TPO levels are higher in T2DM (137), but no previous data is available how similar these values of CRC and T2DM patients should be. The presented data suggests that T2DM do not increases the effect of CRCrelated paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, in most probability, and the disease-worsening effect of T2DM, which have been described in previous publications (83), must be carried out through other factors. To identify those factors, further investigations are needed.

5.4. CD40 ligand in colorectal cancer

The role of CD40L in neoplastic diseases is controversial (58). Cellular model studies have revealed that it can significantly contribute to the immunological activity against cancer, while other studies have reported the complete opposite, *i.e.* that CD40L contributes to the progression and growth of the tumor (65, 142). The most promising results and antitumor effects have been observed in melanomas and hematological malignancies (58), including enhanced protection of dendritic cells against apoptosis-inducing factors of tumor cells, enhanced maturation and antigen production of B cells, increased T cell-dependent immune response and the CD40L activation-dependent apoptosis of cancer cells (58). Moreover, CD40- and CD40L-based drugs have been developed recently, and active clinical trials are currently investigating their efficacy (143).

Previous clinical studies revealed that high CD40 expression and higher soluble CD40L concentration are associated with CRC (59, 64), and these elevations are the most prominent with the presence of lymph node metastasis (60, 64, 144), venous invasion (62), and higher TNM stages (60, 64, 144). In vitro stimulation of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells of CRC patients resulted in a significantly increased, approximately four-times higher, CD40L expression compared to those of healthy control subjects (145). In contrast, Tada et al. (62) and Lima et al. (63) observed lower soluble CD40L levels within those CRC patients with worse clinicopathological features. To our knowledge, no previous study investigated CD40L levels with the course of the disease, and only partial data are available from the study of Tada et al. (62). In that study, rectal cancer patients received neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy prior to the surgical removal of the tumor, and CD40L was measured before and after the neoadjuvant treatment. They found that the post-treatment CD40L level of patients with a high response rate to the treatment was significantly lower, while no change was observed in those patients with low response rates (62). Results of the current study confirmed the observations of those former studies (60, 64, 144) where circulating CD40L level was tendentiously higher in CRC patients than those of control patients. We also observed the highest measurements in Stage IV cancer and found that the CD40L level of CRC patients is basically constant with the course of the disease. The initial differences in CD40L levels between those patients with or without distant metastasis or thrombocytosis were observable throughout the whole

course of the disease. The latter observation showed, that the CD40L level was the highest in those patients with more advanced disease. This should be the cause behind higher preand postoperative CD40L levels associated with shorter survival of patients, with high probability. Similar to our findings, the highest soluble CD40L levels have been observed in patients with distant metastases in squamous cancer or adenocarcinoma of the lung (146), in nasopharyngeal carcinoma (147), and in gastric cancer (148).

Approximately 95% of the soluble form of CD40L is thought to be derived from platelets (149, 150). Soluble CD40L level is strongly correlated with platelet count (151). The highest levels can be measured in reactive thrombocytosis and essential thrombocythemia, while the lowest values can be measured in patients with low platelet count (151). As previously detailed, thrombocytosis is associated with several cancers (21, 22, 42), and the platelet count is usually higher in advanced stages (21). CD40L positively correlates with platelet count in patients with a high response rate to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy (62). An assumption was made by Huang et al. (144) that in cancer patients soluble CD40L is most probably derived from activated platelets than from T cells. However, this question was never further investigated. Our data showed that CD40L level is positively correlated with several markers of (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis, in particular with platelet count and IL-6. This strong connection persisted throughout the whole observation period. It has to be mentioned though that the stratification used in our survival models should have fully eliminated the significant effect of CD40L on CRC survival. However, we could not demonstrate this expected effect, which was observed, e.g., in the case of platelet count. This, together with the weaker explanatory powers observed in our linear models suggests that the increase in CD40L levels is possibly not only influenced by (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis alone. Increased CD40L production is known in various diseases characterized by general inflammation, like atherosclerosis, diabetes, or inflammatory bowel disease (152-155). CRC can also be described as a disease known for its general inflammation (156), high IL-6 level (156), and inadequate T cell activation (144). Furthermore, increased inflammation is also associated with metastasis (157, 158). The strong correlation between CD40L, IL-6, and metastases hints that the answer may be sought in the increased inflammation caused by the tumor or its metastases. To clarify this question, further investigations are needed.

6. Conclusions

The aim of our study was to better understand the relationship between paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, T2DM, and CRC, through a set of biomarkers, including platelet counts, IL-6, TPO, and CD40L. The following conclusions can be draw from the results:

- 1. Platelet counts, plasma IL-6, TPO, and CD40L levels are higher in CRC patents, compared to those of control subjects.
- 2. The highest platelet count, plasma IL-6, TPO, and CD40L level can be observed in those CRC patients with advanced disease.
- 3. CRC patients having thrombocytosis (platelet count > 400×10^{9} /L) have higher plasma CD40L level.
- 4. Supporting the presence of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, there are strong connections between
 - a. Platelet count and IL-6,
 - b. Platelet count and TPO,
 - c. Platelet count and CD40L, and
 - d. IL-6 and CD40L.

These relationships persisted throughout the whole observation period when investigated using longitudinal analysis methods.

- 5. Constantly higher IL-6 level could be observed in those patients, who died within the first three years after CRC diagnosis.
- 6. Plasma TPO and CD40L level of study subjects were statistically constant throughout the observation period of the study.

- 7. The initial differences in CD40L levels between those patients with or without distant metastasis or thrombocytosis are observable throughout the whole course of the disease.
- 8. Higher platelet counts, and plasma IL-6 and CD40L levels are associated with shorter survival times of CRC patients, of which IL-6 has the strongest effect.
- 9. Neither TPO, nor T2DM affected the survival of CRC patients.
- 10. No differences can be justified in any of the parameters related to paraneoplastic thrombocytosis between the CRC and CRC+T2DM groups, suggesting that T2DM do not exert its disease worsening effect through an exacerbation of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis.

7. Summary

Background: A large variety of factors can affect colorectal cancer (CRC) survival, including type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and paraneoplastic thrombocytosis. The majority of circulating CD40 ligand (CD40L) is thought to be is produced by platelets, and CD40L level is increased in CRC. The relationship between paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, T2DM and CRC was never investigated previously.

Methods: A prospective, real-life observational cohort study was conducted with the inclusion of 108 CRC patients and 166 voluntary non-CRC subjects. In addition to routine histopathological and laboratory parameters, plasma interleukin-6 (IL-6), thrombopoietin (TPO) and CD40L level was measured at 4 times (baseline, 6 weeks, 6 and 12 months).

Results: Study participants were divided into cohorts based on the presence of T2DM. Platelet count (p < 0.0500), IL-6 (p < 0.0100) and CD40L (p = 0.0479) level was significantly higher in the CRC groups. TPO was higher in the T2DM, CRC and CRC+T2DM groups (p < 0.0500). Strong connection was found between platelet counts and IL-6 (p = 0.0009), TPO (p = 0.0332), and CD40L (p = 0.0045), and between IL-6 and CD40L (p = 0.0130).

Analysis of parameter changes with the course of the disease revealed that higher platelet counts and IL-6 levels were associated with an increase risk for cancer-related death. TPO and CD40L levels were statistically constant throughout the whole observation period. Survival models revealed that of the investigated parameters IL-6 had the greatest effect over patient survival, followed by platelet counts and CD40L levels, while TPO had no effect on survival times. No differences could be justified when comparing any of the parameters related to paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in CRC patients with and without T2DM. Moreover, no association could be justified between T2DM and CRC survival.

Conclusion: While the independent, disease-worsening effect of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and T2DM is known, the coexistence of the two did not further impair the survival of CRC patients, suggesting that T2DM has no significant effect over paraneoplastic thrombocytosis. There is a strong relationship between platelet counts, CD40L, IL-6, TPO level, and the thrombocytosis of CRC patients.

8. References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209–249.
- Baidoun F, Elshiwy K, Elkeraie Y, Merjaneh Z, Khoudari G, Sarmini MT, Gad M, Al-Husseini M, Saad A. Colorectal Cancer Epidemiology: Recent Trends and Impact on Outcomes. Curr Drug Targets. 2021;22(9):998–1009.
- National Institute of Oncology. National Cancer Registry: Cancer statistics reports for Hungary. [Internet]. 2021 [cited: 20 October 2022]. Available from: http://stat.nrr.hu/
- Jones S, Chen WD, Parmigiani G, Diehl F, Beerenwinkel N, Antal T, Traulsen A, Nowak MA, Siegel C, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Willis J, Markowitz SD. Comparative lesion sequencing provides insights into tumor evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2008;105(11):4283–4288.
- Kuipers EJ, Grady WM, Lieberman D, Seufferlein T, Sung JJ, Boelens PG, van de Velde CJ, Watanabe T. Colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15065.
- 6. Jessup J, Goldberg R, Asare E, Benson A, Brierley J, Chang G, Chen V, Compton C, De Nardi P, Goodman K, Gress D, Guinney J, Gunderson L, Hamilton S, Hanna N, Kakar S, Kosinski L, Negoita S, Ogino S, Overman M, Quirke P, Rohren E, Sargent D, Schumacher-Penberthy L, Shibata D, Sinicrope F, Steele S, Stojadinovic A, Tejpar S, Weiser M, Welton M, Washington M. Colon and Rectum. In: Amin M, Edge S, Greene F, Byrd D, Brookland R, Washington M, Gershenwald J, Compton C, Hess K, Sullivan D, Jessup J, Brierley J, Gaspar L, Schilsky R, Balch C, Winchester D, Asare E, Madera M, Gress D, Meyer L, editors. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual (8th Edition). Chicago, IL, USA: Springer International Publishing; 2018. p 251–274.
- Dukes CE. The classification of cancer of the rectum. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1932;35(3):323–332.
- 8. Astler VB, Coller FA. The prognostic significance of direct extension of carcinoma of the colon and rectum. Ann Surg. 1954;139(6):846–852.

- Schreuders EH, Ruco A, Rabeneck L, Schoen RE, Sung JJ, Young GP, Kuipers EJ. Colorectal cancer screening: a global overview of existing programmes. Gut. 2015;64(10):1637–1649.
- ACOG Committee Opinion No. 384 November 2007: colonoscopy and colorectal cancer screening and prevention. Obstet Gynecol. 2007;110(5):1199–1202.
- Seeff LC, Richards TB, Shapiro JA, Nadel MR, Manninen DL, Given LS, Dong FB, Winges LD, McKenna MT. How many endoscopies are performed for colorectal cancer screening? Results from CDC's survey of endoscopic capacity. Gastroenterology. 2004;127(6):1670–1677.
- 12. Levin B, Lieberman DA, McFarland B, Smith RA, Brooks D, Andrews KS, Dash C, Giardiello FM, Glick S, Levin TR, Pickhardt P, Rex DK, Thorson A, Winawer SJ. Screening and surveillance for the early detection of colorectal cancer and adenomatous polyps, 2008: a joint guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology. CA Cancer J Clin. 2008;58(3):130–160.
- Ottó S, Döbrössy L. Screening for colorectal cancer with immunological FOBT. Br J Cancer. 2004;90(9):1871–1872.
- Horváthné Kívés Z, Vajda R, Kovács A, Budai A, Párkányi P, Danku N, Boncz I. Experiences And Attitudes Related To Screening of Patients Attended on A Colorectal Screening Pilot Program In Hungary. Value Health. 2016;19(7):A619.
- Tarcza O. Így áll most az országos vastagbélszűrés. [Internet]. 2019 [cited: 2023 Apr 30]. Available from: http://medicalonline.hu/eu_gazdasag/cikk/ igy_all_most_az_orszagos_vastagbelszures
- Argiles G, Tabernero J, Labianca R, Hochhauser D, Salazar R, Iveson T, Laurent-Puig P, Quirke P, Yoshino T, Taieb J, Martinelli E, Arnold D, Esmo Guidelines Committee. Localised colon cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(10):1291–1305.
- 17. van Cutsem E, Cervantes A, Adam R, Sobrero A, Van Krieken JH, Aderka D, Aranda Aguilar E, Bardelli A, Benson A, Bodoky G, Ciardiello F, D'Hoore A, Diaz-Rubio E, Douillard JY, Ducreux M, Falcone A, Grothey A, Gruenberger T, Haustermans K, Heinemann V, Hoff P, Kohne CH, Labianca R, Laurent-Puig P, Ma B, Maughan T, Muro K, Normanno N, Osterlund P, Oyen WJ, Papamichael

D, Pentheroudakis G, Pfeiffer P, Price TJ, Punt C, Ricke J, Roth A, Salazar R, Scheithauer W, Schmoll HJ, Tabernero J, Taieb J, Tejpar S, Wasan H, Yoshino T, Zaanan A, Arnold D. ESMO consensus guidelines for the management of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(8):1386–1422.

- Gao Y, Wang J, Zhou Y, Sheng S, Qian SY, Huo X. Evaluation of Serum CEA, CA19-9, CA72-4, CA125 and Ferritin as Diagnostic Markers and Factors of Clinical Parameters for Colorectal Cancer. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):2732.
- Ishizuka M, Nagata H, Takagi K, Iwasaki Y, Kubota K. Preoperative thrombocytosis is associated with survival after surgery for colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(7):887–891.
- Baranyai Z, Krzystanek M, Josa V, Dede K, Agoston E, Szasz AM, Sinko D, Szarvas V, Salamon F, Eklund AC, Szallasi Z, Jakab F. The comparison of thrombocytosis and platelet-lymphocyte ratio as potential prognostic markers in colorectal cancer. Thromb Haemost. 2014;111(3):483–490.
- Baranyai Z, Josa V, Toth A, Szilasi Z, Tihanyi B, Zarand A, Harsanyi L, Szallasi Z. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in gastrointestinal cancer. Platelets. 2016;27(4):269–275.
- Josa V, Krzystanek M, Eklund AC, Salamon F, Zarand A, Szallasi Z, Baranyai Z. Relationship of postoperative thrombocytosis and survival of patients with colorectal cancer. Int J Surg. 2015;18:1–6.
- Jain S, Harris J, Ware J. Platelets: linking hemostasis and cancer. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30(12):2362–2367.
- 24. Buergy D, Wenz F, Groden C, Brockmann MA. Tumor-platelet interaction in solid tumors. Int J Cancer. 2012;130(12):2747–2760.
- 25. Nickerson HJ, Silberman TL, McDonald TP. Hepatoblastoma, thrombocytosis, and increased thrombopoietin. Cancer. 1980;45(2):315–317.
- 26. Shimada Y, Kato T, Ogami K, Horie K, Kokubo A, Kudo Y, Maeda E, Sohma Y, Akahori H, Kawamura K, et al. Production of thrombopoietin (TPO) by rat hepatocytes and hepatoma cell lines. Exp Hematol. 1995;23(13):1388–1396.
- Furuhashi M, Miyabe Y, Oda H. A case of thrombopoietin-producing ovarian carcinoma confirmed by immunohistochemistry. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;74(2):278–281.

- 28. Dymicka-Piekarska V, Kemona H. Thrombopoietin and reticulated platelets as thrombopoietic markers in colorectal cancer. Thromb Res. 2008;122(1):141–143.
- Dentelli P, Rosso A, Calvi C, Ghiringhello B, Garbarino G, Camussi G, Pegoraro L, Brizzi MF. IL-3 affects endothelial cell-mediated smooth muscle cell recruitment by increasing TGF beta activity: potential role in tumor vessel stabilization. Oncogene. 2004;23(9):1681–1692.
- Dentelli P, Rosso A, Garbarino G, Calvi C, Lombard E, Di Stefano P, Defilippi P, Pegoraro L, Brizzi MF. The interaction between KDR and interleukin-3 receptor (IL-3R) beta common modulates tumor neovascularization. Oncogene. 2005;24(42):6394–6405.
- 31. Jin L, Yuan RQ, Fuchs A, Yao Y, Joseph A, Schwall R, Schnitt SJ, Guida A, Hastings HM, Andres J, Turkel G, Polverini PJ, Goldberg ID, Rosen EM. Expression of interleukin-1beta in human breast carcinoma. Cancer. 1997;80(3):421–434.
- 32. Yoshida N, Ikemoto S, Narita K, Sugimura K, Wada S, Yasumoto R, Kishimoto T, Nakatani T. Interleukin-6, tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-1beta in patients with renal cell carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2002;86(9):1396–1400.
- Suzuki A, Takahashi T, Nakamura K, Tsuyuoka R, Okuno Y, Enomoto T, Fukumoto M, Imura H. Thrombocytosis in patients with tumors producing colony-stimulating factor. Blood. 1992;80(8):2052–2059.
- 34. De Vita F, Romano C, Orditura M, Galizia G, Martinelli E, Lieto E, Catalano G. Interleukin-6 serum level correlates with survival in advanced gastrointestinal cancer patients but is not an independent prognostic indicator. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2001;21(1):45–52.
- 35. Paule B, Belot J, Rudant C, Coulombel C, Abbou CC. The importance of IL-6 protein expression in primary human renal cell carcinoma: an immunohistochemical study. J Clin Pathol. 2000;53(5):388–390.
- Nakashima J, Tachibana M, Horiguchi Y, Oya M, Ohigashi T, Asakura H, Murai M. Serum interleukin 6 as a prognostic factor in patients with prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6(7):2702–2706.

- Plante M, Rubin SC, Wong GY, Federici MG, Finstad CL, Gastl GA. Interleukin-6 level in serum and ascites as a prognostic factor in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer. 1994;73(7):1882–1888.
- Chen Q, Solar G, Eaton DL, de Sauvage FJ. IL-3 does not contribute to platelet production in c-Mpl-deficient mice. Stem Cells. 1998;16(Suppl 2):31–36.
- Gainsford T, Roberts AW, Kimura S, Metcalf D, Dranoff G, Mulligan RC, Begley CG, Robb L, Alexander WS. Cytokine production and function in c-mpl-deficient mice: no physiologic role for interleukin-3 in residual megakaryocyte and platelet production. Blood. 1998;91(8):2745–2752.
- 40. Kaser A, Brandacher G, Steurer W, Kaser S, Offner FA, Zoller H, Theurl I, Widder W, Molnar C, Ludwiczek O, Atkins MB, Mier JW, Tilg H. Interleukin-6 stimulates thrombopoiesis through thrombopoietin: role in inflammatory thrombocytosis. Blood. 2001;98(9):2720–2725.
- 41. D'Hondt V, Humblet Y, Guillaume T, Baatout S, Chatelain C, Berlière M, Longueville J, Feyens AM, de Greve J, Van Oosterom A, et al. Thrombopoietic effects and toxicity of interleukin-6 in patients with ovarian cancer before and after chemotherapy: a multicentric placebo-controlled, randomized phase Ib study. Blood. 1995;85(9):2347–2353.
- 42. Stone RL, Nick AM, McNeish IA, Balkwill F, Han HD, Bottsford-Miller J, Rupairmoole R, Armaiz-Pena GN, Pecot CV, Coward J, Deavers MT, Vasquez HG, Urbauer D, Landen CN, Hu W, Gershenson H, Matsuo K, Shahzad MM, King ER, Tekedereli I, Ozpolat B, Ahn EH, Bond VK, Wang R, Drew AF, Gushiken F, Lamkin D, Collins K, DeGeest K, Lutgendorf SK, Chiu W, Lopez-Berestein G, Afshar-Kharghan V, Sood AK. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(7):610–618.
- Sasaki K, Kawai K, Tsuno NH, Sunami E, Kitayama J. Impact of preoperative thrombocytosis on the survival of patients with primary colorectal cancer. World J Surg. 2012;36(1):192–200.
- 44. Gay LJ, Felding-Habermann B. Contribution of platelets to tumour metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(2):123–134.
- 45. Palumbo JS, Talmage KE, Massari JV, La Jeunesse CM, Flick MJ, Kombrinck KW, Jirousková M, Degen JL. Platelets and fibrin(ogen) increase metastatic

potential by impeding natural killer cell-mediated elimination of tumor cells. Blood. 2005;105(1):178–185.

- 46. Stoelcker B, Hafner M, Orosz P, Nieswandt B, Männel DN. Role of adhesion molecules and platelets in TNF-induced adhesion of tumor cells to endothelial cells: implications for experimental metastasis. J Inflamm. 1995;46(3):155–167.
- Karpatkin S, Pearlstein E, Ambrogio C, Coller BS. Role of adhesive proteins in platelet tumor interaction in vitro and metastasis formation in vivo. J Clin Invest. 1988;81(4):1012–1019.
- Jurasz P, Alonso-Escolano D, Radomski MW. Platelet--cancer interactions: mechanisms and pharmacology of tumour cell-induced platelet aggregation. Br J Pharmacol. 2004;143(7):819–826.
- 49. Placke T, Kopp HG, Salih HR. Modulation of natural killer cell anti-tumor reactivity by platelets. J Innate Immun. 2011;3(4):374–382.
- 50. Placke T, Kopp HG, Salih HR. Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related (GITR) protein and its ligand in antitumor immunity: functional role and therapeutic modulation. Clin Dev Immunol. 2010;2010:239083.
- 51. Gersuk GM, Westermark B, Mohabeer AJ, Challita PM, Pattamakom S, Pattengale PK. Inhibition of human natural killer cell activity by platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF). III. Membrane binding studies and differential biological effect of recombinant PDGF isoforms. Scand J Immunol. 1991;33(5):521–532.
- Kopp HG, Placke T, Salih HR. Platelet-derived transforming growth factor-beta down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. Cancer Res. 2009;69(19):7775–7783.
- 53. Kamat SG, Turner NA, Konstantopoulos K, Hellums JD, McIntire LV, Kleiman NS, Moake JL. Effects of Integrelin on platelet function in flow models of arterial thrombosis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1997;29(2):156–163.
- 54. Dardik R, Kaufmann Y, Savion N, Rosenberg N, Shenkman B, Varon D. Platelets mediate tumor cell adhesion to the subendothelium under flow conditions: involvement of platelet GPIIb-IIIa and tumor cell alpha(v) integrins. Int J Cancer. 1997;70(2):201–207.

- 55. Felding-Habermann B, Habermann R, Saldívar E, Ruggeri ZM. Role of beta3 integrins in melanoma cell adhesion to activated platelets under flow. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(10):5892–5900.
- 56. Shivdasani RA, Rosenblatt MF, Zucker-Franklin D, Jackson CW, Hunt P, Saris CJ, Orkin SH. Transcription factor NF-E2 is required for platelet formation independent of the actions of thrombopoietin/MGDF in megakaryocyte development. Cell. 1995;81(5):695–704.
- 57. Laman JD, Claassen E, Noelle RJ. Functions of CD40 and Its Ligand, gp39 (CD40L). Crit Rev Immunol. 2017;37(2–6):393–443.
- 58. Korniluk A, Kemona H, Dymicka-Piekarska V. Multifunctional CD40L: pro- and anti-neoplastic activity. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(10):9447–9457.
- Pang X, Zhang L, Wu J, Ma C, Mu C, Zhang G, Chen W. Expression of CD40/CD40L in colon cancer, and its effect on proliferation and apoptosis of SW48 colon cancer cells. J BUON. 2017;22(4):894–899.
- Wu Y, Wang L, He X, Xu H, Zhou L, Zhao F, Zhang Y. Expression of CD40 and growth-inhibitory activity of CD40 ligand in colon cancer ex vivo. Cell Immunol. 2008;253(1–2):102–109.
- Zhou Y, Zhou SX, Gao L, Li XA. Regulation of CD40 signaling in colon cancer cells and its implications in clinical tissues. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(8):919–929.
- 62. Tada N, Tsuno NH, Kawai K, Murono K, Nirei T, Ishihara S, Sunami E, Kitayama J, Watanabe T. Changes in the plasma levels of cytokines/chemokines for predicting the response to chemoradiation therapy in rectal cancer patients. Oncol Rep. 2014;31(1):463–471.
- 63. Lima PMA, Torres LC, Martins MR, da Matta MC, Lima JTO, de Mello MJG, da Silva LM, Cintra EB, Jr., Lira CCR, da Fonte EJA, Forones NM. Soluble levels of sCD40L and s4-1BB are associated with a poor prognosis in elderly patients with colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2020;121(5):901–905.
- 64. Dymicka-Piekarska V, Korniluk A, Gryko M, Siergiejko E, Kemona H. Potential role of soluble CD40 ligand as inflammatory biomarker in colorectal cancer patients. Int J Biol Markers. 2014;29(3):261–267.

- 65. Georgopoulos NT, Merrick A, Scott N, Selby PJ, Melcher A, Trejdosiewicz LK. CD40-mediated death and cytokine secretion in colorectal cancer: a potential target for inflammatory tumour cell killing. Int J Cancer. 2007;121(6):1373–1381.
- Elgueta R, Benson MJ, de Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. Immunol Rev. 2009;229(1):152–172.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation; 2019.
- 68. DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E, Groop L, Henry RR, Herman WH, Holst JJ, Hu FB, Kahn CR, Raz I, Shulman GI, Simonson DC, Testa MA, Weiss R. Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15019.
- 69. Herold Z, Doleschall M, Kovesdi A, Patocs A, Somogyi A. Chromogranin A and its role in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. Endokrynol Pol. 2018;69(5):598–610.
- Prasad RB, Groop L. Genetic Architecture of Type 2 Diabetes. In: Holt RIG, Cockram CS, Flyvbjerg A, Goldstein BJ, editors. Textbook of Diabetes. Chichester, West Sussex, UK: JohnWiley & Sons Ltd; 2017. p. 187–204.
- 71. Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes. 1988;37(12):1595–1607.
- Ricci G, Pirillo I, Tomassoni D, Sirignano A, Grappasonni I. Metabolic syndrome, hypertension, and nervous system injury: Epidemiological correlates. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2017;39(1):8–16.
- 73. Kempler P, Putz Z, Kiss Z, Wittmann I, Abonyi-Tóth Z, Gy. R, Jermendy G. Prevalence and financial burden of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Hungary between 2001–2014 results of the analysis of the National Health Insurance Fund database. Diab Hung. 2016;24(3):177–188.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- de Kort S, Simons C, van den Brandt PA, Janssen-Heijnen MLG, Sanduleanu S, Masclee AAM, Weijenberg MP. Diabetes mellitus, genetic variants in the insulin-

like growth factor pathway and colorectal cancer risk. Int J Cancer. 2019;145(7):1774–1781.

- Centers for Disease Control Prevention. Cancer survivorship--United States, 1971-2001. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2004;53(24):526–529.
- Tsilidis KK, Kasimis JC, Lopez DS, Ntzani EE, Ioannidis JP. Type 2 diabetes and cancer: umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies. BMJ. 2015;350:g7607.
- Giovannucci E, Harlan DM, Archer MC, Bergenstal RM, Gapstur SM, Habel LA, Pollak M, Regensteiner JG, Yee D. Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60(4):207–221.
- Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, Thun MJ. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(17):1625–1638.
- Singh S, Earle CC, Bae SJ, Fischer HD, Yun L, Austin PC, Rochon PA, Anderson GM, Lipscombe L. Incidence of Diabetes in Colorectal Cancer Survivors. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108(6):djv402.
- 81. Shlomai G, Neel B, LeRoith D, Gallagher EJ. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Cancer: The Role of Pharmacotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(35):4261–4269.
- Liberti MV, Locasale JW. The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? Trends Biochem Sci. 2016;41(3):211–218.
- 83. Ling S, Brown K, Miksza JK, Howells L, Morrison A, Issa E, Yates T, Khunti K, Davies MJ, Zaccardi F. Association of Type 2 Diabetes With Cancer: A Metaanalysis With Bias Analysis for Unmeasured Confounding in 151 Cohorts Comprising 32 Million People. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(9):2313–2322.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66(1):7–30.
- 85. Gonzalez N, Prieto I, Del Puerto-Nevado L, Portal-Nunez S, Ardura JA, Corton M, Fernandez-Fernandez B, Aguilera O, Gomez-Guerrero C, Mas S, Moreno JA, Ruiz-Ortega M, Sanz AB, Sanchez-Nino MD, Rojo F, Vivanco F, Esbrit P, Ayuso C, Alvarez-Llamas G, Egido J, Garcia-Foncillas J, Ortiz A, DiabetesCancerConnect C. 2017 update on the relationship between diabetes and

colorectal cancer: epidemiology, potential molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Oncotarget. 2017;8(11):18456–18485.

- Ko C, Chaudhry S. The need for a multidisciplinary approach to cancer care. J Surg Res. 2002;105(1):53–57.
- Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C. Development and validation of risk prediction equations to estimate survival in patients with colorectal cancer: cohort study. BMJ. 2017;357:j2497.
- Li J, Liu J, Gao C, Liu F, Zhao H. Increased mortality for colorectal cancer patients with preexisting diabetes mellitus: an updated meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(37):62478–62488.
- Zhu B, Wu X, Wu B, Pei D, Zhang L, Wei L. The relationship between diabetes and colorectal cancer prognosis: A meta-analysis based on the cohort studies. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0176068.
- 90. Petrelli F, Ghidini M, Rausa E, Ghidini A, Cabiddu M, Borgonovo K, Ghilardi M, Parati MC, Pietrantonio F, Sganzerla P, Bossi AC. Survival of Colorectal Cancer Patients With Diabetes Mellitus: A Meta-Analysis. Can J Diabetes. 2021;45(2):186–197.
- 91. El Haouari M, Rosado JA. Platelet signalling abnormalities in patients with type
 2 diabetes mellitus: a review. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2008;41(1):119–123.
- Ferreiro JL, Gómez-Hospital JA, Angiolillo DJ. Platelet abnormalities in diabetes mellitus. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2010;7(4):251–259.
- Yazbek N, Bapat A, Kleiman N. Platelet abnormalities in diabetes mellitus. Coron Artery Dis. 2003;14(5):365–371.
- Lee RH, Bergmeier W. Sugar makes neutrophils RAGE: linking diabetesassociated hyperglycemia to thrombocytosis and platelet reactivity. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(6):2040–2043.
- 95. Randriamboavonjy V, Fleming I. Platelet function and signaling in diabetes mellitus. Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2012;10(5):532–538.
- 96. Sharpe PC, Trinick T. Mean platelet volume in diabetes mellitus. Q J Med. 1993;86(11):739–742.

- 97. Tschoepe D, Roesen P, Kaufmann L, Schauseil S, Kehrel B, Ostermann H, Gries FA. Evidence for abnormal platelet glycoprotein expression in diabetes mellitus. Eur J Clin Invest. 1990;20(2):166–170.
- 98. Gresele P, Guglielmini G, De Angelis M, Ciferri S, Ciofetta M, Falcinelli E, Lalli C, Ciabattoni G, Davi G, Bolli GB. Acute, short-term hyperglycemia enhances shear stress-induced platelet activation in patients with type II diabetes mellitus. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41(6):1013–1020.
- Fonyó A, Geiszt M. Az orvosi élettan tankönyve (8. kiadás). Budapest, Hungary: Medicina Kiadó Zrt; 2019.
- 100. Ishii H, Umeda F, Hashimoto T, Nawata H. Changes in phosphoinositide turnover, Ca2+ mobilization, and protein phosphorylation in platelets from NIDDM patients. Diabetes. 1990;39(12):1561–1568.
- Falcon C, Pfliegler G, Deckmyn H, Vermylen J. The platelet insulin receptor: detection, partial characterization, and search for a function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1988;157(3):1190–1196.
- Hunter RW, Hers I. Insulin/IGF-1 hybrid receptor expression on human platelets: consequences for the effect of insulin on platelet function. J Thromb Haemost. 2009;7(12):2123–2130.
- 103. Lin RJ, Afshar-Kharghan V, Schafer AI. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis: the secrets of tumor self-promotion. Blood. 2014;124(2):184–187.
- Jardim DL, Rodrigues CA, Novis YAS, Rocha VG, Hoff PM. Oxaliplatin-related thrombocytopenia. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(8):1937–1942.
- 105. Kilpatrick K, Shaw JL, Jaramillo R, Toler A, Eisen M, Sangare L, Soff GA. Occurrence and Management of Thrombocytopenia in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients Receiving Chemotherapy: Secondary Analysis of Data From Prospective Clinical Trials. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2020;20(2):170–176.
- Cholette JM, Blumberg N, Phipps RP, McDermott MP, Gettings KF, Lerner NB.
 Developmental changes in soluble CD40 ligand. J Pediatr. 2008;152(1):50–54.
- 107. Reitsema RD, Hid Cadena R, Nijhof SH, Abdulahad WH, Huitema MG, Paap D, Brouwer E, Boots AMH, Heeringa P. Effect of age and sex on immune checkpoint expression and kinetics in human T cells. Immun Ageing. 2020;17(1):32.

- 108. Antoniades C, Bakogiannis C, Tousoulis D, Antonopoulos AS, Stefanadis C. The CD40/CD40 ligand system: linking inflammation with atherothrombosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54(8):669–677.
- 109. Haller ST, Kalra PA, Ritchie JP, Chrysochou T, Brewster P, He W, Yu H, Shapiro JI, Cooper CJ. Effect of CD40 and sCD40L on renal function and survival in patients with renal artery stenosis. Hypertension. 2013;61(4):894–900.
- 110. Venerito V, Natuzzi D, Bizzoca R, Lacarpia N, Cacciapaglia F, Lopalco G, Iannone F. Serum sCD40L levels are increased in patients with psoriatic arthritis and are associated with clinical response to apremilast. Clin Exp Immunol. 2020;201(2):200–204.
- 111. Schwandt A, Denkinger M, Fasching P, Pfeifer M, Wagner C, Weiland J, Zeyfang A, Holl RW. Comparison of MDRD, CKD-EPI, and Cockcroft-Gault equation in relation to measured glomerular filtration rate among a large cohort with diabetes. J Diabetes Complications. 2017;31(9):1376–1383.
- 112. Shen H, Yang J, Huang Q, Jiang MJ, Tan YN, Fu JF, Zhu LZ, Fang XF, Yuan Y. Different treatment strategies and molecular features between right-sided and leftsided colon cancers. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(21):6470–6478.
- Holm S. A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure. Scand J Stat. 1979;6(2):65–70.
- Baranyai Z, Josa V, Krzystanek M, Eklund AC, Szasz AM, Szallasi Z. Evaluation of thrombocytosis as predictive factor in colorectal cancer. Magy Seb. 2013;66(6):331–337.
- 115. Gu D, Szallasi A. Thrombocytosis Portends Adverse Prognosis in Colorectal Cancer: A Meta-Analysis of 5,619 Patients in 16 Individual Studies. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(9):4717–4726.
- 116. Ramjeesingh R, Jones A, Orr C, Bricks CS, Hopman WM, Hammad N. Thrombocytosis as a predictor of poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(Suppl 4):540.
- Bleeker JS, Hogan WJ. Thrombocytosis: diagnostic evaluation, thrombotic risk stratification, and risk-based management strategies. Thrombosis. 2011;2011:536062.

- Wille K, Sadjadian P, Griesshammer M. Thrombocytosis and thrombocytopenia
 background and clinical relevance. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2017;142(23):1732–1743.
- 119. Herold Z, Herold M, Lohinszky J, Dank M, Somogyi A. Personalized Indicator Thrombocytosis Shows Connection to Staging and Indicates Shorter Survival in Colorectal Cancer Patients with or without Type 2 Diabetes. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(3):556.
- 120. Josa V, Brodszky V, Zarand A, Mezei T, Szilasi Z, Merkel K, Feher A, Szallasi Z, Baranyai Z. The relationship between IL-6 and thrombocytosis accompanying gastrointestinal tumours. Prz Gastroenterol. 2020;15(3):215–219.
- 121. Cravioto-Villanueva A, Luna-Perez P, Gutierrez-de la Barrera M, Martinez-Gomez H, Maffuz A, Rojas-Garcia P, Perez-Alvarez C, Rodriguez-Ramirez S, Rodriguez-Antezana E, Ramirez-Ramirez L. Thrombocytosis as a predictor of distant recurrence in patients with rectal cancer. Arch Med Res. 2012;43(4):305– 311.
- 122. Voutsadakis IA. Thrombocytosis as a prognostic marker in gastrointestinal cancers. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(2):34–40.
- Li J, Huang L, Zhao H, Yan Y, Lu J. The Role of Interleukins in Colorectal Cancer. Int J Biol Sci. 2020;16(13):2323–2339.
- Mager LF, Wasmer MH, Rau TT, Krebs P. Cytokine-Induced Modulation of Colorectal Cancer. Front Oncol. 2016;6:96.
- West NR, McCuaig S, Franchini F, Powrie F. Emerging cytokine networks in colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(10):615–629.
- 126. Taniguchi K, Karin M. IL-6 and related cytokines as the critical lynchpins between inflammation and cancer. Semin Immunol. 2014;26(1):54–74.
- 127. Tseng-Rogenski SS, Hamaya Y, Choi DY, Carethers JM. Interleukin 6 alters localization of hMSH3, leading to DNA mismatch repair defects in colorectal cancer cells. Gastroenterology. 2015;148(3):579–589.
- 128. Lin JT, Wang JY, Chen MK, Chen HC, Chang TH, Su BW, Chang PJ. Colon cancer mesenchymal stem cells modulate the tumorigenicity of colon cancer through interleukin 6. Exp Cell Res. 2013;319(14):2216–2229.

- Chung YC, Chang YF. Serum interleukin-6 levels reflect the disease status of colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2003;83(4):222–226.
- Xu J, Ye Y, Zhang H, Szmitkowski M, Makinen MJ, Li P, Xia D, Yang J, Wu Y, Wu H. Diagnostic and Prognostic Value of Serum Interleukin-6 in Colorectal Cancer. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(2):e2502.
- 131. Knupfer H, Preiss R. Serum interleukin-6 levels in colorectal cancer patients--a summary of published results. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2010;25(2):135–140.
- 132. Shiga K, Hara M, Nagasaki T, Sato T, Takahashi H, Sato M, Takeyama H. Preoperative Serum Interleukin-6 Is a Potential Prognostic Factor for Colorectal Cancer, including Stage II Patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:9701574.
- 133. Yeh KY, Li YY, Hsieh LL, Lu CH, Chou WC, Liaw CC, Tang RP, Liao SK. Analysis of the effect of serum interleukin-6 (IL-6) and soluble IL-6 receptor levels on survival of patients with colorectal cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2010;40(6):580–587.
- 134. Zhou CL, Su HL, Dai HW. Thrombopoietin is associated with a prognosis of gastric adenocarcinoma. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992). 2020;66(5):590–595.
- 135. Overbeek JA, Kuiper JG, van der Heijden A, Labots M, Haug U, Herings RMC, Nijpels G. Sex- and site-specific differences in colorectal cancer risk among people with type 2 diabetes. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019;34(2):269–276.
- 136. Peeters PJ, Bazelier MT, Leufkens HG, de Vries F, De Bruin ML. The risk of colorectal cancer in patients with type 2 diabetes: associations with treatment stage and obesity. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(3):495–502.
- 137. Kraakman MJ, Lee MK, Al-Sharea A, Dragoljevic D, Barrett TJ, Montenont E, Basu D, Heywood S, Kammoun HL, Flynn M, Whillas A, Hanssen NM, Febbraio MA, Westein E, Fisher EA, Chin-Dusting J, Cooper ME, Berger JS, Goldberg IJ, Nagareddy PR, Murphy AJ. Neutrophil-derived S100 calcium-binding proteins A8/A9 promote reticulated thrombocytosis and atherogenesis in diabetes. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(6):2133–2147.
- 138. Liu C, Feng X, Li Q, Wang Y, Li Q, Hua M. Adiponectin, TNF-alpha and inflammatory cytokines and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Cytokine. 2016;86:100–109.

- 139. Pletsch-Borba L, Watzinger C, Turzanski Fortner R, Katzke V, Schwingshackl L, Sowah SA, Husing A, Johnson T, Gross ML, Gonzalez Maldonado S, Hoffmeister M, Bugert P, Kaaks R, Grafetstatter M, Kuhn T. Biomarkers of Vascular Injury and Type 2 Diabetes: A Prospective Study, Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Med. 2019;8(12):2075.
- 140. ElSayed NA, Aleppo G, Aroda VR, Bannuru RR, Brown FM, Bruemmer D, Collins BS, Das SR, Hilliard ME, Isaacs D, Johnson EL, Kahan S, Khunti K, Kosiborod M, Leon J, Lyons SK, Perry ML, Prahalad P, Pratley RE, Seley JJ, Stanton RC, Gabbay RA, on behalf of the American Diabetes A. 10. Cardiovascular Disease and Risk Management: Standards of Care in Diabetes-2023. Diabetes Care. 2023;46(Suppl 1):S158–S90.
- 141. Santilli F, Pignatelli P, Violi F, Davi G. Aspirin for primary prevention in diabetes mellitus: from the calculation of cardiovascular risk and risk/benefit profile to personalised treatment. Thromb Haemost. 2015;114(5):876–882.
- 142. Bereznaya NM, Chekhun VF. Expression of CD40 and CD40L on tumor cells: the role of their interaction and new approach to immunotherapy. Exp Oncol. 2007;29(1):2–12.
- Richards DM, Sefrin JP, Gieffers C, Hill O, Merz C. Concepts for agonistic targeting of CD40 in immuno-oncology. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2020;16(2):377–387.
- 144. Huang J, Jochems C, Talaie T, Anderson A, Jales A, Tsang KY, Madan RA, Gulley JL, Schlom J. Elevated serum soluble CD40 ligand in cancer patients may play an immunosuppressive role. Blood. 2012;120(15):3030–3038.
- 145. Buning C, Kruger K, Sieber T, Schoeler D, Schriever F. Increased expression of CD40 ligand on activated T cells of patients with colon cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(4):1147–1151.
- 146. Roselli M, Mineo TC, Basili S, Martini F, Mariotti S, Aloe S, Del Monte G, Ambrogi V, Spila A, Palmirotta R, D'Alessandro R, Davi G, Guadagni F, Ferroni P. Soluble CD40 ligand plasma levels in lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(2):610–614.

- 147. Zhao P, Fang WJ, Chai L, Ruan J, Zheng Y, Jiang WQ, Lin S, Zhou SH, Zhang ZL. The prognostic value of plasma soluble CD40 ligand levels in patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Clin Chim Acta. 2015;447:66–70.
- 148. Li R, Chen WC, Pang XQ, Hua C, Li L, Zhang XG. Expression of CD40 and CD40L in gastric cancer tissue and its clinical significance. Int J Mol Sci. 2009;10(9):3900–3917.
- 149. Henn V, Slupsky JR, Grafe M, Anagnostopoulos I, Forster R, Muller-Berghaus G, Kroczek RA. CD40 ligand on activated platelets triggers an inflammatory reaction of endothelial cells. Nature. 1998;391(6667):591–594.
- 150. Nagasawa M, Zhu Y, Isoda T, Tomizawa D, Itoh S, Kajiwara M, Morio T, Nonoyama S, Shimizu N, Mizutani S. Analysis of serum soluble CD40 ligand (sCD40L) in the patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation: platelet is a major source of serum sCD40L. Eur J Haematol. 2005;74(1):54–60.
- 151. Viallard JF, Solanilla A, Gauthier B, Contin C, Dechanet J, Grosset C, Moreau JF, Praloran V, Nurden P, Pellegrin JL, Nurden AT, Ripoche J. Increased soluble and platelet-associated CD40 ligand in essential thrombocythemia and reactive thrombocytosis. Blood. 2002;99(7):2612–2614.
- 152. Danese S, Sans M, Fiocchi C. The CD40/CD40L costimulatory pathway in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2004;53(7):1035–1043.
- 153. El-Asrar MA, Adly AA, Ismail EA. Soluble CD40L in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: relation to microvascular complications and glycemic control. Pediatr Diabetes. 2012;13(8):616–624.
- 154. Lin R, Liu J, Gan W, Yang G. C-reactive protein-induced expression of CD40-CD40L and the effect of lovastatin and fenofibrate on it in human vascular endothelial cells. Biol Pharm Bull. 2004;27(10):1537–1543.
- 155. Seijkens T, Kusters P, Engel D, Lutgens E. CD40-CD40L: linking pancreatic, adipose tissue and vascular inflammation in type 2 diabetes and its complications. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2013;10(2):115–122.
- Long AG, Lundsmith ET, Hamilton KE. Inflammation and Colorectal Cancer. Curr Colorectal Cancer Rep. 2017;13(4):341–351.
- 157. Riedl JM, Posch F, Moik F, Bezan A, Szkandera J, Smolle MA, Kasparek AK, Pichler M, Stoger H, Stotz M, Gerger A. Inflammatory biomarkers in metastatic

colorectal cancer: prognostic and predictive role beyond the first line setting. Oncotarget. 2017;8(56):96048–96061.

158. Tuomisto AE, Makinen MJ, Vayrynen JP. Systemic inflammation in colorectal cancer: Underlying factors, effects, and prognostic significance. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(31):4383–4404.

9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

9.1. Publications Related to the Dissertation

Herczeg, Gy, Somogyi A, Herold M, Fodor Á, Rosta K, Dank M, Lang Zs, Herold Z. (2022) Does diabetes affect paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in colorectal cancer? *Open Med*, 17:160–173. IF: 2.100, SJR: Q3.

Herold Z, Herold M, **Herczeg Gy**, Fodor Á, Szász AM, Dank M, Somogyi A. (2022) High plasma CD40 ligand level is associated with more advanced stages and worse prognosis in colorectal cancer. *World J Clin Cases*, 10:4084–4096. **IF: 1.100**, SJR: Q3.

9.2. Publications Not Related to the Dissertation

COVIDSurg Collaborative[#], GlobalSurg Collaborative. (2022) SARS-CoV-2 infection and venous thromboembolism after surgery: an international prospective cohort study. *Anaesthesia*, 77:28–39. **IF: 10.700**, SJR: Q1.

Collaborative author

COVIDSurg Collaborative[#], GlobalSurg Collaborative. (2021) Effects of pre-operative isolation on postoperative pulmonary complications after elective surgery: an international prospective cohort study. *Anaesthesia*, 76:1454–1464. **IF: 12.893**, SJR: Q1. [#] *Collaborative author*

COVIDSurg Collaborative[#], GlobalSurg Collaborative. (2021) Timing of surgery following SARS-CoV-2 infection: an international prospective cohort study. *Anaesthesia*, 76:748–758. **IF: 12.893**, SJR: Q1.

Collaborative author

COVIDSurg Collaborative[#], GlobalSurg Collaborative. (2021) SARS-CoV-2 vaccination modelling for safe surgery to save lives: data from an international prospective cohort study. *Br J Surg*, 108:1056–1063. **IF: 11.782**, SJR: Q1. [#] *Collaborative author*

Merkel K, Vass T, **Herczeg Gy**, Ágh P, Máté M. (2021) [Petersen hernia, a rare type of hernia in our department]. *Magy Seb*, 74:71–74. **IF:** –, SJR: –.

Pordány B, **Herczeg Gy**, Máté M. (2020) [Colon cancer during the coronavirus pandemic – recovery from COVID-19 pneumonia of an elderly woman with multiple co-morbidities]. *Orv Hetil*, 161:1059–1062. **IF: 0.540**, SJR: Q4.

Herold Z, Ambrus V, Herold M, **Herczeg Gy**, Igaz P, Harsányi L, Somogyi A. (2018) [The occurrence and impact on survival of type 2 diabetes mellitus and thrombocytosis in colorectal cancer, before and after the surgical resection of the primary tumor]. *Orv Hetil*, 159:765–767. **IF: 0.564**, SJR: Q3.

Lukovich P, Dudás I, Tari K, Jónás A, **Herczeg Gy**. (2013) PEG fixation of an upsidedown stomach using a flexible endoscope: case report and review of the literature. *Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech*, 23:e65–69. **IF: 0.938**, SJR: Q2.

10. Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Anikó Somogyi MD D.Sc. and Zoltán Herold Ph.D. for their guidance, their time and great help to write this dissertation, and complete our study.

I am grateful to Róbert J. Bedros, MD D.Sc., Tamás Masszi MD D.Sc., and Miklós Máté MD Ph.D. for making our study possible.

I am indepted to Magdolna Herold for the work in the study and great help with laboratory measurements and techniques. I am also indepted to Ágnes Fodor MD for the time dedicated to science.

I am deeply thankful to Eszter Herczeg – Veszprémi for her constant support.

Research Article

Gyorgy Herczeg, Aniko Somogyi, Magdolna Herold, Agnes Fodor, Klara Rosta, Magdolna Dank, Zsolt Lang, Zoltan Herold*

Does diabetes affect paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in colorectal cancer?

https://doi.org/10.1515/med-2021-0407 received April 29, 2021; accepted November 15, 2021

Abstract

Background - A large variety of factors can affect colorectal cancer (CRC) survival, including type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and paraneoplastic thrombocytosis. Although several common factors play a role in their development and platelets are damaged in both diseases, the combined relationship of the three conditions was never investigated previously.

Methods – A prospective, real-life observational cohort study was conducted with the inclusion of 108 CRC patients and 166 voluntary non-CRC subjects. Plasma interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels were measured. **Results** – Study participants were divided into cohorts based on the presence of T2DM. Platelet count (p < 0.0500) and interleukin-6 (p < 0.0100) level were significantly higher in the CRC groups. Thrombopoietin level was higher in the T2DM, CRC, and CRC + T2DM groups (p < 0.0500). Analysis of parameter changes over time and survival

models revealed that neither platelet count, interleukin-6, nor thrombopoietin levels were affected by T2DM. Death of patients was associated with higher baseline platelet count (p = 0.0042) and interleukin-6 level (p < 0.0001).

Conclusion – Although the independent, disease-worsening effect of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and T2DM is known, the coexistence of the two did not further impair the survival of CRC patients, suggesting that T2DM has no significant effect over paraneoplastic thrombocytosis.

Keywords: colorectal neoplasms, diabetes mellitus, type 2, interleukin-6, thrombocytosis, thrombopoietin

1 Introduction

Thrombocytosis - platelet counts above the upper value of normal range (usually $\ge 400 \times 10^9/L$) – is described as a poor prognostic sign in colorectal cancer (CRC). Both preoperative and postoperative thrombocytoses are associated with worse patient survival [1,2]. Thrombocytosis may develop for several reasons, such as the bleeding of the tumor or a metabolic change caused by the tumor itself called paraneoplastic thrombocytosis [1,3]. The proposed paracrine-signaling pathway of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis [3,4] includes the overproduction of various cytokines (e.g., interleukin-6) by the tumor, which causes increased hepatic thrombopoietin production that modulates the production of platelets within the bone marrow, ultimately resulting in an increased platelet count.

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most prevalent diseases in our time; based on the latest estimations available in the ninth edition of IDF Diabetes Atlas [5], the incidence of the disease varies between 4 and 10.4%, with over 460 million diabetes patients around the world [5]. Approximately 90% of diabetes patients are suffering from type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), which develops in later ages [6], similar to that of CRC [7]. Over the age of 60 years, T2DM may occur in every fourth or fifth person [5,8], and compared to the healthy population, an increased occurrence of malignancies is confirmed in T2DM [9-11]. CRC occurs

^{*} Corresponding author: Zoltan Herold, Department of Internal Medicine and Haematology, Semmelweis University, Szentkiralyi utca 46., H-1088 Budapest, Hungary; Department of Internal Medicine and Oncology, Division of Oncology, Semmelweis University, Tomo utca 25-29., H-1083 Budapest, Hungary, e-mail: herold.zoltan@med.semmelweis-univ.hu, tel: +36-1-459-1500; fax: +36-20-825-1730

Gyorgy Herczeg, Agnes Fodor: Department of General Surgery, Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital, Budapest, Hungary Aniko Somogyi, Magdolna Herold: Department of Internal Medicine and Haematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary Klara Rosta: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Magdolna Dank: Department of Internal Medicine and Oncology, Division of Oncology, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary Zsolt Lang: Department of Biomathematics and Informatics, University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest, Budapest, Hungary ORCID: Gyorgy Herczeg 0000-0003-2222-0672; Aniko Somogyi 0000-0003-0807-260X; Magdolna Herold 0000-0002-1036-6343; Agnes Fodor 0000-0003-3342-5112; Klara Rosta 0000-0002-3502-3734; Magdolna Dank 0000-0002-4694-3624; Zsolt Lang 0000-0003-0773-662X; Zoltan Herold 0000-0001-5990-4889
approximately 1.5× more often in patients with T2DM [12,13]; furthermore, the coexistence of T2DM is associated with an increased risk for a shorter survival in CRC [14,15]. Similar to CRC, T2DM can be also described by various platelet abnormalities and an increased thrombopoietin production is also known [16–18].

Although several potential mechanisms link cancers and T2DM together [19], and platelets are affected in both diseases [1-4,16-18], the relationship among T2DM, (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis, and CRC is poorly investigated. An earlier retrospective study [20] from our group has found that a personalized thrombocytosis measure calculated from preoperative and precancer platelet counts can better predict the patient survival, and it has been associated with various clinicopathological parameters, including T2DM. Although our earlier study has revealed some possible connections between the three conditions, the exact biological effect of T2DM on CRC-related paraneoplastic thrombocytosis could not have been investigated via that retrospective manner. Therefore, a prospective, real-life observational cohort study was conducted where paraneoplastic thrombocytosis was investigated within diabetic and nondiabetic CRC cohorts through the changes in platelet counts, plasma interleukin-6, and thrombopoietin levels.

2 Methods

2.1 Patients and study design

A prospective, real-life observational cohort study was carried out. A total of 108 patients diagnosed with CRC and 166 voluntary non-CRC subjects were enrolled for the study between 2017 and 2019. CRC patients attended at both the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest and the Department of General Surgery, Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital, Budapest. Written informed consent was collected from all study participants before performing any study-specific procedures. Exclusion criteria included age <18 years, any previous malignancies, known inflammatory bowel- and/or chronic kidney- and/or systemic autoimmune- and/or inadequately controlled thyroid- and/or hematologic- and/or any mental diseases, the usage of erythropoiesis-stimulating agents and/or recent blood transfusion, and patients with an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status >2.

Voluntary non-CRC subjects consisted of healthy young controls, older controls, and T2DM patients. Rationale of the inclusion of healthy young subjects was that some of the measured parameters have no reference values and that the older volunteers included both completely healthy individuals and nonmetabolic disease patients (e.g., hypertension). T2DM patients attended at the Metabolic Outpatient Clinic of the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest. In addition to the exclusion criteria described by CRC patients above, voluntary nondiseased subjects were excluded in the presence of prediabetes or any other metabolic disorders.

2.2 Clinical and laboratory data measurements

Anamnestic data including comorbidities and recent medications, body weight, and height were collected, and fasting blood samples were drawn according to the following protocol: (1) at the diagnosis of CRC, before any oncological treatments or the surgical resection of the primary tumor, (2) at least 6 weeks, (3) 6 months, and (4) 12 months after the tumor removal surgery. At the time of postoperative measurements, oncological treatments were stopped/paused only as part of the patients' standard of oncological care, and sampling was performed only at least 6 weeks after the last treatment due to the known platelet influencing effects of several cytotoxic regimens [21,22]. If it was not feasible to stop/pause the oncological treatment, in the best interest of the patient, the visit was omitted. Complete blood count, aspartate- and alanine transaminase, gamma-glutamyl transferase, plasma glucose, and creatinine were measured at the Central Laboratory of Semmelweis University and at the Central Laboratory of Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital. Estimated glomerular filtration rate was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease-Epidemiology Collaboration equations [23]. Plasma interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels were measured using the ELECSYS[®] Interleukin-6 electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) and the Human Thrombopoietin Quantikine[®] enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (catalog number: DTPOOB, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) kits, respectively. Plasma thrombopoietin level was measured from platelet-poor plasma, as per manufacturer description.

Side of CRC was described as right sided if the tumor was originating from cecum, ascending colon, and proximal two-third of the transverse colon and left sided if originating from the distal one-third of the transverse colon, descending colon, sigmoid colon, and rectum [24]. Staging was given by histopathological examination of surgical specimens and imaging studies; the American Joint Committee on Cancer grouping was used [25]. The usage of biological agents was recorded as a dummy variable and chemotherapy was grouped as adjuvant if no metastasis and first-line, second-line, etc., if metastasis was present. The overall survival of patients was defined as the length of time from the date of CRC diagnosis until death. Follow-up of cancer patients was terminated on January 31, 2021, patients alive at this time point were right censored.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with R version 4.0.5 [26]. Wilcoxon–Mann–Whitney U test, Fisher's exact test, Kruskal-Wallis test with p-value corrected pairwise Wilcoxon-Mann–Whitney U tests as post-hoc, and Spearman rank correlation were used. To detect the changes of various parameters in time, linear mixed effect models were used (R-package nlme [27]). Survival of patients was analyzed for both preoperative and longitudinal data with Cox regression models and Bayesian univariate and multivariate joint survival models (R-package rstanarm [28]), respectively. p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant, and p-values were corrected with the Holm method [29] for the problem of multiple comparisons. Compared to the "conventional" frequentist methods, Bayesian methods give only a probability distribution for the investigated parameter but no *p*-values. Interpretation of joint model results was as follows. If the Bayesian equivalent to the frequentist confidence interval (CI), the 95% credible interval contained the hazard ratio (HR) of 1, the model was considered as clinically not relevant. However, if the 95% credible interval was less than or more than HR = 1, the effect of the parameter was considered as a good or bad sign of patient survival, respectively. Results were expressed as mean ± standard deviation and as the number of observations (percentage) for continuous and count data, respectively. Naïve Kaplan-Meier and longitudinal survival curves were drawn with the R-package survminer (Kassambara, Kosinski, and Biecek, version 0.4.9, 2021) and the built-in methods of rstanarm, respectively.

Informed consent: Informed consent has been obtained from all individuals included in this study.

Ethical approval: The study was approved by the Regional and Institutional Committee of Science and Research

Ethics, Semmelweis University (SE TUKEB 21-12/1994, approval date of latest modification: February 10, 2017), by the Institutional Review Board of Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital (SZIK IKEB 5/2017), and by the Committee of Science and Research Ethics, Hungarian Medical Research Council (ETT TUKEB 8951-3/2015/EKU).

3 Results

A total of 274 study participants were included: 108 CRC patients and 166 voluntary, non-CRC subjects. CRC patients were divided into two cohorts based on the presence of T2DM. Patients without diabetes (n = 82) were assigned to the "*CRC*" group, whereas patients with a history of T2DM (n = 26) were assigned to the "*CRC* + *T2DM*" group. Duration of diabetes was 6.88 ± 6.10 years, from which T2DM was diagnosed in four cases around the time of CRC diagnosis.

In most parameters, the two tumor groups did not differ from each other, whereas plasma glucose was significantly higher (p = 0.0018), and tendentiously higher white blood cell-, neutrophil-, eosinophil-, and monocyte counts were observed in the *CRC* + *T2DM* group. Platelet aggregation inhibition therapy was more common in *CRC* + *T2DM* patients; no difference was found in radiotherapy (neoadjuvant only), whereas no-line or late-line chemotherapy was more common in those CRC patients with T2DM than those of without (p = 0.0560; Table 1).

Voluntary non-CRC subjects were divided into three cohorts: 51, 50, and 65 subjects were assigned to the "Young controls," "Control," and "T2DM" groups, respectively. Duration of diabetes was 14.91 ± 9.50 within the T2DM group. Anamnestic, clinical, and laboratory parameters of control groups are shown in Table 2. Comparison between the volunteer groups revealed that, as expected, Young controls had the lowest body mass index (p < 0.0001 vs T2DM and Controls), systolic blood pressure (p = 0.0250 vs Controls, p = 0.0410 vs T2DM), mean corpuscular volume (p = 0.0002 vs Controls, p = 0.0041 vs *T2DM*), red blood cell distribution width (p = 0.0023 vs Controls, p < 0.0001 vs T2DM), fasting plasma glucose (p < 0.0001 vs Controls and T2DM), and the highest heart rate (p = 0.0002 vs Controls, p = 0.0242 vs T2DM) and estimated glomerular filtration rate (p < 0.0001 vs Controls and T2DM). T2DM patients had the highest body mass index (p = 0.0098 vs Controls, p < 0.0001 vs Young *controls*), white blood cell count (p = 0.0430 vs *Controls*, p = 0.0008 vs Young controls), gamma-glutamyl transferase (p = 0.0633 vs Controls, p = 0.0003 vs Young) Table 1: Metabolic, clinical, and other parameters of CRC patients

Parameter	CRC	CRC + T2DM	<i>p</i> -value
	(n = 82)	(<i>n</i> = 26)	
Age (years)	67.42 ± 9.33	70.83 ± 7.24	0.3919
Sex (male:female)	51:31 (62.2:37.8%)	20:6 (76.9:23.1%)	0.3778
Body mass index (kg/m^2)	27.26 ± 3.87	27.43 ± 4.64	0.7778
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	144.49 ± 18.48	141.12 ± 19.55	0.7654
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	78.99 ± 10.19	78.20 ± 9.10	0.7527
Heart rate (1/min)	77.88 ± 13.76	80.76 ± 16.36	0.7654
White blood cell count $(10^9/L)$	8.14 ± 2.91	11.11 ± 7.46	0.3919*
Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	5.60 ± 2.57	7.87 ± 5.59	0.3919*
Eosinophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.18 ± 0.16	0.59 ± 1.73	0.3919*
Basophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.06 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.04	0.7654
Monocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.61 ± 0.46	0.78 ± 0.51	0.3919*
Lymphocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	1.74 ± 1.11	1.81 ± 0.92	0.7654
Red blood cell count $(10^{12}/L)$	4.50 ± 0.58	4.42 ± 0.52	0.7527
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12.42 ± 2.14	12.14 ± 2.11	0.7654
Hematocrit (L/L)	0.38 ± 0.06	0.38 ± 0.06	0.7778
Mean corpuscular volume (fL)	84.84 ± 8.22	84.31 ± 8.54	0.9471
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (pg)	27.30 ± 3.41	27.32 ± 3.81	0.9853
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (g/L)	322.35 ± 15.29	324.20 ± 24.53	0.7527
Red blood cell distribution width (%)	14.63 ± 3.74	15.53 ± 3.47	0.4409
Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L)	308.38 ± 124.66	339.85 ± 118.86	0.7527
Aspartate transaminase (U/L)	25.86 ± 21.03	26.37 ± 16.12	0.9853
Alanine transaminase (U/L)	21.75 ± 12.52	23.10 ± 13.35	0.7654
Gamma-glutamyl transferase (U/L)	68.33 ± 117.56	97.24 ± 167.79	0.7527
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.45 ± 0.86	6.62 ± 1.71	0.0018
Creatinine (µmol/L)	76.99 ± 19.19	82.33 ± 22.41	0.7527
Estimated glomerular filtration rate $\left(\frac{mL}{min + 1.73 m^2}\right)$	82.17 ± 16.81	78.23 ± 18.30	0.7527
AJCC staging [25]			
Stage I	19 (23.2%)	9 (34.6%)	0.4021
Stage II	23 (28.0%)	4 (15.4%)	
Stage III	20 (24.4%)	4 (15.4%)	
Stage IV	20 (24.4%)	9 (34.6%)	
Side of CRC			
Left-sided	60 (73.2%)	15 (57.7%)	0.2987
Right-sided	22 (26.8%)	11 (42.3%)	
Chemotherapy			
None	37 (45.1%)	16 (61.5%)	0.0560**
Adjuvant	21 (25.6%)	2 (7.7%)	
First-line	12 (14.6%)	0 (0.0%)	
Second-line	7 (8.5%)	7 (26.9%)	
Third or later-line	5 (6.1%)	1 (3.8%)	
Radiotherapy	14 (17.1%)	3 (11.5%)	0.7568
Usage of biological therapy	15 (18.3%)	7 (26.9%)	0.4611
Known comorbidities			
Hypertension	48 (58.5%)	20 (76.9%)	0.2851
Major cardiovascular event(s) before CRC	16 (19.5%)	6 (23.1%)	0.7809
Platelet aggregation inhibition	14 (17.1%)	9 (34.6%)	0.2851*

T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Without *p*-value correction, the differences are marginal (white blood cells: p = 0.0843; neutrophils: p = 0.0919; eosinophils: p = 0.0648; monocytes: p = 0.0918; platelet aggregation inhibition therapy: p = 0.0959). **Without *p*-value correction, the differences in the distribution of chemotherapy regimens is statistically significant (p = 0.0070).

Table 2: Metabolic, clinical, and other parameters of voluntary control subjects

Parameter	Young controls	Control	T2DM
	(n = 51)	(<i>n</i> = 50)	(<i>n</i> = 65)
Age (years)	26.13 ± 4.50^{1}	60.31 ± 11.00^4	64.68 ± 8.30^7
Sex (male:female)	24: 27	22: 28 ⁷	35: 30
	(47.1:52.9%)	(44.0:56.0%)	(53.8:46.2%)
Body mass index (kg/m^2)	23.25 ± 3.95^{1}	27.99 ± 5.42^{6}	30.73 ± 5.12^{1}
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	129.82 ± 15.60	138.27 ± 17.34	136.58 ± 16.64
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	77.27 ± 9.10	80.98 ± 11.85	76.06 ± 10.83
Heart rate (1/min)	77.59 ± 11.08	67.76 ± 7.95^{1}	73.23 ± `9.18
White blood cell count $(10^9/L)$	6.48 ± 1.59^2	7.04 ± 2.00^{7}	7.97 ± 2.23
Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	3.66 ± 1.37^2	4.35 ± 1.68^4	4.93 ± 1.82^7
Eosinophil count $(10^9/L)$	0.19 ± 0.17	0.18 ± 0.13	0.21 ± 0.13
Basophil count $(10^9/L)$	0.06 ± 0.08	0.06 ± 0.03	0.06 ± 0.05
Monocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.44 ± 0.15^2	0.44 ± 0.11^2	0.52 ± 0.14
Lymphocyte count $(10^9/L)$	2.09 ± 0.66^3	2.15 ± 0.77^3	2.25 ± 0.80^3
Red blood cell count $(10^{12}/L)$	4.97 ± 0.53^4	4.92 ± 0.53^4	4.81 ± 0.38^4
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	14.60 ± 1.35^4	14.69 ± 1.38^4	14.07 ± 1.04^4
Hematocrit (L/L)	0.43 ± 0.04^4	0.44 ± 0.04^4	0.42 ± 0.03^4
Mean corpuscular volume (fL)	86.27 ± 3.00^5	89.32 ± 4.18^3	88.04 ± 3.44
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (pg)	29.49 ± 1.39^3	30.02 ± 1.61^4	29.32 ± 1.47^3
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (g/L)	339.16 ± 9.73^2	337.18 ± 8.40^4	332.95 ± 8.93^3
Red blood cell distribution width (%)	12.59 ± 0.79^{1}	13.15 ± 0.92^7	13.23 ± 0.83^7
Platelet count $(10^{9}/L)$	267.86 ± 50.18	272.18 ± 72.66	263.92 ± 67.23
Aspartate transaminase (U/L)	27.47 ± 13.96	24.64 ± 6.49	25.34 ± 9.82
Alanine transaminase (U/L)	25.08 ± 14.77	24.88 ± 11.32^3	27.91 ± 14.86
Gamma-glutamyl transferase (U/L)	$25.06 + 12.56^{6}$	32.70 + 31.24	40.64 + 29.40
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	4.58 ± 0.45^{1}	4.99 ± 0.57^{1}	$8.17 + 2.63^{1}$
Creatinine (umol/L)	73.69 + 12.72	70.20 + 12.72	75.11 + 19.05
Estimated glomerular filtration rate $\left(\frac{mL}{min \cdot 1.73 m^2}\right)$	109.33 ± 14.97^{1}	89.66 ± 12.42	83.98 ± 16.05
Known comorbidities			
Hypertension	0 (0.0%) ¹	16 (32.0%) ¹	56 (86.2%) ³
Major cardiovascular event(s) prior visit date	0 (0.0%) ²	5 (10.0%)	13 (20.0%)
Platelet aggregation inhibition	0 (0.0%) ²	6 (12.0%) ⁶	50 (76.9%) ⁴

T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus, ${}^{1}p < 0.05$ vs all other four groups, ${}^{2}p < 0.05$ vs all diseased groups, ${}^{3}p < 0.01$ vs the CRC without T2DM group, ${}^{4}p < 0.01$ vs both tumor groups, ${}^{5}p < 0.05$ vs Control and T2DM groups, ${}^{6}p < 0.05$ vs T2DM, and ${}^{7}p < 0.01$ vs the CRC with T2DM group.

controls) and fasting plasma glucose (p < 0.0001 vs *Controls* and *Young controls*). Significant differences of comparisons among all five groups have been indicated in Table 2.

The duration of diabetes was shorter within the *CRC* + *T2DM* group compared to those of the *T2DM* group. A higher proportion of oral antidiabetic drug usage and diet-only therapy was observable within the *CRC* + *T2DM* group, whereas the need for insulin therapy was greater in those within the *T2DM* group (p = 0.0006). Furthermore, lower glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1C}) level and fewer diabetic complications were found in the *CRC* + *T2DM* patients (Table 3). The occurrence of hypertension (p = 0.7790) and the proportion of previous major cardiovascular event(s) before the first visit (p = 0.7004) did not differ between the

two diabetic groups. Comparison of diabetes-related parameters is summarized in Table 3.

3.1 Baseline measurement of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis-related parameters

Plasma level of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis parameters of patients was compared to those of all control groups at the time of CRC diagnosis. Highest platelet counts were observed within the two tumor groups: platelet count of *CRC* patients was significantly higher than those of within the *T2DM* group (p = 0.0369), whereas the platelet count of the *CRC* + *T2DM* group was significantly higher than all of the control groups (p = 0.0369 vs *Young Control* and

Parameter	T2DM	CRC + T2DM	<i>p</i> -value
	(<i>n</i> = 65)	(<i>n</i> = 26)	
Duration of T2DM (years)	14.91 ± 9.50	$\textbf{6.88} \pm \textbf{6.10}$	0.0015
HbA _{1C} (%)	$\textbf{7.40} \pm \textbf{1.26}$	$\textbf{6.30} \pm \textbf{1.04}$	0.0012
Treatment used for T2DM			
Only diet	3 (4.6%)	7 (26.9%)	0.0006
Oral hypoglycemic medications	32 (49.2%)	18 (69.2%)	
Combination therapy (oral + basal insulin)	14 (21.5%)	1 (3.8%)	
Intensive insulin therapy	16 (24.6%)	0 (0.0%)	
Diabetic complications ¹			
Retinopathy	16 (24.6%)	2 (7.7%)	0.4203
Nephropathy	6 (9.2%)	0 (0.0%)	0.5319
Neuropathy	14 (21.5%)	5 (19.2%)	1.0000
Angiopathy	9 (13.8%)	1 (3.8%)	0.5420
Albuminuria	9 (13.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0.3330 ²
Number of diabetic			
comorbidities			
None	35 (53.8%)	20 (76.9%)	0.4203
One	15 (23.1%)	4 (15.4%)	
More than one	15 (23.1%)	2 (7.7%)	
Hyperlipidemia	44 (67.7%)	10 (38.5%)	0.1210 ³

Table 3: Diabetes-related parameters of T2DM and CRC + T2DM patients

HbA_{1C}: glycated hemoglobin, ¹All developed prior CRC, ²Without *p*-value correction p = 0.0555, and ³Without *p*-value correction p = 0.0173.

Control, p = 0.0278 vs T2DM; Figure 1a). Lowest plasma interleukin-6 levels were observed within Young controls (p < 0.0010 vs all other cohorts). Subjects of the *Control* and T2DM groups had similar interleukin-6 levels; and interleukin-6 was significantly higher in both tumor groups, compared to all of those observed in control groups (p < p0.0001 *CRC* vs *Control* and *T2DM*, *p* = 0.0011 *CRC* + *T2DM* vs *Control*, and $p = 0.0069 \ CRC + T2DM$ vs T2DM; Figure 1b). Thrombopoietin level was basically the same in the Young control and Control groups, and a separate cluster was formed by the remaining three groups. The highest thrombopoietin levels were observed in the CRC + T2DM group (Figure 1c). No further difference could have been justified in any of the study groups if they were further subdivided by the usage of platelet aggregation inhibition therapy, antidiabetic drugs, or in the presence of any diabetic complications.

Highest platelet counts were found if interleukin-6 was high as well (*CRC*: Spearman ρ : +0.34, p = 0.0017; *CRC* + *T2DM*: p = 0.0786; CRC groups combined: Spearman ρ : +0.32, p = 0.0009). Correlation between platelet count and thrombopoietin levels was only significant

in the *CRC* group (Spearman ρ : -0.24, p = 0.0332), whereas no (p = 0.8486) and marginal association (p = 0.0643) was found in the *CRC* + *T2DM* and in the two tumor groups combined, respectively. No correlation was found between interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels – (*CRC*: p = 0.4279, *CRC* + *T2DM*: p = 0.9921, tumor groups combined: p = 0.5383). No correlation was found between the thrombocytosis-related parameters and the duration of T2DM or the preoperative level of HbA_{1C}.

3.2 Changes in the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis with the course of CRC

For the 108 CRC subjects, a total of 215 measurements were available. 108, 48, 37, and 22 preoperative, postoperative, 6-month, and 12-month measurements were available, respectively. Significant decrease in later measurements occurred due to the death of patients, disease progression resulting in higher ECOG performance status and patient's unavailability to attend at later visits, the need to initiate chemotherapy earlier than the postoperative visit window, or continuous chemotherapy without drug holiday after the second study visit. Due to the decreasing number of follow-ups, a more robust statistical method not sensitive to the loss of follow-up had to be chosen; therefore, it was investigated via age-corrected and stage-corrected linear mixed effect interaction models as to how T2DM and worse clinical outcome (death) affect the changes of platelet count, interleukin-6, and thrombopoietin levels with the course of the disease. Average survival time: 16.96 ± 11.43 months, all within the first 3 years after CRC diagnosis. Diabetes had no significant effect on any of the changes (platelet count: p = 0.1190; interleukin-6: p = 0.5571; thrombopoietin: p = 0.3062, Figure 2a, c, and e). Platelet counts of all patients decreased, but among those patients who died during the time of the study, the average baseline platelet count was significantly higher (273.70 vs 353.00 \times 10⁹/L; p = 0.0042) and a faster decrease could have been seen within the first 12 months after the tumor removal surgery compared to those of who survived (Figure 2b). Similarly, increased baseline interleukin-6 levels (5.76 vs 27.42 pg/mL; *p* < 0.0001) and marginally faster decreasing levels (p = 0.0613) were observed in deceased patients over time, whereas in those who survived the plasma interleukin-6 level was constant during our observation (p = 0.1273, Figure 2d). The initial thrombopoietin level did not differ between surviving and deceased patients (p = 0.5747), and its change was not affected by the worse



Figure 1: Comparison of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis-related parameters within the five study groups. (a) The platelet count was significantly higher in CRC patients with T2DM, compared to those in all control groups, and it also differed between the *CRC* and *T2DM* groups. (b) The plasma interleukin-6 level was significantly higher in all tumor patients¹, whereas (c) the plasma thrombopoietin level was significantly lower within the *T2DM* and *CRC*, and significantly higher in the *CRC* + *T2DM* groups, compared to those of control subjects. Note: *p*-value correction was used for all between-groups comparisons. ¹Due to better visibility, six and one outlier(s) over 40 pg/mL were not shown in the *CRC* and *CRC* + *T2DM* groups; maximum values were 220.20 and 77.19 pg/mL, respectively.

clinical outcome (p = 0.5940, Figure 2f). Usage of radiotherapy and chemotherapy did not affect any of the response variables, if included within any of the models.

3.3 Survival analysis of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis-related parameters and T2DM

Thirty of the 108 patients (27.8%) died during the study, from which 20 and 10 belonged to the *CRC* and *CRC* + *T2DM* group, respectively. Patients were followed up no later than January 31, 2021. The survival analysis was performed on both the preoperative (single-time) and longitudinal data. Despite the higher occurrence of death (24 vs 40%) within the diabetic tumor group and the

difference that appears to be significant on the naïve Kaplan-Meier figure (Figure 3), the univariate Cox model of preoperative data suggested that T2DM had no effect on patient survival (p = 0.1450). A higher preoperative platelet count (HR: 1.0026, 95% CI: 1.0010–1.0050, p = 0.0052) could be considered as a poor prognostic sign. Interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels had no significant univariate effect; however, if combined with T2DM in a multivariate model, higher interleukin-6 levels had marginal effect (HR: 1.0007, 95% CI: 0.9995–1.0140, p = 0.0692) on patient survival. Similar to the univariate model, higher platelet counts had the same significant effect in the multivariate model as well (HR: 1.0028, 95% CI: 1.0009–1.0050, *p* = 0.0043). T2DM did not have any effect in either multivariate model. A subgroup analysis within the CRC + T2DM group only revealed that neither the duration of diabetes (p = 0.5590), the use of

167



Figure 2: Change in the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis with the course of the disease. No difference was found in any of the parameters (a, c, e) when stratified with the presence of T2DM. (b) Platelet count and (d) plasma interleukin-6 were significantly higher at the time of CRC diagnosis in those patients who died during the observation period. Within the first year after tumor removal surgery, a significantly faster platelet count decrease was found in those patients who died (b), whereas the significant difference in plasma interleukin-6 levels remained throughout the whole study between survivors and those patients who died (d). No statistical difference was found in plasma thrombopoietin levels of survivors and nonsurvivors (p = 0.5940, f).



Figure 3: Naïve Kaplan–Meier curves of CRC patients with and without T2DM. It should be noted that although the two curves do not appear to be similar, neither Cox regression (p = 0.1450), nor log-rank test (p = 0.0908) could justify a statistical difference.

any antidiabetics (p = 0.2620), the presence of any diabetic complications (p = 0.2860), nor the preoperative level of HbA_{1C} (p = 0.5370) affected patient survival.

To analyze the effect of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis-related parameter changes in time, Bayesian joint models were used. First, three univariate joint models (a single parameter is analyzed within the longitudinal submodel) were constructed: the survival effect of the changes of platelet count, interleukin-6, or thrombopoietin over time was included in the longitudinal submodel, and T2DM was included in the survival submodel. An additional multivariate joint model was also constructed, where all three paraneoplastic thrombocytosis parameters were included within the longitudinal submodel, and no change was applied to the survival submodel. Interpretation of the clinical significance of parameters on patient survival was assessed as described in Section 2.

Based on the result of the univariate joint models, after the surgical removal of the primary tumor, higher platelet count and plasma interleukin-6 level is a sign of poorer survival (Figure 4). Thrombopoietin and diabetes did not affect the survival of patients in any of the univariate models. Multivariate joint model results suggested that interleukin-6 had the strongest effect on patient survival, whereas the platelet count was marginal; thrombopoietin and diabetes had no clinically relevant effect, similar to those observed in univariate models (Figures 4 and 5).

4 Discussion

In CRC, the occurrence of thrombocytosis, either prior or after the primary tumor removal surgery, is associated with shorter survival of patients [1,2,30-33]. The background of thrombocytosis may vary due to several factors, including the bleeding (reactive thrombocytosis) or metabolic changes (paraneoplastic thrombocytosis) of the tumor. In the latter, the tumor produces cytokines, such as interleukin-6, in higher quantities, and those higher cytokine concentrations stimulate hepatic thrombopoietin production, which ultimately results in the overproduction of platelets [4,34]. A platelet count of $>400 \times 10^9$ /L or $>450 \times 10^9$ /L is the most common definition of thrombocytosis [1,3,35], but several earlier studies reported other cut-off values [1], indicating that the definition of thrombocytosis may not be perfect. In an earlier study [20], we have reported that a personalized, relative platelet measure can predict disease outcome significantly better than "traditional" thrombocytosis, which further strengthened that the definition of thrombocytosis needs to be revised. The biochemical detection of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in CRC is a novel research area [36]. In the current study, we observed higher interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels of CRC patients, compared to those of control subjects, supporting the presence of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, which was further strengthened by



Figure 4: Longitudinal and survival predictions of the Bayesian joint models. No difference was found between CRC patients with or without T2DM. Increasing platelet count and plasma interleukin-6 level were associated with a higher risk of shorter survival times (left), whereas no change or a slow decline in these parameters is a good prognostic sign (right). Thrombopoietin levels had no clinically relevant effect neither in univariate nor in multivariate survival models.

the result of correlation and survival analysis, in line with earlier findings [1,2,31–33,36–38].

There is a strong relationship between CRC and various cytokines, including interleukin-6, which can play significant roles both in the development and progression of the disease [39–41]. Specifically, interleukin-6 is known to for its significant role in tumor proliferation, migration, induction of microsatellite instability, and angiogenesis [42,43]. It has been reported that interleukin-6 is produced by cancer-associated mesenchymal stem cells [44]. When combined with glycoprotein 130 (gp130, synonyms: IL6ST or CD130) interleukin-6 can regulate disease progression through the Shp2-Ras-ERK, JAK1/2-STAT3, and PI3K-AktmTOR pathways, and its higher serum levels were associated with larger tumor size, presence of metastases, and worse overall- and disease-free survival [40,41,45,46]. Due to its strong connection with CRC, interleukin-6 has been proposed as a good prognostic marker of CRC [47–49]. In the current study, we could also confirm the prognostic role of interleukin-6 over patient survival. The result that preoperative interleukin-6 did not affected survival was possibly due to the heterogeneity of study population, which was somewhat confirmed by the results obtained from the multivariate Cox models, as the predictive effect of interleukin-6 on survival increased. As a novel result, we found that constantly higher interleukin-6 level could have been observed in those patients, who died within the first 3 years after CRC diagnosis.

Research on CRC and thrombopoietin is limited. Earlier studies have identified that cancer cells can induce

		Hazard ratio	95% credible interval	Clinically relevant?
Univariate Joint-model No.1:				
Platelet count (longitudinal submodel)	•	1.0121	1.0030 - 1.0233	Yes
Diabetes (grouping in survival submodel)	<	1.5512	0.3101 - 7.2572	No
Univariate Joint-model No.2:				
Interleukin-6 (longitudinal submodel)		1.4874	1.0471 - 2.2278	Yes
Diabetes (grouping in survival submodel)	<	1.6209	0.0325 - 56.4864	No
Univariate Joint-model No.3:				
Thrombopoietin (longitudinal submodel)		0.9333	0.6263 - 1.0822	No
Diabetes (grouping in survival submodel)	<→	1.7789	0.2693 - 29.9042	No
Multivariate Joint-model:				
Platelet count (longitudinal submodel)	•	0.9970	0.9861 - 1.0070	Marginal
Interleukin-6 (longitudinal submodel)		1.1445	1.0151 - 1.6226	Yes
Thrombopoietin (longitudinal submodel)		0.8319	0.5001 - 1.7542	No
Diabetes (grouping in survival submodel)	0.5 1 1.5 2 2	4.3579 .5	0.0775 - 222.2938	No

Figure 5: Results of the Bayesian joint survival models. Platelet count and/or plasma interleukin-6 level increasing over time is a poor prognostic factor, whereas diabetes and plasma thrombopoietin changes did not affect patient survival (Note: credible interval is the Bayesian equivalent of the frequentists' Cl.).

circulating thrombopoietin production [50]; furthermore, higher thrombopoietin level is associated with gastrointestinal cancers, and a possible relationship between more advanced clinical stages and thrombopoietin has been also suggested [51,52]. Similar to the observations above, we found that the thrombopoietin level of CRC patients is higher than those of healthy subjects; however, the effect of thrombopoietin levels over survival was negligible, and no change with the course of the disease could have been identified in either of our longitudinal models.

T2DM, similarly to (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis, has a known negative effect on CRC [15,53]. Several potential mechanisms link the two diseases together [19], including the increased plasma glucose levels (hyperglycemia), the presence of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, increased insulin-like growth factor-1 levels, increased oxidative stress, higher cytokine concentrations, and increased platelet activation [9,10,13,19,53]. CRC is known to have an increased incidence in T2DM patients compared to those of within the healthy population [9,10]; a 1.3-fold increased risk of CRC has been reported [54,55]. T2DM has been described to have a negative effect on overall-, cancer-specific-, disease-free-, and recurrence-free survival of CRC patients [56,57]. In contrast to earlier findings, we found that T2DM did not affect patient survival in the current study statistically, but it has to be noted, that the percentage of patients who died was higher in the CRC + T2DM group (24 vs 40%), and similarly, the survival curves on Figure 3 also suggested a tendency toward significant difference. The effect of T2DM on patient survival

was further investigated through the presence of diabetic complications, the preoperative HbA_{1C} level, and the duration of T2DM. Despite the fact that the duration of diabetes was basically twice as long in patients of the *T2DM* group, a greater number of diabetic complications were present, and a more significant proportion of patients required (intensive) insulin therapy, no significant effect could be justified for any of the above-mentioned parameters. It has to be mentioned though that the sample size of *CRC* + *T2DM* patients was low, but we could not even prove tendentious differences similar to that of observed in Figure 3.

The relationship between CRC-related paraneoplastic thrombocytosis and T2DM through biochemical measurements has not been investigated previously. It has to be mentioned though, that various platelet abnormalities and increased interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin production are known in T2DM [16-18,58-60]. Due to the abovementioned effects and the high risk of cardiovascular events, the usage of platelet aggregation inhibition therapy is very common in T2DM [61,62]. Based on the available literature, our prestudy hypothesis was that CRC patients who also suffer from T2DM would probably have higher interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels than those who are not affected by T2DM. In contrast to our hypothesis, no differences could have been justified in any of the parameters related to paraneoplastic thrombocytosis between the CRC and CRC + T2DM groups. Furthermore, platelet aggregation inhibition also did not have any effect on the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis even though that the therapy

was more common within the CRC + T2DM group. Similarly, the diabetes-related parameters also did not affect the paraneoplastic thrombocytosis-related parameters. The fact that plasma thrombopoietin level of non-CRC T2DM patients was more similar to those of CRC patients than those of control subjects was most likely related to the already known fact that thrombopoietin levels are higher in T2DM [58], but no previous data are available on how similar these values of CRC and T2DM patients should be. The presented data suggest that T2DM does not increase the effect of CRC-related paraneoplastic thrombocytosis, in most probability, and the disease-worsening effect of T2DM, which has been described in earlier publications [11], must be carried out through other factors. To identify those factors, further investigations are needed.

4.1 Limitations

Limitations of the current study were the small sample size and the heterogeneity of CRC population - the latter may be also compensated with a larger sample size. The proportion of T2DM patients within the tumor cohort corresponded to the healthy Hungarian population (approximately every fourth person, over 60 years of age [8]). Due to patients' decision, a large number of potential subjects did not agree to be included in the study. Despite the low number of cases, it is important to emphasize that the presence of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis could have been already detected at such a low number of cases, showing its significance in CRC. The low number of T2DM in those of CRC patients allowed us only to pinpoint tendentious differences in several parameters.

5 Conclusion

To summarize the results of the current study, our data suggested that although some metabolic changes do occur to platelet counts and to the interleukin-6 and/or thrombopoietin synthesis in T2DM and in paraneoplastic thrombocytosis-affected CRC patients, no combined effect have been observed. Based on the current study, there is no significant relationship between the two conditions with high probability and the known disease-worsening effect of diabetes on CRC survival is presumably independent of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis.

Acknowledgments: None.

Funding information: Research was supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (grant number K-116128) and by the research grant of Hungarian Diabetes Association. Z.H. was supported by the UNKP-20-4-I New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology from the source of the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund.

Author contributions: ZH, MH, and AS built the study design; MH, GH, AF, and ZH were involved in the collection of samples; ZH and ZL analyzed the data; GH, ZH, MH, MD, and ZL interpreted data; ZH and GH prepared the draft of the manuscript; all authors were involved in editing and reviewing; and AS received funding and supervised the study. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest. The funding bodies have no role in the design of the study; collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; or in writing the manuscript.

Data availability statement: The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

References

- Baranyai Z, Josa V, Toth A, Szilasi Z, Tihanyi B, Zarand A, et al. [1] Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in gastrointestinal cancer. Platelets. 2016;27(4):269-75. doi: 10.3109/09537104. 2016.1170112.
- Josa V, Krzystanek M, Eklund AC, Salamon F, Zarand A, [2] Szallasi Z, et al. Relationship of postoperative thrombocytosis and survival of patients with colorectal cancer. Int J Surg. 2015;18:1-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.03.005.
- Stone RL, Nick AM, McNeish IA, Balkwill F, Han HD, Bottsford-[3] Miller J, et al. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(7):610-8. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1110352.
- [4] Lin RJ, Afshar-Kharghan V, Schafer AI. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis: the secrets of tumor self-promotion. Blood. 2014;124(2):184-7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-562538.
- [5] International Diabetes Federation: IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation; 2019 [cited 2020 Apr 15]. Available from: https://www. diabetesatlas.org

- [6] DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E, Groop L, Henry RR, Herman WH, Holst JJ, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Dis Prim. 2015;1:15019. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2015.19.
- [7] Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel LR, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660.
- [8] Kempler P, Putz Z, Kiss Z, Wittmann I, Abonyi-Tóth Z, Gy R, et al. Prevalence and financial burden of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Hungary between 2001–2014 – results of the analysis of the national health insurance fund database. Diab Hung. 2016;24(3):177–88. Hungarian.
- [9] Tsilidis KK, Kasimis JC, Lopez DS, Ntzani EE, Ioannidis JP. Type 2 diabetes and cancer: umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies. BMJ. 2015;350:g7607. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.g7607.
- [10] Giovannucci E, Harlan DM, Archer MC, Bergenstal RM, Gapstur SM, Habel LA, et al. Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60(4):207–21. doi: 10.3322/ caac.20078.
- [11] Ling S, Brown K, Miksza JK, Howells L, Morrison A, Issa E, et al. Association of type 2 diabetes with cancer: a meta-analysis with bias analysis for unmeasured confounding in 151 cohorts comprising 32 million people. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(9):2313–22. doi: 10.2337/dc20-0204.
- [12] Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66(1):7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21332.
- [13] Gonzalez N, Prieto I, Del Puerto-Nevado L, Portal-Nunez S, Ardura JA, Corton M, et al. 2017 update on the relationship between diabetes and colorectal cancer: epidemiology, potential molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Oncotarget. 2017;8(11):18456–85. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.14472.
- [14] Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C. Development and validation of risk prediction equations to estimate survival in patients with colorectal cancer: cohort study. BMJ. 2017;357:j2497. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j2497.
- [15] Li J, Liu J, Gao C, Liu F, Zhao H. Increased mortality for colorectal cancer patients with preexisting diabetes mellitus: an updated meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(37):62478–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19923.
- [16] Ferreiro JL, Gomez-Hospital JA, Angiolillo DJ. Platelet abnormalities in diabetes mellitus. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2010;7(4):251–9. doi: 10.1177/1479164110383994.
- Yazbek N, Bapat A, Kleiman N. Platelet abnormalities in diabetes mellitus. Coron Artery Dis. 2003;14(5):365-71. doi: 10.1097/01.mca.0000085138.16622.9e.
- [18] Lee RH, Bergmeier W. Sugar makes neutrophils RAGE: linking diabetes-associated hyperglycemia to thrombocytosis and platelet reactivity. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(6):2040–3. doi: 10.1172/JCI94494.
- [19] Shlomai G, Neel B, LeRoith D, Gallagher EJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and cancer: the role of pharmacotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(35):4261–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4044.
- [20] Herold Z, Herold M, Lohinszky J, Dank M, Somogyi A. Personalized indicator thrombocytosis shows connection to staging and indicates shorter survival in colorectal cancer patients with or without type 2 diabetes. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(3):556. doi: 10.3390/cancers12030556.

- [21] Jardim DL, Rodrigues CA, Novis YAS, Rocha VG, Hoff PM. Oxaliplatin-related thrombocytopenia. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(8):1937-42. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds074.
- [22] Kilpatrick K, Shaw JL, Jaramillo R, Toler A, Eisen M, Sangare L, et al. Occurrence and management of thrombocytopenia in metastatic colorectal cancer patients receiving chemotherapy: secondary analysis of data from prospective clinical trials. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2020;20(2):170–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clcc. 2020.10.004.
- [23] Schwandt A, Denkinger M, Fasching P, Pfeifer M, Wagner C, Weiland J, et al. Comparison of MDRD, CKD-EPI, and Cockcroft-Gault equation in relation to measured glomerular filtration rate among a large cohort with diabetes. J Diabetes Complications. 2017;31(9):1376–83. doi: 10.1016/ j.jdiacomp.2017.06.016.
- [24] Shen H, Yang J, Huang Q, Jiang MJ, Tan YN, Fu JF, et al. Different treatment strategies and molecular features between rightsided and left-sided colon cancers. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(21):6470–8. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i21.6470.
- [25] Jessup J, Goldberg R, Asare E, Benson A, Brierley J Chang G, et al. Colon and rectum. In Amin M, Edge S, Greene F, Byrd D, Brookland R, Washington M, et al., editors. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 8th edn. Chicago, IL, USA: Springer International Publishing; 2018. p. 251–74.
- [26] R Core Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2021. Available from: https://www.R-project.org/
- [27] Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. {nlme}: linear and nonlinear mixed effects models (R package version 3.1-149). 2021; Available from: https://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=nlme
- [28] Goodrich B, Gabry J, Ali I, Brilleman S. rstanarm: Bayesian applied regression modeling via Stan (R package version 2.21.1). 2020; Available from: https://mc-stan.org/rstanarm
- [29] Holm S. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand J Stat. 1979;6(2):65–70.
- [30] Baranyai Z, Josa V, Krzystanek M, Eklund AC, Szasz AM, Szallasi Z. Evaluation of thrombocytosis as predictive factor in colorectal cancer. Magy Seb. 2013;66(6):331–7. doi: 10.1556/ MaSeb.66.2013.6.5. (Hungarian).
- [31] Gu D, Szallasi A. Thrombocytosis portends adverse prognosis in colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of 5,619 patients in 16 individual studies. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(9):4717–26. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11878.
- [32] Ishizuka M, Nagata H, Takagi K, Iwasaki Y, Kubota K. Preoperative thrombocytosis is associated with survival after surgery for colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(7): 887–91. doi: 10.1002/jso.23163.
- [33] Ramjeesingh R, Jones A, Orr C, Bricks CS, Hopman WM, Hammad N. Thrombocytosis as a predictor of poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(S4):540. doi: 10.1200/jco.2016.34.4_suppl.540.
- [34] Bleeker JS, Hogan WJ. Thrombocytosis: diagnostic evaluation, thrombotic risk stratification, and risk-based management strategies. Thrombosis. 2011;2011:536062. doi: 10.1155/2011/ 536062.
- [35] Wille K, Sadjadian P, Griesshammer M. Thrombocytosis and thrombocytopenia – background and clinical relevance. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2017;142(23):1732–43. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-111096. (German).

- [36] Josa V, Brodszky V, Zarand A, Mezei T, Szilasi Z, Merkel K, et al. The relationship between IL-6 and thrombocytosis accompanying gastrointestinal tumours. Prz Gastroenterol. 2020;15(3):215–9. doi: 10.5114/pg.2020.98538.
- [37] Cravioto-Villanueva A, Luna-Perez P, Gutierrez-de la Barrera M, Martinez-Gomez H, Maffuz A, Rojas-Garcia P, et al. Thrombocytosis as a predictor of distant recurrence in patients with rectal cancer. Arch Med Res. 2012;43(4):305–11. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2012.06.008.
- [38] Voutsadakis IA. Thrombocytosis as a prognostic marker in gastrointestinal cancers. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6(2):34-40. doi: 10.4251/wjgo.v6.i2.34.
- [39] West NR, McCuaig S, Franchini F, Powrie F. Emerging cytokine networks in colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(10):615–29. doi: 10.1038/nri3896.
- [40] Mager LF, Wasmer MH, Rau TT, Krebs P. Cytokine-induced modulation of colorectal cancer. Front Oncol. 2016;6:96. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00096.
- [41] Li J, Huang L, Zhao H, Yan Y, Lu J. The role of interleukins in colorectal cancer. Int J Biol Sci. 2020;16(13):2323–39. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.46651.
- [42] Taniguchi K, Karin M. IL-6 and related cytokines as the critical lynchpins between inflammation and cancer. Semin Immunol. 2014;26(1):54–74. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2014.01.001.
- [43] Tseng-Rogenski SS, Hamaya Y, Choi DY, Carethers JM. Interleukin 6 alters localization of hMSH3, leading to DNA mismatch repair defects in colorectal cancer cells. Gastroenterology. 2015;148(3):579–89. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2014.11.027.
- [44] Lin JT, Wang JY, Chen MK, Chen HC, Chang TH, Su BW, et al. Colon cancer mesenchymal stem cells modulate the tumorigenicity of colon cancer through interleukin 6. Exp Cell Res. 2013;319(14):2216–29. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.06.003.
- [45] Chung YC, Chang YF. Serum interleukin-6 levels reflect the disease status of colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2003;83(4):222–6. doi: 10.1002/jso.10269.
- [46] Xu J, Ye Y, Zhang H, Szmitkowski M, Makinen MJ, Li P, et al. Diagnostic and prognostic value of serum interleukin-6 in colorectal cancer. Med (Baltim). 2016;95(2):e2502. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000002502.
- [47] Knupfer H, Preiss R. Serum interleukin-6 levels in colorectal cancer patients-a summary of published results. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2010;25(2):135–40. doi: 10.1007/s00384-009-0818-8.
- [48] Yeh KY, Li YY, Hsieh LL, Lu CH, Chou WC, Liaw CC, et al. Analysis of the effect of serum interleukin-6 (IL-6) and soluble IL-6 receptor levels on survival of patients with colorectal cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2010;40(6):580-7. doi: 10.1093/jjco/ hyq010.
- [49] Shiga K, Hara M, Nagasaki T, Sato T, Takahashi H, Sato M, et al. Preoperative serum interleukin-6 is a potential prognostic factor for colorectal cancer, including stage II patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:9701574. doi: 10.1155/ 2016/9701574.

- [50] Sasaki Y, Takahashi T, Miyazaki H, Matsumoto A, Kato T, Nakamura K, et al. Production of thrombopoietin by human carcinomas and its novel isoforms. Blood. 1999;94(6):1952–60. doi: 10.1182/blood.V94.6.1952.
- [51] Dymicka-Piekarska V, Kemona H. Thrombopoietin and reticulated platelets as thrombopoietic markers in colorectal cancer. Thromb Res. 2008;122(1):141–3. doi: 10.1016/ j.thromres.2007.10.003.
- [52] Zhou CL, Su HL, Dai HW. Thrombopoietin is associated with a prognosis of gastric adenocarcinoma. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992). 2020;66(5):590–5. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.66.5.590.
- [53] Singh S, Earle CC, Bae SJ, Fischer HD, Yun L, Austin PC, et al. Incidence of diabetes in colorectal cancer survivors. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108(6):djv402. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv402.
- [54] Peeters PJ, Bazelier MT, Leufkens HG, de Vries F, De Bruin ML. The risk of colorectal cancer in patients with type 2 diabetes: associations with treatment stage and obesity. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(3):495–502. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1175.
- [55] Overbeek JA, Kuiper JG, van der Heijden A, Labots M, Haug U, Herings RMC, et al. Sex- and site-specific differences in colorectal cancer risk among people with type 2 diabetes. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019;34(2):269–76. doi: 10.1007/s00384-018-3191-7.
- [56] Zhu B, Wu X, Wu B, Pei D, Zhang L, Wei L. The relationship between diabetes and colorectal cancer prognosis: a metaanalysis based on the cohort studies. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0176068. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176068.
- [57] Petrelli F, Ghidini M, Rausa E, Ghidini A, Cabiddu M, Borgonovo K, et al. Survival of colorectal cancer patients with diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Can J Diabetes. 2021;45(2):186–97. e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2020.06.009.
- [58] Kraakman MJ, Lee MK, Al-Sharea A, Dragoljevic D, Barrett TJ, Montenont E, et al. Neutrophil-derived S100 calcium-binding proteins A8/A9 promote reticulated thrombocytosis and atherogenesis in diabetes. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(6):2133–47. doi: 10.1172/JCI92450.
- [59] Liu C, Feng X, Li Q, Wang Y, Li Q, Hua M. Adiponectin, TNFalpha and inflammatory cytokines and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Cytokine. 2016;86:100–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2016.06.028.
- [60] Pletsch-Borba L, Watzinger C, Turzanski Fortner R, Katzke V, Schwingshackl L, Sowah SA, et al. Biomarkers of vascular injury and type 2 diabetes: a prospective study, systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Med. 2019;8(12):2075. doi: 10.3390/jcm8122075.
- [61] Santilli F, Pignatelli P, Violi F, Davi G. Aspirin for primary prevention in diabetes mellitus: from the calculation of cardiovascular risk and risk/benefit profile to personalised treatment. Thromb Haemost. 2015;114(5):876–82. doi: 10.1160/ TH15-03-0202.
- [62] American Diabetes Association. 10. Cardiovascular disease and risk management: standards of medical care in diabetes-2020. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(S1):S111-34. doi: 10.2337/dc20-S010.

W J C C World Journal of Clinical Cases

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Cases 2022 May 6; 10(13): 4084-4096

DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v10.i13.4084

ISSN 2307-8960 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study High plasma CD40 ligand level is associated with more advanced stages and worse prognosis in colorectal cancer

Zoltan Herold, Magdolna Herold, Gyorgy Herczeg, Agnes Fodor, Attila Marcell Szasz, Magdolna Dank, Aniko Somogyi

Specialty type: Oncology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Alvarez-Bañuelos MT. Mexico; Litvin A, Russia; Nagasawa M, Japan

Received: April 24, 2021 Peer-review started: April 24, 2021 First decision: June 13, 2021 Revised: June 25, 2021 Accepted: April 2, 2022 Article in press: April 2, 2022 Published online: May 6, 2022



Zoltan Herold, Attila Marcell Szasz, Magdolna Dank, Division of Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine and Oncology, Semmelweis University, Budapest H-1083, Hungary

Zoltan Herold, Magdolna Herold, Aniko Somogyi, Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest H-1088, Hungary

Gyorgy Herczeg, Agnes Fodor, Department of General Surgery, Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital, Budapest H-1115, Hungary

Corresponding author: Zoltan Herold, MSc, PhD, Research Scientist, Division of Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine and Oncology, Semmelweis University, 25-29 Tomo u, Budapest H-1083, Hungary. herold.zoltan@med.semmelweis-univ.hu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is often associated with elevated platelet count (> 400 × 10⁹/L), known as thrombocytosis. The role of CD40 ligand (CD40L), a member of the tumor necrosis factor family, is controversial in CRC. Circulating CD40L is higher in CRC, but its relationship with disease staging and local and distant metastasis is not clear. Although most of the circulating CD40L is produced by platelets, no previous study investigated its relationship with CRC-related thrombocytosis.

AIM

To investigate the role of CD40L to predict the outcome of CRC and its relation to thrombocytosis.

METHODS

A total of 106 CRC patients and 50 age and sex-matched control subjects were enrolled for the study. Anamnestic data including comorbidities and histopathological data were collected. Laboratory measurements were performed at the time of CRC diagnosis and 1.5 mo and at least 6 mo after the surgical removal of the tumor. Plasma CD40L and thrombopoietin were measured via enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, while plasma interleukin-6 was measured via electrochemiluminescence immunoassay. Patient follow-ups were terminated on January 31, 2021.



RESULTS

Plasma CD40L of CRC patients was tendentiously higher, while platelet count (P = 0.0479), interleukin-6 (P = 0.0002), and thrombopoietin (P = 0.0024) levels were significantly higher as opposed to the control subjects. Twelve of the 106 CRC patients (11.3%) had thrombocytosis. Significantly higher CD40L was found in the presence of distant metastases (P = 0.0055) and/or thrombocytosis (P = 0.0294). A connection was found between CD40L and platelet count (P =0.0045), interleukin-6 (P = 0.0130), and thrombocytosis (P = 0.0155). CD40L was constant with the course of CRC, and all baseline differences persisted throughout the whole study. Both pre- and postoperative elevated platelet count, CD40L, and interleukin-6 level were associated with poor overall and disease-specific survival of patients. The negative effect of CD40L and interleukin-6 on patient survival remained even after the stratification by thrombocytosis.

CONCLUSION

CD40L levels of CRC patients do not change with the course of the disease. The CD40L level is strongly correlated with platelet count, interleukin-6, thrombocytosis, and the presence of distant metastases.

Key Words: CD40 ligand; Colorectal neoplasms; Interleukin-6; Thrombocytosis; Thrombopoietin

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This observational study investigated whether plasma CD40 ligand (CD40L) is related to colorectal cancer (CRC)-associated thrombocytosis and disease severity. Baseline CD40L was significantly higher in patients with distant metastasis and thrombocytosis. An association between CD40L, platelet count, and the interleukin-6 level was found. CD40L was constant with the course of the disease, and all its baseline differences persisted throughout the study. Both pre- and postoperative high CD40L levels negatively affected overall, disease-specific, and thrombocytosis-eliminated survival. A possible connection between elevated CD40L levels and increased general inflammation caused by CRC was also suggested.

Citation: Herold Z, Herold M, Herczeg G, Fodor A, Szasz AM, Dank M, Somogyi A. High plasma CD40 ligand level is associated with more advanced stages and worse prognosis in colorectal cancer. World J Clin Cases 2022; 10(13): 4084-4096

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2307-8960/full/v10/i13/4084.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v10.i13.4084

INTRODUCTION

According to the GLOBOCAN 2018 data, colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer type with over 1.8 million new cases and causing more than 860000 deaths annually[1]. Elevated platelet count (thrombocytosis) has been described previously as a poor prognostic sign in CRC[2]. Thrombocytosis may arise in CRC due to the following: (1) Secondary thrombocytosis caused by the bleeding of the tumor; and (2) paraneoplastic thrombocytosis defined as a metabolic change caused by the tumor itself[2,3]. In the latter, the elevated platelet count can be attributed to the overproduction of cytokines by the tumor, which induces hepatic thrombopoietin production and ultimately increases bone marrow activity[3,4].

CD40 ligand (CD40L, synonym: CD154, gp39, or T-B activating molecule) is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein belonging to the tumor necrosis factor family of cytokines[5,6]. CD40L activates CD40, a transmembrane protein receptor found on antigen-presenting cells[6]. The majority of circulating CD40L is assumed to originate from platelets. A membrane-bound CD40L form is also known[6]. CD40L has been described to have antitumor effects via the inhibition of tumor cell proliferation and pro-apoptotic features through the activation of apoptotic pathways[6-9]. It has been found previously that CRC patients have significantly higher soluble CD40L levels than those of healthy control subjects. Its possible use as a promising biomarker in CRC was proposed[10-12]. The connection between CD40L levels and lymph node involvement or distant metastasis is controversial. One study reported increased CD40L levels in patients with worse disease conditions, while others have found the opposite. Furthermore, neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy has decreased CD40L levels[10-12].

The role of CD40L in the course of CRC and its relationship with CRC-related thrombocytosis has not been investigated previously. Therefore, a prospective observational study was carried out. Paraneo-



plastic thrombocytosis was investigated through the measurement of plasma interleukin-6 and thrombopoietin levels. In addition to the latter, the further aim of this study was to try to clarify the discrepancy between plasma CD40L levels and higher tumor stages. The effect of plasma CD40L on survival was also analyzed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted in concordance with the World Medical Association's Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Committee of Science and Research Ethics, Hungarian Medical Research Council (ETT TUKEB 8951-3/2015/EKU) and by the institutional ethical committees of Semmelweis University (SE TUKEB 21-12/1994, approval date of latest modification: February 10, 2017) and Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital (SZIK IKEB 5/2017). Handling of patient data was in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation issued by the European Union.

Patients and study design

A prospective, real-life observational cohort study was carried out, and a total of 106 CRC patients were enrolled for the study between 2017 and 2019. Fifty age and sex-matched control subjects were selected from a pool of 166 volunteers. Prior to any study-specific procedures, study subjects signed written informed consents. CRC patients attended the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest and the Department of General Surgery, Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital, Budapest. Control subjects attended the Metabolic Outpatient Clinic of the Department of Internal Medicine and Hematology, Semmelweis University, Budapest. Study exclusion criteria included age < 18 years, an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status > 2, previous malignancy, and systemic autoimmune, inflammatory bowel, inadequately controlled thyroid, hematologic, chronic kidney, or any mental diseases. The usage of erythropoiesis-stimulating agents or recent blood transfusion was also prohibited. In addition to the above, control subjects with any metabolic disease, except type 2 diabetes mellitus, which was present in several of the CRC patients, were excluded from the study.

Clinicopathological and laboratory data measurements

Body weight, height, and anamnestic data including comorbidities and recent medications were collected. Fasting blood samples were drawn: (1) At the time of CRC diagnosis; (2) at least 6 wk after tumor removal surgery; and (3) at least 6 mo after tumor removal surgery. Several chemotherapeutic agents are known to affect platelet count [13,14]. Therefore, the third measurements were timed so that patients had not received any oncological treatment for at least 6 wk prior to blood sampling. Followups of patients were terminated on January 31, 2021. Routine laboratory measurements were performed at the central laboratories of Semmelweis University and Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital. Complete blood count, liver enzyme, plasma glucose, and creatinine levels were determined. The Chronic Kidney Disease-Epidemiology Collaboration equations were used to calculate the estimated glomerular filtration rate[15].

In addition to routine laboratory measurements, plasma CD40L, interleukin-6, and thrombopoietin levels were measured using the CD40L Human Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay kit (ELISA kit, abcam®, Catalog Number ab99991, Cambridge, MA, United States), ELECSYS® Interleukin-6 electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA, Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany), and the Human Thrombopoietin Quantikine® ELISA kits (catalog number: DTP00B, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, United States), respectively. As per the manufacturer's description, thrombopoietin level was obtained from platelet-poor plasma.

The tumor-staging was given by histopathological examination of surgical specimens and imaging studies; the American Joint Committee on Cancer grouping was used[16]. The side of CRC was described^[17] as right-sided if the tumor was originating from the cecum, ascending colon, and proximal two-thirds of the transverse colon, while left-sided was described if the tumor originated from the distal one-third of the transverse colon, descending colon, sigmoid colon, and rectum. Chemotherapy was recorded as adjuvant if no distant metastasis by imaging was detected and as first-line, second-line, etc in metastatic CRC. The usage of biological agents was recorded as a dummy variable.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with R version 4.0.4[18]. Matching of control subjects was done via propensity score matching (R-package Matching[19]). Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney U-test, Fisher's exact test, Kruskal-Wallis test with P value corrected pairwise Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney U-tests as post-hoc, and Spearman's rank correlation were used. To detect the changes of CD40L in time, linear mixedeffects models were used (R-package nlme)[20]. Overall and CRC-related disease-specific survival of patients were analyzed with Cox regression and cause-specific competing risk survival models (Rpackage survival)[21], respectively. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant, and P values were corrected with the Holm method^[22] for multiple comparisons problem. Results were expressed as



mean ± SD and as the number of observations (percentage) for continuous and count data, respectively.

RESULTS

Baseline measurements

A total of 106 CRC patients and 50 age and sex-matched voluntary control subjects were enrolled for the study. Baseline laboratory measurements and anamnestic data were summarized in Table 1, and histopathological data of CRC patients were summarized in Table 2. The two cohorts were well balanced as no significant difference was detected in either of the anamnestic data. On the contrary, most of the parameters of complete blood count within the CRC group were out of normal range (P <0.05), and 12 of the 106 CRC patients (11.3%) showed signs of thrombocytosis (platelet count > 400×10^{9} /L). The plasma interleukin-6 (P = 0.0002) and thrombopoietin (P = 0.0024) levels of CRC patients were significantly higher than those of the control subjects. CD40L did not differ between the two cohorts, but it should be highlighted that CD40L of control subjects was tendentiously lower (crude P value: 0.2946; Figure 1).

To test whether other factors, such as age, sex, body mass index, histopathological data, or the presence of comorbidities, affect plasma CD40L levels, further subgrouping within the individual cohorts and correlation analysis was performed. CD40L level of control subjects was affected by the presence of diabetes (without diabetes: 240.41 ± 207.37 pg/mL; with diabetes: 110.09 ± 112.06 pg/mL; P = 0.0313), while no further parameters had any effect on the CD40L level of control subjects. In contrast, the presence of diabetes had no effect on CD40L levels of CRC patients (P = 0.7377). The presence of regional lymph node metastasis alone was not associated with a higher CD40L level (P = 0.7165), but the CD40L level was significantly higher in the presence of distant metastasis (M0: 228.27 ± 293.30 pg/mL; M1: $395.11 \pm 322.00 \text{ pg/mL}$; *P* = 0.0055; Figure 2A) and with thrombocytosis (without thrombocytosis: 248.15 ± 299.20 pg/mL; with thrombocytosis: 475.77 ± 323.43 pg/mL; *P* = 0.0294).

Furthermore, a negative correlation was found between CD40L and mean corpuscular volume (Spearman's $\rho = -0.36$, P = 0.0048), marginal association with hematocrit (Spearman's $\rho = -0.28$, P =0.0898), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (Spearman's ρ = -0.29, P = 0.0801), and red blood cell distribution width (Spearman's ρ = +0.29, *P* = 0.0805). Higher platelet count was associated with more advanced stages of CRC (P = 0.0079; Figure 2B), similar to those of CD40L levels. Right-sided tumors (left sided: $300.97 \pm 114.81 \times 10^{9}/L$; right sided $350.90 \pm 141.27 \times 10^{9}/L$; P = 0.0121) and the presence of distant metastasis (M0: 289.16 \pm 107.69 \times 10⁹/L; M1: 385.72 \pm 140.28 \times 10⁹/L; P = 0.0006) were also associated with increased platelet count. Moreover, higher interleukin-6 levels were observed in patients with a higher stage range (P = 0.0025; Figure 2C), with the presence of positive regional lymph nodes (N0: 7.03) \pm 7.53 pg/mL; N1+: 15.82 \pm 24.67 pg/mL; P = 0.0400) and with distant metastasis (M0: 7.03 \pm 8.66 pg/mL; M1: 21.88 ± 29.33 pg/mL; P = 0.0005). Plasma thrombopoietin levels were basically equal in all stages except in Stage II, where decreased thrombopoietin levels were observed compared to the other stages (*P* = 0.0210; Figure 2D).

To further assess the effect of thrombocytosis on CD40L, general linear models were created. Thrombopoietin did not have any effect on CD40L. Higher platelet count or the presence of thrombocytosis and higher plasma interleukin-6 levels were strongly correlated with higher CD40L levels (Table 3). It should be emphasized that both the individual and combined effect of these parameters only slightly explained the increase in CD40L. The explanatory power of the models, based on adjusted R^2 , was at a maximum of 8.1%.

Changes in CD40L with the course of the disease

CRC patients were recalled for follow-ups, and 61 of the original 106 patients (call-back rate 57.4%) had at least one repeated measurement of CD40L and other laboratory parameters. Distant metastasis developed in an additional 14 CRC patients following the surgical removal of the primary tumor. Thirty CRC patients had all three sets of measurements (Figure 3). The mean durations between baseline and 6 wk after surgery and between baseline and > 6 mo after surgery were 2.07 ± 1.76 mo and 10.38 ± 3.73 mo, respectively. To determine whether CD40L or the parameters related to thrombocytosis change with respect to the course of CRC, linear mixed-effects models were constructed. A total of 197 measurements were used, where not only the paired but all the baseline and further repeated measurements from all the 106 study participants were used. Based on these estimations, a significant 1.5%-2.7% average decrease in platelet count can be expected per month (P < 0.0001; Figure 3B), while no significant changes were observed in the plasma CD40L (P = 0.6813; Figure 3A), interleukin-6 (P =0.4497), and thrombopoietin (P = 0.2867) levels of CRC patients.

The effect of regional metastatic lymph node or distant metastasis and thrombocytosis on plasma CD40L levels within the course of the disease was also assessed. After the surgical resection of the primary tumor, the CD40L level of CRC patients with distant metastasis (P = 0.6964) or thrombocytosis (P = 0.7829) did not change over time. The same increased level could be observed throughout the observation time (M1: P = 0.0326; thrombocytosis: P = 0.0008), as described at the baseline. The strong association between CD40L level and platelet count (P = 0.0002) and interleukin-6 level (P = 0.0012),



Table 1 Pasalina Jaborator	v requite and enomine	atio data of atur	du oublooto
Table T baseline laborator	y results and anamnes	slic data of stu	ay subjects

Parameter	CRC patients (<i>n</i> = 106)	Controls (<i>n</i> = 50)	<i>P</i> value
Age (yr)	68.55 ± 8.64	63.91 ± 10.12	<i>P</i> = 0.2068
Sex [Male:Female, n (%)]	71 (67.0):35 (33.0)	35 (70.0):15 (30.0)	P = 1.0000
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.37 ± 4.03	29.26 ± 5.07	P = 0.5995
White blood cell count $(10^9/L)$	8.76 ± 4.56	7.41 ± 1.99	P = 0.7308
Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	6.05 ± 3.60	4.45 ± 1.64	P = 0.0205
Eosinophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.28 ± 0.86	0.20 ± 0.15	P = 1.0000
Basophil count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.06 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.03	P = 1.0000
Monocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.65 ± 0.48	0.48 ± 0.12	P = 0.2532
Lymphocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	1.76 ± 1.07	2.22 ± 0.72	P = 0.0002
Red blood cell count (10 ¹² /L)	4.48 ± 0.57	4.93 ± 0.51	P = 0.0002
Hemoglobin (g/L)	123.67 ± 21.37	147.04 ± 12.70	P < 0.0001
Hematocrit (L/L)	0.38 ± 0.06	0.44 ± 0.04	P < 0.0001
Mean corpuscular volume (fL)	84.69 ± 8.29	89.22 ± 4.06	P = 0.0856
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (pg)	27.30 ± 3.50	29.93 ± 1.77	P = 0.0001
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (g/L)	322.94 ± 17.84	335.38 ± 9.44	P < 0.0001
Red blood cell distribution width (%)	14.85 ± 3.70	13.13 ± 0.82	P = 0.1911
Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L)	315.58 ± 124.55	259.96 ± 73.98	P = 0.0479
Aspartate transaminase (U/L)	25.95 ± 20.22	26.52 ± 6.94	P = 0.0155
Alanine transaminase (U/L)	22.14 ± 12.74	28.62 ± 12.32	P = 0.0047
Gamma-glutamyl transferase (U/L)	75.07 ± 130.37	37.84 ± 31.74	P = 1.0000
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.71 ± 1.23	5.84 ± 1.94	P = 1.0000
Creatinine (µmol/L)	78.26 ± 20.06	74.82 ± 15.28	P = 1.0000
Estimated glomerular filtration rate $[mL/(min \times 1.73 m^2)]$	81.39 ± 17.00	87.21 ± 12.42	P = 0.7308
Interleukin-6 (pg/mL)	13.79 ± 28.41	3.23 ± 1.69	P = 0.0005
CD40 ligand (pg/mL)	273.92 ± 309.03	191.84 ± 191.82	P = 1.0000
Thrombopoietin (pg/mL)	43.59 ± 30.76	26.41 ± 24.15	P = 0.0029
Known comorbidities, n (%)			
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	25 (23.6)	16 (32.0)	P = 1.0000
Hypertension	68 (64.2)	26 (52.0)	P = 0.8157
Major cardiovascular event(s) prior CRC	21 (19.8)	6 (12.0)	P = 1.0000
Platelet aggregation inhibition, n (%)	23 (21.7)	18 (36.0)	P = 0.5517

CRC: Colorectal cancer.

observed at baseline measurements, also persisted throughout the whole time of the study.

Survival analysis

Overall and CRC-related disease-specific survival of patients was calculated. Patient follow-ups were terminated on January 31, 2021. Thirty of the 106 patients (28.3%) died during the study. The three different causes of death were postoperative complications, infection, and CRC-related in 4 cases, 1 case, and 25 cases, respectively. Both pre- and postoperative data had been analyzed; 106 and 61 cases were used for the calculations, respectively. Patients with higher preoperative plasma CD40L level [hazard ratio (HR): 1.001, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.000-1.002, P = 0.0159], plasma interleukin-6 level (HR: 1.020, 95% CI: 1.010-1.030, P = 0.0001), and platelet count (HR: 1.003, 95% CI: 1.001-1.005, P = 0.0052) had significantly shorter overall survival, while preoperative plasma thrombopoietin level (P = 0.5550) did not affect the overall survival of patients in univariate models. In a multivariate setting, interleukin-6



Baishidena® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Clinico-histopathological features of colorectal cancer patients		
Parameter	Number of observations	
AJCC staging[16], <i>n</i> (%)		
Stage I	27 (25.5)	
Stage II	26 (24.5)	
Stage III	24 (22.6)	
Stage IV	29 (27.4)	
Regional lymph node metastasis, <i>n</i> (%)		
N0	57 (53.8)	
N1+	49 (46.2)	
Development of distant metastasis after the tumor removal surgery, n (%)	14 (13.2)	
Side of CRC, <i>n</i> (%)		
Left-sided	75 (70.8)	
Right-sided	31 (29.2)	
Chemotherapy, <i>n</i> (%)		
None	51 (48.1)	
Adjuvant	21 (19.8)	
First-line	11 (10.4)	
Second-line	13 (12.3)	
Third or later-line	10 (9.4)	
Usage of biological therapy, <i>n</i> (%)	22 (20.8)	

AJCC: American Joint Committee on Cancer; CRC: Colorectal cancer.

Table 3 Results of general linear models investigating the effect of thrombocytosis on CD40 ligand			
Parameter	Individual effect <i>P</i> value	Multiple effect <i>P</i> value	Multiple effect <i>P</i> value
Interleukin-6 (pg/mL)	0.0130	0.1720	0.0454
Thrombopoietin (pg/mL)	0.1620	0.2393	0.1785
Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L)	0.0045	0.0043	-
Presence of thrombocytosis	0.0155	-	0.0138

had the most prominent effect on overall survival (HR: 1.024, 95%CI: 1.010-1.039, P = 0.0012), while CD40L (95%CI: 0.9995-1.0020) and platelet count (95%CI: 0.9996-1.0040) had a marginal effect. Thrombopoietin did not affect the overall survival of patients. The same was observed for preoperative (Figure 4) and postoperative (Figure 5) disease-specific survival.

Using stratified survival models we could assume different preoperative baseline hazards for patients with or without thrombocytosis (platelet count > $400 \times 10^9/L$). In a univariate model, higher preoperative plasma CD40L level indicated poor disease-specific prognosis of CRC patients (HR: 1.001, 95%CI: 1.000-1.002, *P* = 0.0332). However, only a marginal effect was found in multivariate models (HR: 1.001, 95%CI: 0.9998-1.002, *P* = 0.1196). Neither platelet count (univariate: *P* = 0.3310; multivariate: *P* = 0.6237), nor thrombopoietin (univariate: *P* = 0.9440; multivariate: *P* = 0.5387) level affected patient survival if stratification by thrombocytosis had been applied. The strong effect of the inflammatory cytokine, interleukin-6 on survival could be demonstrated even by the elimination of the effect of thrombocytosis (univariate: *P* = 0.0016; multivariate: *P* = 0.0103).

Raishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Baseline plasma CD40 ligand level of control subjects and colorectal cancer patients. Crude *P* value: *P* = 0.2946; the red dot and thick line represent mean and median values, respectively. CRC: Colorectal cancer.



Figure 2 Baseline plasma CD40 ligand, interleukin-6, and thrombopoietin level and platelet count of study participants (mean \pm SD). A: Baseline plasma CD40 ligand; B: Platelet count; C: Interleukin-6 level; D: Thrombopoietin level. CD40 ligand level (Kruskal-Wallis test: P = 0.0275) and platelet count (Kruskal-Wallis test: P = 0.0004) was the highest in Stage IV colorectal cancer (CRC) patients. Interleukin-6 (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.0001) and thrombopoietin (Kruskal-Wallis test: P = 0.0002) levels of the CRC patient groups, except those in Stage II in the latter, were significantly higher than those of healthy control subjects. The red dot and thick line represent mean and median values, respectively. AJCC: American Joint Committee on Cancer.

Raishideng® WJCC | https://www.wjgnet.com

DISCUSSION

The role of CD40L in neoplastic diseases is controversial[6]. Cellular model studies have revealed that it can significantly contribute to the immunological activity against cancer, while other studies have reported the complete opposite, *i.e.* that CD40L contributes to the progression and growth of the tumor [23,24]. The most promising results and antitumor effects have been observed in melanomas and hematological malignancies[6], including enhanced protection of dendritic cells against apoptosisinducing factors of tumor cells, enhanced maturation and antigen production of B cells, increased T celldependent immune response and the CD40L activation-dependent apoptosis of cancer cells[6]. Moreover, CD40- and CD40L-based drugs have been developed recently, and active clinical trials are currently investigating their efficacy^[25].

The CRC cell lines HCT116, Colo320, and Caco-2 have been shown to be positive for CD40, while SW480, HT29, Colo741, and LS174T do not express CD40[7,9,24]. The treatment of CD40-positive cell lines with interferon- γ can further increase the expression of CD40[7]. Analysis of resected tumor specimens has shown that approximately every third CRC is moderately or strongly CD40-postive[24]. While in another study CD40- and CD40L-positivity has been observed in 79% and 56% of CRC patients, respectively[8]. Ex vivo treatment of CD40-positive CRC cell lines with recombinant soluble human CD40L can inhibit tumor growth, induce apoptosis[7], inhibit CRC cell proliferation, stall CRC cells at the G0/G1 state, influence cell adhesion and metastasis, and increase aryl hydrocarbon receptor expression^[8]. While the T cell membrane bound CD40L can induce enhanced apoptosis of *in vitro* CRC cells with CD40-positivity [24], less signaling strength has been observed in the case of the soluble form of CD40L. Soluble CD40L can induce apoptosis only following specific pharmacological interventions [24,26].

Previous clinical studies revealed that high CD40 expression and higher soluble CD40L concentration are associated with CRC[9,10], and these elevations are the most prominent with the presence of lymph node metastasis[7,10,27], venous invasion[11], and higher TNM stages[7,10,27]. In vitro stimulation of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺T cells of CRC patients resulted in a significantly increased, approximately fourtimes higher, CD40L expression compared to those of healthy control subjects [28].

In contrast to the results above, Tada *et al*[11] and Lima *et al*[12] observed lower soluble CD40L levels within those CRC patients with worse clinicopathological features. To our knowledge, no previous study investigated CD40L levels with the course of the disease, and only partial data are available from the study of Tada *et al*[11]. In that study, rectal cancer patients received neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy prior to the surgical removal of the tumor, and CD40L was measured before and after the neoadjuvant treatment. They found that the post-treatment CD40L level of patients with a high response rate to the treatment was significantly lower, while no change was observed in those patients with low response rates[11]. Results of the current study confirmed the observations of those former studies [7,10,27] where circulating CD40L level was tendentiously higher in CRC patients than those of control patients. We also observed the highest measurements in Stage IV cancer and found that the CD40L level of CRC patients is basically constant with the course of the disease. The initial differences in CD40L levels between those patients with or without distant metastasis or thrombocytosis were observable throughout the whole course of the disease. The latter observation showed, that the CD40L level was the highest in those patients with more advanced disease. This should be the cause behind higher pre- and postoperative CD40L levels associated with shorter survival of patients, with high probability. Similar to our findings, the highest soluble CD40L levels have been observed in patients with distant metastases in squamous cancer or adenocarcinoma of the lung[29], in nasopharyngeal carcinoma[30], and in gastric cancer[31].

Approximately 95% of the soluble form of CD40L is thought to be derived from platelets[32,33]. Soluble CD40L level is strongly correlated with platelet count[34]. The highest levels can be measured in reactive thrombocytosis and essential thrombocythemia, while the lowest values can be measured in patients with low platelet count[34]. Thrombocytosis is associated with several cancers[2,3], and the platelet count is higher in patients with metastasis[2]. CD40L positively correlates with platelet count in patients with a high response rate to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy^[11]. An assumption was made by Huang et al[27] that in cancer patients soluble CD40L is most probably derived from activated platelets than from T cells. However, this question was never further investigated.

Our data showed that CD40L level is positively correlated with several markers of (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis, in particular with platelet count and interleukin-6. This strong connection persisted throughout the whole observation period. It has to be mentioned though that the stratification used in our survival models should have fully eliminated the significant effect of CD40L on CRC survival. However, we could not demonstrate this expected effect, which was observed, e.g., in the case of platelet count. This, together with the weaker explanatory powers observed in our linear models, suggests that the increase in CD40L levels is possibly not only influenced by (paraneoplastic) thrombocytosis alone. Increased CD40L production is known in various diseases characterized by general inflammation, like atherosclerosis, diabetes, or inflammatory bowel disease[35-38]. CRC can also be described as a disease known for its general inflammation[39], high interleukin-6 level[39], and inadequate T cell activation [27]. Furthermore, increased inflammation is also associated with metastasis[40,41]. The strong correlation between CD40L, interleukin-6, and metastases hints that the answer may be sought in the





Figure 3 Change in plasma CD40 ligand level and platelet count with the course of colorectal cancer within those patients who had all three laboratory measurements (mean \pm SD). A: CD40 ligand level; B: Platelet count. n = 30. For the platelet count, a significant decrease could be observed (P < 0.0001), while the CD40 ligand level of patients did not change with the course of the disease (P = 0.6813). The red dot and thick line represent mean and median values, respectively. CRC: Colorectal cancer.



Figure 4 Results of univariate and multivariate analysis on disease-specific survival of colorectal cancer patients concerning preoperative laboratory results. HR: Hazard ratio.



Figure 5 Results of univariate and multivariate analysis on disease-specific survival of colorectal cancer patients concerning postoperative laboratory results. HR: Hazard ratio.

> increased inflammation caused by the tumor or its metastases. To clarify this question, further investigations are needed.

Limitations

Limitations of the current study were the relatively small sample size and the 57.4% follow-up rate, which did not allow us further analysis, e.g., subgroup analysis or stratifications in survival models of postoperative measurements. Heterogeneity of the study population also introduced some bias.

CONCLUSION

To summarize the results of the current study, our data suggested that, in line with some previous publications[7,10,27], the plasma CD40L level is significantly higher in CRC, and the highest levels could be observed in Stage IV cancer. CRC patients with thrombocytosis had significantly higher CD40L levels, and CD40L was strongly correlated with some of the parameters of paraneoplastic thrombocytosis. The CD40L level of patients did not changed during the disease. Results from our stratified survival models and their strong association with high interleukin-6 levels and distant metastases suggest that CD40L is not only dependent on platelet count/thrombocytosis. We hypothesize that the general inflammation caused by the tumor may also play a role in the CD40L elevation of CRC patients, with high probability. To clarify this hypothesis, further investigations are needed.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The role of CD40 ligand (CD40L) is controversial in colorectal cancer (CRC). Higher circulating CD40L levels of CRC patients are known, but their relationship with disease staging and local and distant metastasis is not clear.

Research motivation

To our knowledge, no previous study investigated the relationship between CD40L and CRC-related thrombocytosis. Furthermore, no study was conducted to observe if CD40L changes with the course of CRC.



Research objectives

To analyze the clinical characteristics and laboratory results of 106 CRC patients and evaluate CD40L, interleukin-6, thrombopoietin level, and platelet count changes with the course of the disease; and to evaluate their effect on patient survival.

Research methods

CD40L and thrombopoietin were measured via enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and interleukin-6 via electrochemiluminescence immunoassay. Measurements were conducted at the time of CRC diagnosis, at least 6 wk after primary tumor removal surgery, and at least 6 mo after primary tumor removal surgery.

Research results

CD40L of CRC patients was significantly higher in the presence of distant metastasis and/or thrombocytosis. CD40L was constant with the course of CRC, and all baseline differences persisted throughout the whole study. Both pre- and postoperative elevated CD40L were associated with poor overall and disease-specific survival of patients. The negative effect of CD40L on patient survival remained even after the stratification by thrombocytosis.

Research conclusions

CD40L level of CRC patients does not change with the course of the disease. The CD40L level is strongly correlated with platelet count, interleukin-6, thrombocytosis, and the presence of distant metastases. The effect of CD40L on patient survival cannot be fully eliminated via stratification by thrombocytosis. This suggests that the circulating amount of platelets is not the only factor behind its elevation.

Research perspectives

High plasma CD40L levels of CRC patients are with high probability not only dependent on circulating platelet count. General inflammation caused by the tumor could also contribute to CD40L elevation; therefore, further studies are required to clarify this question.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Viktor Madar-Dank for English proofreading.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Herold Z, Herold M, and Somogyi A built the study design; Herold M, Herczeg G, Fodor A, and Herold Z were involved in the collection of samples; Herold Z analyzed the data; Herold Z, Herold M, Herczeg G, Szasz AM, and Dank M interpreted data; Herold Z prepared the draft of the manuscript; all authors were involved in editing and reviewing; Somogyi A and Herold Z received funding; Somogyi A supervised the study; all authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office, No. K-116128; and the New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology from the source of the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund, No. UNKP-20-4-I.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Regional and Institutional Committee of Science and Research Ethics, Semmelweis University (SE TUKEB 21-12/1994, approval date of latest modification: February 10, 2017), the Institutional Review Board of Szent Imre University Teaching Hospital (SZIK IKEB 5/2017), and the Committee of Science and Research Ethics, Hungarian Medical Research Council (ETT TUKEB 8951-3/2015/EKU).

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent before study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There are no conflicts of interest to report.

Data sharing statement: The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by



external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Hungary

ORCID number: Zoltan Herold 0000-0001-5990-4889; Magdolna Herold 0000-0002-1036-6343; Gyorgy Herczeg 0000-0003-2222-0672; Agnes Fodor 0000-0003-3342-5112; Attila Marcell Szasz 0000-0003-2739-4196; Magdolna Dank 0000-0002-4694-3624; Aniko Somogyi 0000-0003-0807-260X.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- 1 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492]
- Baranyai Z, Jósa V, Tóth A, Szilasi Z, Tihanyi B, Zaránd A, Harsanyi L, Szállási Z. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in gastrointestinal cancer. Platelets 2016; 27: 269-275 [PMID: 27136385 DOI: 10.3109/09537104.2016.1170112]
- 3 Stone RL, Nick AM, McNeish IA, Balkwill F, Han HD, Bottsford-Miller J, Rupairmoole R, Armaiz-Pena GN, Pecot CV, Coward J, Deavers MT, Vasquez HG, Urbauer D, Landen CN, Hu W, Gershenson H, Matsuo K, Shahzad MM, King ER, Tekedereli I, Ozpolat B, Ahn EH, Bond VK, Wang R, Drew AF, Gushiken F, Lamkin D, Collins K, DeGeest K, Lutgendorf SK, Chiu W, Lopez-Berestein G, Afshar-Kharghan V, Sood AK. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 610-618 [PMID: 22335738 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1110352]
- 4 Lin RJ, Afshar-Kharghan V, Schafer AI. Paraneoplastic thrombocytosis: the secrets of tumor self-promotion. Blood 2014; 124: 184-187 [PMID: 24868077 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-562538]
- Laman JD, Claassen E, Noelle RJ. Functions of CD40 and its ligand, gp39 (CD40L). Crit Rev Immunol 1996; 16: 59-108 5 [PMID: 8809473 DOI: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.v37.i2-6.100]
- Korniluk A, Kemona H, Dymicka-Piekarska V. Multifunctional CD40L: pro- and anti-neoplastic activity. Tumour Biol 6 2014; **35**: 9447-9457 [PMID: 25117071 DOI: 10.1007/s13277-014-2407-x]
- 7 Wu Y, Wang L, He X, Xu H, Zhou L, Zhao F, Zhang Y. Expression of CD40 and growth-inhibitory activity of CD40 ligand in colon cancer ex vivo. Cell Immunol 2008; 253: 102-109 [PMID: 18603231 DOI: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2008.05.005]
- 8 Zhou Y, Zhou SX, Gao L, Li XA. Regulation of CD40 signaling in colon cancer cells and its implications in clinical tissues. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2016; 65: 919-929 [PMID: 27262846 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-016-1847-0]
- 9 Pang X, Zhang L, Wu J, Ma C, Mu C, Zhang G, Chen W. Expression of CD40/CD40L in colon cancer, and its effect on proliferation and apoptosis of SW48 colon cancer cells. J BUON 2017; 22: 894-899 [PMID: 29155517]
- 10 Dymicka-Piekarska V, Korniluk A, Gryko M, Siergiejko E, Kemona H. Potential role of soluble CD40 ligand as inflammatory biomarker in colorectal cancer patients. Int J Biol Markers 2014; 29: e261-e267 [PMID: 24706377 DOI: 10.5301/jbm.5000083]
- 11 Tada N, Tsuno NH, Kawai K, Murono K, Nirei T, Ishihara S, Sunami E, Kitayama J, Watanabe T. Changes in the plasma levels of cytokines/chemokines for predicting the response to chemoradiation therapy in rectal cancer patients. Oncol Rep 2014; 31: 463-471 [PMID: 24253593 DOI: 10.3892/or.2013.2857]
- Lima PMA, Torres LC, Martins MR, da Matta MC, Lima JTO, de Mello MJG, da Silva LM, Cintra EB Jr, Lira CCR, da 12 Fonte EJA, Forones NM. Soluble levels of sCD40L and s4-1BB are associated with a poor prognosis in elderly patients with colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol 2020; 121: 901-905 [PMID: 31858621 DOI: 10.1002/jso.25813]
- 13 Jardim DL, Rodrigues CA, Novis YAS, Rocha VG, Hoff PM. Oxaliplatin-related thrombocytopenia. Ann Oncol 2012; 23: 1937-1942 [PMID: 22534771 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mds074]
- 14 Kilpatrick K, Shaw JL, Jaramillo R, Toler A, Eisen M, Sangaré L, Soff GA. Occurrence and Management of Thrombocytopenia in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients Receiving Chemotherapy: Secondary Analysis of Data From Prospective Clinical Trials. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2021; 20: 170-176 [PMID: 33281065 DOI: 10.1016/j.clcc.2020.10.004]
- Schwandt A, Denkinger M, Fasching P, Pfeifer M, Wagner C, Weiland J, Zeyfang A, Holl RW. Comparison of MDRD, 15 CKD-EPI, and Cockcroft-Gault equation in relation to measured glomerular filtration rate among a large cohort with diabetes. J Diabetes Complications 2017; 31: 1376-1383 [PMID: 28711195 DOI: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.06.016]
- Jessup J, Goldberg R, Asare E, Benson A, Brierley J, Chang G, Chen V, Compton C, De Nardi P, Goodman K, Gress D, 16 Guinney J, Gunderson L, Hamilton S, Hanna N, Kakar S, Kosinski L, Negoita S, Ogino S, Overman M, Quirke P, Rohren E, Sargent D, Schumacher-Penberthy L, Shibata D, Sinicrope F, Steele S, Stojadinovic A, Tejpar S, Weiser M, Welton M, Washington M. Colon and Rectum. In: Amin M, Edge S, Greene F, Byrd D, Brookland R, Washington M, Gershenwald J, Compton C, Hess K, Sullivan D, Jessup J, Brierley J, Gaspar L, Schilsky R, Balch C, Winchester D, Asare E, Madera M, Gress D, Meyer L. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 8th ed. Chicago, IL, USA: Springer International Publishing, 2018: 251-274
- Shen H, Yang J, Huang Q, Jiang MJ, Tan YN, Fu JF, Zhu LZ, Fang XF, Yuan Y. Different treatment strategies and 17 molecular features between right-sided and left-sided colon cancers. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 6470-6478 [PMID:



26074686 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i21.6470]

- 18 R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2021
- 19 Sekhon JS. Multivariate and Propensity Score Matching Software with Automated Balance Optimization: The Matching package for R. J Stat Soft 2011; 42: 52
- 20 Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models (R package version 3.1-149), 2020
- Therneau TM. A Package for Survival Analysis in R (R package version 3.1-8), 2020 21
- Holm S. A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure. Scand J Stat 1979; 6: 65-70 22
- Bereznaya NM, Chekhun VF. Expression of CD40 and CD40L on tumor cells: the role of their interaction and new 23 approach to immunotherapy. Exp Oncol 2007; 29: 2-12 [PMID: 17431381]
- Georgopoulos NT, Merrick A, Scott N, Selby PJ, Melcher A, Trejdosiewicz LK. CD40-mediated death and cytokine 24 secretion in colorectal cancer: a potential target for inflammatory tumour cell killing. Int J Cancer 2007; 121: 1373-1381 [PMID: 17534894 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.22846]
- Richards DM, Sefrin JP, Gieffers C, Hill O, Merz C. Concepts for agonistic targeting of CD40 in immuno-oncology. Hum 25 Vaccin Immunother 2020; 16: 377-387 [PMID: 31403344 DOI: 10.1080/21645515.2019.1653744]
- 26 Elgueta R, Benson MJ, de Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. Immunol Rev 2009; 229: 152-172 [PMID: 19426221 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00782.x]
- 27 Huang J, Jochems C, Talaie T, Anderson A, Jales A, Tsang KY, Madan RA, Gulley JL, Schlom J. Elevated serum soluble CD40 ligand in cancer patients may play an immunosuppressive role. *Blood* 2012; **120**: 3030-3038 [PMID: 22932804 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2012-05-4277991
- Büning C, Krüger K, Sieber T, Schoeler D, Schriever F. Increased expression of CD40 ligand on activated T cells of 28 patients with colon cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2002; 8: 1147-1151 [PMID: 11948126]
- Roselli M, Mineo TC, Basili S, Martini F, Mariotti S, Aloe S, Del Monte G, Ambrogi V, Spila A, Palmirotta R, 29 D'Alessandro R, Davi G, Guadagni F, Ferroni P. Soluble CD40 ligand plasma levels in lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2004; 10: 610-614 [PMID: 14760083 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-0348-03]
- Zhao P, Fang WJ, Chai L, Ruan J, Zheng Y, Jiang WQ, Lin S, Zhou SH, Zhang ZL. The prognostic value of plasma 30 soluble CD40 ligand levels in patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Clin Chim Acta 2015; 447: 66-70 [PMID: 26032866 DOI: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.05.015]
- Li R, Chen WC, Pang XQ, Hua C, Li L, Zhang XG. Expression of CD40 and CD40L in gastric cancer tissue and its clinical significance. Int J Mol Sci 2009; 10: 3900-3917 [PMID: 19865524 DOI: 10.3390/ijms10093900]
- 32 Henn V, Slupsky JR, Gräfe M, Anagnostopoulos I, Förster R, Müller-Berghaus G, Kroczek RA. CD40 ligand on activated platelets triggers an inflammatory reaction of endothelial cells. Nature 1998; 391: 591-594 [PMID: 9468137 DOI: 10.1038/353931
- 33 Nagasawa M, Zhu Y, Isoda T, Tomizawa D, Itoh S, Kajiwara M, Morio T, Nonoyama S, Shimizu N, Mizutani S. Analysis of serum soluble CD40 ligand (sCD40L) in the patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation: platelet is a major source of serum sCD40L. Eur J Haematol 2005; 74: 54-60 [PMID: 15613107 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.2004.00342.x]
- Viallard JF, Solanilla A, Gauthier B, Contin C, Déchanet J, Grosset C, Moreau JF, Praloran V, Nurden P, Pellegrin JL, 34 Nurden AT, Ripoche J. Increased soluble and platelet-associated CD40 ligand in essential thrombocythemia and reactive thrombocytosis. Blood 2002; 99: 2612-2614 [PMID: 11895803 DOI: 10.1182/blood.v99.7.2612]
- Danese S, Sans M, Fiocchi C. The CD40/CD40L costimulatory pathway in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2004; 53: 1035-1043 [PMID: 15194658 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2003.026278]
- 36 Lin R, Liu J, Gan W, Yang G. C-reactive protein-induced expression of CD40-CD40L and the effect of lovastatin and fenofibrate on it in human vascular endothelial cells. Biol Pharm Bull 2004; 27: 1537-1543 [PMID: 15467191 DOI: 10.1248/bpb.27.1537]
- El-Asrar MA, Adly AA, Ismail EA. Soluble CD40L in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: relation to microvascular complications and glycemic control. Pediatr Diabetes 2012; 13: 616-624 [PMID: 22702645 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2012.00881.x
- 38 Seijkens T, Kusters P, Engel D, Lutgens E. CD40-CD40L: linking pancreatic, adipose tissue and vascular inflammation in type 2 diabetes and its complications. Diab Vasc Dis Res 2013; 10: 115-122 [PMID: 22965071 DOI: 10.1177/1479164112455817]
- Long AG, Lundsmith ET, Hamilton KE. Inflammation and Colorectal Cancer. Curr Colorectal Cancer Rep 2017; 13: 341-39 351 [PMID: 29129972 DOI: 10.1007/s11888-017-0373-6]
- Riedl JM, Posch F, Moik F, Bezan A, Szkandera J, Smolle MA, Kasparek AK, Pichler M, Stöger H, Stotz M, Gerger A. 40 Inflammatory biomarkers in metastatic colorectal cancer: prognostic and predictive role beyond the first line setting. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 96048-96061 [PMID: 29221186 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.21647]
- Tuomisto AE, Mäkinen MJ, Väyrynen JP. Systemic inflammation in colorectal cancer: Underlying factors, effects, and 41 prognostic significance. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 4383-4404 [PMID: 31496619 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i31.4383]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

